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* AL QA’IDA DETAINEES: the OMS Role

Press attention to the Agency 's interrogation and detention
program began with'the 2002 capture of Abu Zubaydah, ,sﬁrked again
with the 2003 capture of Khalid Shaykh Muhammed, accf'elerated in 2004
in the wake of Abu Ghraib, and then exploded in 2005 fbllowmg a number
of significant leaks. By 2007 hundreds—perhaps{ ousands f articles
and editorials had been published on what arguably,has become the most
controversial program in Agency history. J,{zewed “from within<the
resulting public picture remains as mucl¢aricature as fact. If thelpast is

% O,
any guide, however, this distorted picfure will become, the accepted public
history of an important chapter in Agency hzs[ory, with both presentV nd
future implications for those within the Office of Medical Services. These
o,
implications warrant a more informed internal account of how OMS
understood and experienced thi$ ogram at the time. ’7
. \

Introduction and Contents: [p\l
The Context [p. 2] [2001-2002]

Saving the life of a: Htgh Value Target (H VD Vip. 6] [2002]

Embracing SERE (Survxval Evasion, Reszstancg Escape) [p. 10] [2002]
Initiation of 'Enhanced Inteirogation Techniques” (EIT's) [p. 18] [2002]
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The Role of Psychologists,and Psychiatrists  [p. 26] [2002-2003]

Early’ takes /p. 31 ] “"[2002-2003]

KSM a e, Waterboard @jp. 36] [2003]

HVDs, EI 30and OMS Guidélines [p. 48] [2003-2004]

Problems of Detention [p.J57] [2003-2006]

Exposés [p. 63] 2004:2006]

Ethics [p. 68] [200985007]

An Unfinished Chapter [p. 77] [2005-2007]

Interim Afterthoughts [p. 84]

! Of necessity, some broader program information is included in this chapter, to place the OMS role in
perspective. Agency rendition. interrogation, and detention efforts were much more complicated than these

glimpses suggest.
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The Context

__ September 11, 2001 began unremarkably. C/Medical Services arrived in
here OMS was providing temporary medical coverage,

Oddly, no one would answer the door at the station even though officers could be
seen inside tightly gathered around a television. The World Trade Center s South Tower
just had collapsed; a few minutes later the North Tower came down.? The Pentagon was
hit. All were targets of hijacked commercial jetliners, so U.S. domestic flights were
being ordered to ground and international flights tumed away.

= 7

At Headquarters that Tuesday, 1 hormng activities were
sharply interrupted by news of these attacks. 0m1nous1yM"Macked plane was
headed toward Washington. The Capitol and C.LA. Head&uarter‘g\Were believed prime:
targets. With less then 30 minutes until ETA, an lmmedrate evacuatron-«of the buildings
was announced, excepting (at CIA) emergency ¢Zonnel such as thosé i medical. As
the mmutes passed, most emergency personngl¥e ocated tO)below ground flogrs while
pages.

L

In retrospect, the Capltol appéars to have been thejfinal 9/11 target, though this
was averted when passengers forced thht 93 to crash in Pennsylvama Nonetheless the

-y

- events that day were the most galvamzmg since > Pearl Harbor¥ ) Within a week, the

(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

President signed a Memorandum of Notification:(MON) [ ]

including “operations designed to

(b)(1)
(b)(3){

capture and detain persons ‘who pose a contmumg, serious threat of violence or death to
U.S. persons and mterests or who are planning:terrorist activities.”

The perpetrators of the\9/ l 1 Mattacks were identified as al- Qa’ida terrorists, and
there was imificdiate: concem out a “follow: on” attack. As thenDCI Tenet later
recalled, “I've got reports of nu¢lear weapons in New York City, apartment buildings that
are gonna be blown up, planes tha .are ‘gonna fly into airports all over again, plot lines
that I doﬁ} know. I don't know what s going on inside the United States, and I'm
struggling to find out wher&the next disaster is going to occur. Everybody forgets one
central context of what we lryved through: the palpable fear that-we felt on the basis of the
fact that there was So. much we did not know.”* Lacking concrete intelligence, extensive
lists of potential targets were drawn up, including the country’s physical infrastructure
(power plants, bridges, subway systems), symbolically important buildings, theme parks, -

NatSecAct

- . (New York City: HarperCollins, 2007), Chapter-13, pp. 229-258:

¥ Office of the Inspector General, “Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Activities (September

2001 — October 2003),” 7 May 2004, p. {. The MON was sighed 17 September 2001.
4 g0 MINUTES' -- Tenet Defends High Value Detainee Program,” CBS News.com, 25 April 2007. Tenet
laid out the context somewhat more fully in George Tenet, At the Center of the Storm: My Years at the CIA

2
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malls, and major forthcoming events such as the World Series (which was postponed a

_week), Super Bowl, and the Salt Lake City Winter Olympics.

While the possibility of a nuclear attack initially could not be ruled out,’ the
greatest emotion surrounded potential chemical or biological attacks. Anthrax was the
single most likely blologlcal threat, so OMS quickly acquired a large supply of
c1proﬂoxacm (Cipro); and, in case of chemical attack, a stockpile of atropine auto-
injectors.® OMS also arranged briefings on the Agency’s best judgment on potential
threats for senior medical personnel from State Department, NSA4EBI, HHS, the White
House, and Congress, and compared emergency medical respor plﬁls

In late October concerns elevated sharply when letérs contmmng anthrax spores
were delivered to Capitol Hill, fatally infecting some  posta work%oute

~ Government agencies, including CIA, began spec1ahzed screening inhieir mail facilities

and CIA was one of several to find trace amounts/of anthrax Given theMjny amount
discovered, OMS judged that only a handful of potentxally exposed employees eeded to
be offered Cipro prophylaxis, but DCI Tenet announced it. would be made avallable to
any concemed employee. Emergency distribution was arranged for the following day—a
Saturday—and involved most of the @MS headquarters st}i/ff Several hundred anxious
Agency employees came in for individualfevaluations and counselmg, and were issued
medication. Tenet visited during this operatio and mentxon%C/MS that he thought
it “a slam dunk” that al-Qa’ida was behn‘i’dﬂns a}'t‘ackm )»’ '

\ «,‘ 4

Anthrax- mnta/gunatedi ma\ll also passed through i State Department distribution
center, potentially contammatmg/outgomg diplomatic pouches. This threat, combined
with the 1nc1denmrdust” found in old pouchesfand hoax powders mailed to many

embassies, spawned local, cnses.around Ethe w0 d\

. At Agency hea‘dquarters, al‘l‘&npcommg mail was halted until a method for
decontam:»natmn could be. ldentlﬁedL OMS’s Environmental Safety Group took the lead
in this projecéand soon was dlrectly running a heat-based treatment program for all
incoming manﬁ*’OMS also .was at the forefront of an effort to identify suitable perimeter,
portal and bulldmg CBRN ‘screening devices, which eventually led to an extensive

headquarters momtonng:program

Later analysis concluded that the October anthrax attack probably was the work of
a disgruntled domestic scientist, rather than international terrorists; and that al] detected
anthrax could be traced back to distribution centers contaminated by leakage from the

$ Maps, probably dating from the 1950s, were provided to OMS outlmmg the potential effects of a weapon
detonated on the Mall )

¢ Some auto-injectors were issued to the Security Protective Officers, believed most likely to be exposed to
a chemical attack. The only actual use of an auto-injector came when an officer inadvertently discharged
one into his own leg, thinking it was a demonstration dummy.

O}
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two spore-containing letters mailed to Capitol Hill. Nonetheless, the extensive press

coverage highlighted U.S. vulnerability to this type of attack and the high cost of '
responding.

|

Concurrent with these deyclopments and with the Presidential MON in hand, the
Agency moved aggresswely abroad. Intense efforts were mounted jointly with forelgn

9

intelligence services to round up al-Qa’ida operatives worldwide. |

(b)(1) | .
(b)(3) NatSecAct

\
\ Ove?e next five years, OMS

PAs or physicians accompanied at least | 120 ) of these renditio ~ﬂ%tys—most either to or

between newly estabhshed CIA facilities.”

. s
N

The pre-rendition medical exam included %ybeiiy'”cay’ity search (a.component of
which was a rectal exam), which in later years led*to an occasional charggjthat CIA .
administered drugs rectally during the rend1hot$ocess The PA (or oc%‘nally an
OMS physician) did carry medical supplies for emergency use,.but only once was a

. dangerously agitated detainee sedated during flight.® Eventually a few of those being
transferred—mostly long-term detainees—were medlcatedkvoluntanly for conventional
medical reasons (e.g., one requested a sl lee mg pxll for the Tig ﬂlght) No one ever was
medicated rectally.

At the time of the 9/11 attacks the Talibah government of Afghanistan was
hosting the al-Qa’ida leadership, its training’eéamps, an egglveral potential chemical/
blologlcal/radlologlcal/nuclear sites. In mid-@gtober 2001 (concurrent with the anthrax
scare) the U.S. laiinched a combined attack agamst "the Taliban. The offensive brought
together small independently operating joint CIA-Special Forces teams (which mcluded

(b)( ) OMS PA’s),]
(b)(3) NatSecAct  |and U.S. air power. By-3 m1d December all major Afghan cities had been taken
oy
"’&veek after the last. major ‘Afghan city fell, al-Qa’ida “shoe bomber" Richard
Reid attem‘f)ted to blow up’%commermal jet en route from Paris to Miami. A month later
Wall Street Journal reportegDaniel Pearl was kidnapped in Karachi and demands were
issued by his capt%;f%, a few weeks later his decapitated, dismembered body was found,

(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

¥ Valium was admlmstered on[ flight (b)(1)
- (b)(3)

NatSecAct

- | NatSecAct
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and a week after that a video of his execution was released. Although more than 2,900
al-Qa’ida operatives and associates were in custody, in 90 countries, ' only one senior al-
Qa’ida leader (Atef) had been killed (by an airstrike in November), and none had been
captured. The U.S. remained braced for the next terrorist attack.

In March 2002 the newly created Department of Homeland Security established
color-codes to quantify the estimated level of threat. These ranged from green (low),
through blue (guarded), yellow (elevated), orange (high), to red (severe). With little hard
intelligence, these levels were based largely on unconfirmed reports, non-specific
terrorist “chatter,” and mtelh gence supposition. The first announced level that March
was yellow, or “elevat /4 K

r

10 The first 20 military detainees to be sent to Guantinamo Bay arrived at Camp X-ray, on January 11,
2002; by the end of February about 300 had arrived, and by the end of the year, over 600.
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Saving the life of a High Value Target (HVT) (b)(6)
Against this backdrop __the Counter-terrorism

Center (CTC) Rendmon Group (RG, later Rendition and Detention Group, or RDG)
came to the OMS front office late Fnday morning, March 29, to say that very early the
previous morning (March 28"), senior al-Qa’ida leader Abu Zubaydah (“AZ”) had been
captured in Faisalabad, Pakistan, Zubaydah was thought to rank third or fourth in the al- ;
Qa’ida hierarchy, to have been “involved in every ma{or [al-Qa’ida] terrorist operation,”
: and to have information on immediate future threats.!' Anticipating his capture, a
(b)(1) ' rendition aircraft already was standing bﬂ with an OMS PA on board. For the
(b)(3) NatSecAct first time, the Agency was to retain custody of a terrorist, ang * was to be taken to an
Agency facility where he could be questioned by Agency (dnd T BI). interrogators.
(b)(3) CIAAGt However, Zubaydah had been wounded during capture and would'need sophisticated
medical care.'? Could OMS handle an emergency § sargical ‘Tnission? ‘OMS said yes, and

(b)) began to line up the requisite personnel and equlpment , &
(b)(1) By noonJ—TRG was back to say that Zubﬁah wassto*be flown to|
(b)(3) NatSecAct | |where a holding cell was
- hurriedly being set up|
(b)(1) A plan was quickly worked out for our| ~ RMO;(then on temporary ’
(b)(3) NatSecAct ass1gnmend to fly and join the rendltxor%‘w As soon as
Zubaydah could be moved, this group wou]d plck him up, and fly A larger
medical team, composed of-a.trauma surgex inesthetistand two PA’ s, along with other
(b)(1) CTC personnel and necéssary medical and stirgical equipment, would leave Washington
(b)(3) NatSecAct that evening to receive AZ| (b)(1)  with just 5 hours to assemble staff and equipment
- before departure. (b) 3) NatSeCAct *
(b)(1) Our preférted. surgediitha cleared-contractor long associated with 0MS| !
; | He agreed to
(b)(3) ClAAct ~ “gre directly back and to recrui |anesthet1st The two
(b)(3) NatSecAct selected PA’s included one visitin Headquarters| '
(b)(6) and a surgically experienced recent hire| ]

Field O Operatxo and Nursing staffs quickly assembled the necessary
equipment by strtppmg the;OMS emergency room and obtaining the donation of surgical
_ equipment—no quesg__ps asked——fromf Hospitals. Absent time to (b)(1)
(b)(3)
NatSecAct

" In a brief to the Department of Justice a few months later, AZ was described as al-Qa’ida’s coordinator
of external contacts and foreign communications, its counterintelligence officer, and to have been involved
to some extent in Millennium plots agamst U.S. and Israeli targets, and a 2001 Paris Embassy plot, as well .

as the September 11 attacks.
'2 U.S. military medical facilities were not considered an option as the resulting public exposure would

Freatly reduce AZ’s value as an intelligence source

chlonal coverage during this period was a challenge; ( )(1 ) ] T
. (b)(3) NatSecAct | ‘

1 T 6

(b)(1) NOEORN
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Approved for Release: 2018/08/14 C06541727



C06541727
Approved for Release: 2018/08/14 C06541727
(D)(3) NatSecAct

_ FOP—SECRET/, | EFeRmTIE
(b)(3) NatSecAct

CIAAct ——
' to a local mall to bu
NatSecAct return home. the_PAgmt local mall to uitcases and clothes.

who _|omed the team at the airport
~ where the senior PA took him to phone booth and had him sign a secrecy agreement.
Twenty-four hours later the team was setting up a

)
It
X
)

b)(1
b)(3
b)(3
b)(6

—}

AZ had been shot from the ground while attempting to escape along a rooftop.
. Initially reported to have been hit three times, his wounds were the result of a single
bullet which entered his left leg anteriorly just above the knee, passed deeply through
muscle tissue and exited anteriorly in the upper thigh, then reentered the lower abdomen.
Fragments ended up embedded in the posterior abdominal wall» surgeoi(b)(1)
done an exploratory laparotomy, repaired some bowel damagQ, ‘administered seve(b)(3) NatSecAct
of blood, and left behind the less accessible fragments; the, leg wounds received only
superﬁclal attention. :
e
(b)(1) On March|  |an FBI EMT present for the Zubaydah takedown aq’\g_sed that
(b)(3) NatSecAct although AZ remained “septic” in appearance*ﬁlé“vltal sngns were “normal? and he was
“stable for travel.”| 7 |RMO joined the team and the
rendition flight immediately departed| | AZ was collected| (b)(1)” |
(b)(1) - End the flight continued _(b)(3) NatSecAgt
(b)(3) NatSecAct

Durmg the flight AZ was agitated, ‘and his breathing
somewhat labored, so small doses of Valiim we adi’mmstered to allow him to rest.
Having safely delivered AZ to the tfa‘clllty, thei (b)(1 JRMO then continued
(b)(1) on with the rendition team then back to his post(b)(3) NatSecAct
(b)(3) NatSecAct )

On evaluation at] 'AZ was found to have a small entrance wound in his
~ lower thigh, a large, fist-sized exitweund in h1s groin, and a recently sutured xyphoid-to-
pubis laparatomysWwith abdominal drain. Of most immediate concern was his labored
' breathmg and a developing fever. Despite adjustments to his antibiotic coverage, AZ’s
~ conditioh deteriorated m@the néx36-hours to a full-blown Acute Respiratory Distress
Syndrdfh‘% (ARDS), accompanied by a racing pulse, falling blood pressure, fever of
(b)(1) "~ 104°F, and eg%uatmg bowels. An emergency intubation was performed, and while
being manually’Ventilated AZ was transported to the intensive care nnit [ |
(b)(3) NatSecAct At the hospltal AZ was placed on a respirator, and(P)(1) ™ sureeon
join e team. 14 ""Q:-- (b)(3) NatSecAct

On April 1%, about the time of AZ’s ARDS crisis, the White House announced his
capture, including the fact that he was recewmg medical care for gunshot wounds in the
“thigh,” “groin” and “stomach.” By April 2™, there was extensive press coverage,
informed by official Pentagon news conferenc&s and alleged inside sources. Questions
were raised about where and how AZ was being treated. Defense Secretary Rumsfeld—

" Al (b) —|nulm0nolog1st also was summoned, but oﬁ'en:d only a limited-value, one-time consult.
(b)(3) NatSecAct
7

' 7(b)(1) V.
W/i(b)(3) NatSecAct oy '

i
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presumably unaware of recent events——informed reporters that AZ’s “wounds appear not
to be life threateriing” and that he was “being given exactly the excellent medical care
one would want if they wanted to make sure he was around a good long time to visit with
us.”"® Nothing was sald about location.

During the initial period of hospitalization, AZ suffered from pulmonary
congestion, an atonic colon, a marked drop in his platelet count (to 32,000), fever, and an
emerging bullet tract infection. After an adjustment to his antibiotic coverage, and a
surgical exposure and antiseptic irrigation of the length of the bullet track (by the contract
surgeon), he began to 1mprove, with rising platelet count, some, clearmg of the lungs, and
less sustained fever. '® Nonetheless, as a precautlonj Fntensmst was *
requested to travel to site, against the possibility of fﬁher-‘éom‘ﬁi’c‘:ations.

As during most cris€s, the demand for mformatlon was unendmg, and in this case
extended to the White House. Accordingly, on-site € medical personnel, in addition to
providing a 24—-hour hospital presence, r&spogde@ﬁgmany e-mails and phoh?"calls, and
from April 2™ onward prepared a detailed, 12- hounl.)”'?cable ‘update (at 2:00 2. and 2:00
p.m. locally) to allow the DCI to make timely reportﬁ'ﬁljhese cable reports were prepared
primarily by| RMO, just arrived to fiighitor AZ’s progress. With the
RMO’s arrival, and inpatient care now primarily in the hands of the{ surgeon, the
OMS contract surgeon and anesthetist were able to depart.

..w».,.n

Although showing slow overall unproveﬁwnt AZ.s-hospltal course was not
without complication. On the mommg of Apnl 4" he coughed up his respirator tube,

then %roved too weak to breath on his own, anQ was reintubated. Fortuitously, the

ntensxvxst( Jovexsaw further pulmonary care. Three
"days later—a week aﬁer‘ﬁn@;osp@fz tion—AZ was safely weaned from the respirator.
Meanwhile; o7 April 6™ a féver had r'étumhﬁs apparently triggered by a deterioration of
his leg wihd. On three consecutive days (April 6-8), surgeon (assisted by an '’
OMS PA) debrided necrgtlc tissue from the wound, which ultimately left the bullet tract
clean but’widely laid open‘along its entire length. A final debndement was accompllshed

(b)(3) NatSecAct twodaysm;,@ . i,

(b)(1)

AsAZ’s leg mfecflon and respiratory problems came under control, new
concerns presented. A ns{mg amylase, worsening liver function tests, and a falling
hemoglobin (never definitively explained) led to the discovery of an intra-abdominal

)
(b)(3) NatSecAct inflammatory mass near the site of a bullet fragment. Reluctantly, an exploratory

laparotomy was considéred, but fortunately proved unnecessary. An endophthalmitis
also developed in AZ’s left eye, which had been opacified at the time he came into
Agency hands. ophtha]mologlst recommended urgent enucleation, to avoid

'S E.g., Los Angeles Tunes and New York Times, both 3 April 2002.
1 The present account is not meant to be a detailed medical history; the few specifics given here are
intended only to give a general sense of the case.

) : 8

FOPFEERET (b)(1) ”
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=
involvement of the good eye. OMS, in consultation with cleared Washington-area -
specialists, opted rather for antibiotics and culture (which proved negative). This
inflammation soon resolved, and eventually the left orbit atrophied without further
complication.

|

These proved to be the last of AZ’s medical crises, and with his continued
improvement, the intensivist departed. On April 12 he was moved from the ICU to a
VIP suite, afebrile, pain-free, on a full diet, with a leg wound now healthy in appearance,
and able to get up and down on his own. Medical concerns were now replaced by
(b)(1) ooperational concerns.| 7 |

(b)(3) NatSecAct T T - Now
‘ “despite a 24-hour Agency bedside presence, AZ was po @ﬁallW@\Ble to speak t(D)(1 )-’_\
staff, which could reveal his identity and thus whereabouts, N (b)(3) NatSecAct

_ On April 15, after just three days in the private smte but two wegks after his
(b)(1) admission a.nd nineteen days since his gunshotawound AZ) ‘was transferred ack”to
(b)(3) NatSecAct 7 A headquarters-based physician, ER-quallﬁed nurse, and new’PA arrived
to take over care.. By month’s end, a continuous phys1cxan and PA presence no longer
were needed, and for the next three mon{t\h\s AZ’s day-to—day care was provided by TDY
OMS nurses who administered twice dg l‘y, and then daily, Wound care and dressing
(b)(1) changes. For the first phase of exclusively nurse coverage, RMO made
(b)(3) NatSecAct weekly two-day return visits, but things went sog moothly that'these eventually were
discontinued. R e O
"‘ R ~3— " 3 ' y
With his ]egrwound v1s1bly healmg, /2s primary medical concern was a mild
prostatitis (manifést onlyby a trace of blood in Bls'semen) which‘he feared was the first
sign of an impending loss of “manhood » He.also was inclined to focus on other minor
complaint e Specially dunng penods of mteﬁ'ogatxon—mcludmg some knee
dlscomforﬁfcgm ains, and a mild reflux esophagitis. Basically, however, he
was a he; lthy young maQi given téas;}me hypochrondniasis.

N

' Versed and morphine were given to ease the transfer.

byt —— '
TOP-SBERET// ) 3) NatSecAct @;\m
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Embracing SERE (Survival, Evasion, Resistance, Escape]

The circumstances of AZ’s capture had not lessened the urgency felt to question
him about a “second wave” of al-Qa’ida attacks. Later press reports claimed that not
only did his injuries not delay this questioning, but that his acute pain was exploited. The
most detailed version of this myth had Agency doctors installing an IV drip through
which a short-acting narcotic pamklller was switched on and off, depending on
Zubaydah’s degree of cooperanon ® In actual fact, AZ was not interrogated during the
painful phase of his injuries (for much of which he was on a respirator), or at any point

while he was in the hospital. At no time then or later were medxcﬁhons of any sort
withheld.
//

The interrogation approach initially taken with: QZ was relatwely conventional.
Within the limits of his medical condition, these mvolved\a combmatlon of positive and
negative incentives, with the expectation that modcst pressures would beir ssary to
weaken his psychological defenses. Permission to\use a fé‘w non-physxcaﬁ%ﬁldly
aggressive techniques, if necessary, had been granted Qstnpnmgto his retum the
hospital | These included an austere cell:litnited clothing, sleep
deprivation, bright lights, white no1se\a£d d|etary manipul tion (i.e., a nutritionally
adequate diet of Ensure supplemented w1tﬁ i amms) Under the cxrcumstanccs,

“positive” incentives would be the re f’thﬁ amenmcs’ such as the retum of
full clothing, a more comfortable chalr onsleepingfartangement, and a more interesting
diet. ; y

This basic roach OMS learned, w drawn mostly from the military’s SERE
(Survival, EvaswrfP stance gcape) trainin rogram With antecedents dating to the
Korean War, SERE was N éﬁ@z‘:epare military personnel for capture by
"familiarizin sthem. wnth ho hey mi treag:t to various interrogation techniques, and
offer somié€ coping skzl‘ls It waslthe only extant U.S. program to subject personnel to
physxcalkmterrogatlon measures R

\'\

At one time OMS%chologlsts psychiatrists, and medlcs were extensively
involved in a'SERE-like Agency program also designed to prepare employees—initially
uU-2 pxlots—agam the p0351b111ty of capture and interrogation. OMS staffers assessed
candidates, momtored partlcxpants and even served as instructors in tlns programL_

y'

'8 Gerald Posner, Why America Slepl The Failure to Prevent 9/1 / (New York: Random House, 2003, PP-
184-186. :

' During the Korean War, many American POWSs collaborated to some extent with their captors. This was
believed the result of interrogation techniques, which might have been resisted more effectively had
previous training been available. As a result, by the mid-1950s several SERE-like training programs had
been developed and implemented. When the SERE antecedents of the Agency program finally were
widely publicized, particularly in 2007, it was popular to say that SERE techniques had been “reverse
engineered” to produce the Agency (and military) interrogation techniques. No reverse engineering was
needed, however; the interrogation techniques used on SERE trainees were simply used on detainees.

m(b)m ]
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'The Agency’s “Risk of Capture” and “Enduring Enemy
Detention” training was much less physical than SERE training (discussed more fully
below), but did include sleep deprivation and confinement in a narrow, upright box
(another SERE technique). The perceived need for this program dwindled in the 1980s,
and it finally was terminated in the early Nineties. A few OMS staffers still on-board in
2002 had supported this program, but none were familiar with the current SERE
experience, nor its more physical techniques.

£ N
The Agency office with the greatest current SERE famxhanty was the Office of
Technical Services (OTS), in which were located a unit of operatlonally-onented
psychologists whose interests in interrogation extended back almost fifty years O While
Agency involvement in interrogations programs had all but t disappeared after the mid-
1980s, a SERE-trained psychologist had joined i@TS JTSstaff in 1999%and through him

OTS was acquainted with the current SERE progfam and some of its psyc%@loglsts

In the immediate wake of 9/11 OTS again returnedsto®the subject of;?t'errogatnon
and that September contracted with recently retired AligEorce SERE psychologist Jim
Mitchell to produce a paper on al- Qa\lda resistance-to-intetrogation techniques. . Mitchell
collaborated with another Air Force SEER: psycholog:st ruce Jessen, and eventually
produced “Recognizing and Developmé\Countenneasures tc%a ’ida Resistance to
(b)(1) Interrogation Techniques: A Resistance Tt rammg Perspectlve pal Following AZ’s
(b)(3) N atSeCAct capture, Mitchell was sentito! Jto ‘serve as a behmd the-scenes consultant to
interrogators and the op®site'@S staff psycholog1st (who was there to evaluate AZ
psychologically, andfex lore posmble approaches to mterrogatlon and debriefing.)
} s 9
Under most c1rcmnstances mtexrogators seek to exploit the initial shock of
capture, whicl:in AZ:s case'Was long §ince:past. In lieu of this they chose to take
(b)(1) - adva.ntageme “shock of his: Zeturn to detainee prisoner status, in the austerity of a |
(b)(3) NatSecAct | cell. One d&y; after hls‘n'étum from the comfortable hospital setting, a three
day periodiof interrogation® Was begun employing all the previously approved measures.
The on-site. OMS physxclanxmomtored this closely, and found that neither the initial
three-day period of sleep dé‘pnvahon nor shorter periods repeated several days later that
week impacted his cozxitmumg recovery. These measures also failed to garner any
e A,

“The antecedents of thls‘%t had overseen much of the MKULTRA interrogation research in the 1950s
and 1960s, published still-relevant classified papers on the merits of various interrogation techniques,
contributed heavily to a 1963 KUBARK Counterintelligence Interrogation Manual and its derivative 1983
Human Resources Manual, assisted directly in early interrogations, and (with OMS) provided instruction in
the Agency’s Risk of Capture training. Bureaucratic tensions between OMS and OTS (and their antecedent
offices) extended across 50 years, and again were at a peak in 2002. While concurrent questions of
organizational charter, expertise, and placement color much of the OMS detainee experience, this
complicated issued is beyond the scope of this history.

2 Mitchell had 13 years of experience in the Air Force SERE program, and Jessen 19 years. Additionally,
Jessen had worked with released U.S. military detainees in the Nineties. .
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dramatic new intelligence. A one day repetition the following week was similarly .
ineffectual. As the on-site personnel assessed the s1tuatlon “there is unlikely to be a
‘Perry Mason’ moment where the subject ultimately gives up but rather will likely yield
informatiorn slowly over the course of the interrogations. The subject currently is taking a
highly sophisticated counter-mterrogatlon resistance posture where his primary position
is to avoid giving details.”

The next contemplated step—which was approved for use at the end of AZ’s first
week of interrogation—would have been more punitive: placing him in a “confinement”
box akin to that previously used in the Agency’s own training p@;\nm As OMS was
advised, confinement boxes had been introduced into SERE;ﬁ"{ﬁ POW’s in Southeast
Asia reported being placed in small, uncomfortable boxes::? 35 mt 60% of the POWs so
treated said it led to their cooperation with interrogators. e%zf)"he pn%ed Agency box was
to be 30” x 20” x 85”, which was more spacious thafSboth the “prototype” SERE box and

‘the one once used in Agency training, The planayas to conﬁne AZina ng box for

a trial period of 1-2 hours, repeated no more t}én 3 tlmes a\day, similar to 1mt1”f’SERE
usage beheved that it would “achieve. the de31red effect.”

OMS, concerned that AZ mightaccidentally or dellberately injure or contaminate
his wound in the box, specified that helaoBbe,placed on his? abdoxgen and that there be
audio and infrared monitoring equipment(thellatter already plannéed by CTC).
Ultimately, use of the box was deferred so)that fy\;,texrogatcfrs could attempt to make a
deal in which, in exchange for cooperation; ouldigLBe tured over to Middle
Eastern countries seekmg ‘His: custody. This\oo, failed t0 gain the desired cooperation.
However, rather than sunply return to the planped use of the confinement box, a more
systematic strategy now was deve oped.

IE 0 April 200§SECRET At\some early point AZ, apparently inadvertently, did give up
infogm %}t‘hat led to the capture in Chtcag9 " Jose Padilla. Padilla was planning a “dirty bomb” attack
against Washmgton, D.C. or NéWgY ork. Most of what AZ provided were guesses as to what might
constitute a fifiire target. At this tJmc the first of what later became a steady stream of leaks was reflected
in a ABC World! RN ews Tonight réport that AZ “has told U.S. interrogators al Qaeda plans to attack areas
where large nummf people si%p .And privately, some U.S. officials fear Zubaydah is toying with
them, trying to dep%ﬂgﬁﬁewhw U.S. resources. One official tells ABC News it’s going to take a
long time, if ever, to break:Abu Zubaydah ” ABC World News Tonight ABC TV, 23 April 2002, “Abu
Zubaydah Warns U.S. In’gst:gators

B Both large and small boxes actually trace to a Russian usage in World War II. “The smallest type of
cell...was actually a box measuring a meter in each dimension into which the prisoner was crammed in a
sitting position. A large electric bulb in the ceiling provided an excess of light and heat, and after ten to
twenty hours the prisoner lost consciousness. After being revived with a bucket of icy water, he would be
interrogated immediately... A similar type of cell was aptly named the ‘standing coffin.” It consisted of a
box about a half-meter in depth, a meter wide, and two meters high in which a prisoner could neither sit nor
lie down. Sometimes the standing-coffin was a full meter in depth and the prisoner could squat on the
floor; at other times the ceiling was so low that the prisoner could at no time stand fully upright.” Kermit
G. Stewart, Russian Methods of Interrogating Captured Personnel, World War 11 (Office of the Chief of
Military History, Department of the Army, 1951), p. 316
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With AZ’s continued recovery, and no immediate plans for intensive

(b)(1) interrogation, the headquarters physician and PA departed. During the follow-on

(b)(3) NatSecAct ! RMO visits, consideration was given to whether a skin graft would accelerate
the healing of the leg wound. It was judged that that, given the depth of the wound, this
would have to wait. Assuming it could be arranged locally, this entirely elective
procedure would have to be timed so that the recovery period did not impede any
ongoing interrogation. As circumstances developed, no graft was seen as necessary; by
the time the wound had granulated in suﬂicwntly, it was well on the way to complete
healing. £,

In mid-June, AZ was informed that as a result of hisefailure to cooperate the
sympathetic interrogation team then present was being withdrawn®and that he was to be
left in isolation to reconsider cooperating before a mych mgre aggresswe team arrived.
Then, for almost two months he was left in the hands ofindifferent §liards who fed him
at irregular hours and only once a day (albeit wmysUfﬁcnent nutrients forég}ull day). An
OMS medical attendant continued to dress his‘wound, altl?ough at less frequentintervals,
averaging about every two days. Wound healing was\carefﬁ'l\y monitored throughout,
and continued its steady improvement. x

Given the lack of success with’ AZ SERE psychologgsts Mitchell and Jessen (the
latter having retired from the Air Force | 1p | May; @.%? became an OTS IC) were tasked with
devising a more aggressive approach to mterroga; o ‘Thelr solutlon was to employ the
full range of SERE techniques, They, together ‘With othér OTS psychologists, researched
these techniques, sollcmng mformatlon on eﬁ'ectlveness and harmful after effects from
various psychologlst%, ysychnaﬁ%& acadermcs .and the Joint Personnel Recovery
Agency (JPRA), which! versawmllltary SERE programs

As laterc er'categorize by*Mltchell and Jessen, the pressures to which SERE-trainees
are subjected during a three-day-“captivity” fall into three general categories.
Conéimomng techmquc‘ég\"/eaken psychological defenses and deprive the students of their
usual sense:of personal control. ‘ye include such things as stripping, diapering, sleep
depnvatxon,ig}ztary restriction, and solitary confinement; as noted, these measures also
provide an opp@rtumty for p0s1t1ve rewards for cooperation. Corrective techniques are
physically punitive, and are’ de31gned to sharply disabuse a trainee of the notion that they
won’t be touched and: focus them on the interrogators and the questions being asked.
These include “attentlon” holds of the face, “attention” slaps to the abdomen and face,
and slamming the student against a wall (“walling”). Coercive techniques are the most
aggressive of the negative measures, and are designed to accelerate the trainee’s entrance
into full compliance. These can include placement in stressful positions, confinement in
boxes, dousing with water, immersion in cold ponds, and exposure to the “waterboard”
(which invokes a sense of drowning through the application of water to a cloth-covering
the nose and mouth of a supine subject). At the extreme some SERE programs even used -
mock burials.
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‘Despite the physical and psychological intensity of the SERE program, thousands
of trainees had completed the course without physical or psychological aftereffects. In
part this is because SERE candidates (and instructors) are medically and psychologically
prescreened, and physicians and psychologists monitored the entire process. All
measures, even the most aggressive, are designed and administered to insure the safety of
those mterrogated “Slaps” are open-handed, short-arc, and directed at narrowly-
circumscribed “safe” areas; those “walled” are supported with a rolled towel around the
neck, and the blows directed against flexible walls designed to absorb the blow while
amplifying the sound; water immersion is limited by ambient air and water temperature;
and water-board applications generally are limited to 20 seco:;%;%nd no more than 40
seconds. ._,.,{_u

By early July a specific plan for the aggressiv gphase of AZ@mterroganon had
been worked out. The goal was to jarringly “disloggte™is ¢ expectanons of treatment, and
thereby motivate him to cooperate. (At the nm%{Z was believed to be'author of the al-
Qa’ida manual on interrogation resistance; heystii? seemed to,f think if he coulfhdld out
longer, he would be transferred into the benign U‘Sq,Jydmal system.) The interrogations
would be handled exclusively by the two contract SERE psychologlsts 4 who would
escalate quickly through a “menu” of. pre-approved techniques. These were to be “the
same techniques used on U.S. military’perse 1 during SE ining” (detailed above),
designed for maximum psychological 1mpact tj)qut causmg iSevere physical harm. 25
A medical person with SERE experience—i.e., a'serior OMS: PA, who had worked in the
previous Agency programzgyas to be present throughoutaand when warranted, an OMS
physician.- The OMS mi€dical’ oﬁ'lcexs -exclisive role was to assure-AZ’s safety during -

»: X, ‘: : M

Asa pracncal matt\,‘ oty af afidyi th'OMS coficurrence, there were to be two sizes of
conﬁnement box&s Conﬁne ent in thie®previously described larger box would be limited
to 8 hours {and no’ more than 184hours total in a 24 hour period). A much smaller box

also Would be built, measurmg 30%@ x 21"x 30”. Confinement in this box would be
R -
\\ -"i‘.‘?l

#CTC descnbed Jessen as a “SERE interrogation specialist” experienced “in the techmques of
confrontational mter?ogﬁ'uonsy’

B Alfred McCoy, a professor of history of some note later claxmcd in A Question of Torlure (REF) that the
CIA approach to interrogation reflected an internal program extending back to the 1950s. Agency interest
in interrogation did begin very early, and continued into the early Eighties, but was not a direct antecedent
of the 2002 CTC approach, which came directly from Jessen and Mitchell’s SERE experience. Both SERE
and initial Agency thinking, however, drew on the same early Agency and military-funded studies. The
early research was summarized in Albert D. Biderman and Herbert Zimmer, eds., The Manipulation of
Human Behavior (New York, Wiley & Sons, 1961), with which Jessen and Mitchell were familiar. Their
conceptual framework relied heavily on the Biderman chapter by Lawrence Hinkle on “The physiological
state of the interrogation subject as it affects brain function.” Both Biderman and Hinkle had received
MKULTRA support. For McCoy’s perspective, see Alfred W. McKoy, 4 Question of Torture: CIA
Interrogation, from the Cold War to the War on Terror (New York: Metropolitan Books/Henry Holt and
Co., 2006). McCoy occupies a named chair at the University of Wisconsin-Madison.
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limited to two hours.2® Care was to be taken not to force AZ’s legs into a position that
would compromise wound healing. In actual practice, the larger box was used in an
upright position, through its dimensions were such that AZ (who was quite flexible),
could sit down if he chose, albeit in a cramped position; even the small box
accommodated a squatting position sometimes adopted by AZ on his own volition. ‘At
the planned point of peak interrogational intensity, waterboard applications would be
alternated with use of the confinement boxes (in which he would “contemplate his
situation”) until, it was hoped, “fear and despair” led to cooperation. 2’

oTS psychologlsts prepared briefing papers to aocompaﬁ%Agency request to
Dol seeking an opinion on whether the SERE- techmques coul legally be used in an
actual interrogation. Of the possible measures, only the waterboard and mock burial
were believed by the Agency’s Office of General Coun w(OGC) toykequire prior
Department of Justice (DoJ) approval. However, ten- “Enhanced In%%:}uon
Techniques” (EITs) initially were proposed: attention grasp, walling tec \q e, facial
hold, facial or insult slap, cramped confinement: boxes, wallistanding, stresst smons,
sleep deprivation, waterboard (“historically the most effectiveitechnique used by the U.S.
military”), and mock burials. To these was added thé’placement of harmless insects in
the confinement box (based on AZ’s apparent discomfo 3w1th insects). After
preliminary discussion with the Department of Justice, mock-burial had been eliminated
from consideration. Of specific interest.was.whether any of these measures were barred
by the most relevant Federal torture statuté, wh1ch prohlblted the intentional infliction of
severe physical or mental, % or suffering8e

/n,wl\- .

Among the 1tems forwarded to DoJ alo g with the request was a 24 July 2002
OTS paper on “Psychorqglcal Terms Employedip*the Statutory Prohibition on Torture,”
a memorandum from the:Aj Air, Force Chlef of st?hology Services, Major Jerald Ogrisseg,
on the Air Egficefexperience thh SERE ‘and‘an OTS-prepared AZ psychological
assessmefit, Accordingito Ognsseg, almost 27,000 students had undergone Air Force
SEREffraining between¥i992 and2001+ of which only 0.14% had been pulled for
psychological reasons (andiof whlchvnone were known to have had “any long-term
psycholog?‘ pact”). The OTST paper assessed the relative risk of the various
techniques, andconcluded that while they had been administered to volunteers “in a
harmless way, with ino measurable impact on the psyche of the volunteer, we do not
believe we can assurgjtlie same for a man...forced through these processes.... The

This small box was not much smaller than boxes occasionally used in Agency exfiltrations a decade and
more earlier] |
The uotations in this and the preceding paragraph are from an outgoing cable, from ALEC to
9 July 2002, outlining the proposed plan. The CTC/Legal analysis was presented to the Legal
Adviser to the NSC, and the DOJ Office of Legal Counsel, and Criminal Division; it also was briefed to the

|

Counsel to the President. See CTC/Legal to 5 July 2007.

2 A DOJ review of the use of mock burials would have been much more nmc-consumxng than what was
needed for the other measures. Some of this history is found in Office of the Inspector Genersl,
“Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Activities (Scptember 2001 — October 2003),” 7 May 2004,
pp. 13-15. ’
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intent...is to make the subject very disturbed, but with the presumption that he will
recover.” “The plan is to rapidly overwhelm the subject, while still allowing him the

.option to choose to cooperate at any stage as the, pressure is being ratcheted up. The plan

hinges on the use of an absolutely convincing technique. The water board meets this
need. Without the water board, the remaining pressures would constitute a 50 percent
solution and their effectiveness would dissipate progressively over time, as the subject
figures out that he will not be physically beaten and as he adapts to cramped
confinement.”

the Agency request, all dated 1 August 2002. An unclassnﬁeﬁ sl.cgal Memorandum, Re:
Standards of Conduct for Interrogation...” spelled out in broad detail what would and
would not fall within the provisions of the Torture Conventxon, as'imiplemented within
the United States. A second unclassified memo concluded that under mtc&natlonal law,
interrogations not barred within the U.S. would not be within the Junsdlctlon of the
International Criminal Court. The third, classifiéd memorindum, applied the judgments
of the first two to the interrogation of Abu Zubayd)‘\ ~ This¥éxplicit memo, entitled
“Interrogation of al Qaeda operative,” summarized the(proposed techniques, their record
in the SERE program, and the proposed medical safeguards then advised—per the Legal
Memorandum—that torture, as legally defined, was “the infliction of severe physical or
mental pain-or suffering;” that severe physical pain “is pain that is difficult for the
md1v1dua1 to endure and is of an mtensnyaakm t&the %ggompany'ing serious physical
injury.” Their conclusion was that “[n]oneuof 1e proposed’techniques inflicts such pain.”
These explicitly included slapsgwalling, stress positions; confinement boxes, sleep
deprivation, and the waterboard%Nor did the waterboard legally “inflict severe [physical]
suffering,” because it'was. “sunply a controlled -acute eplsode lacking the connotation of
a protracted penod of time generally gwen to suﬁ‘enng

DoJ’s Office of Légal Counsel (OLC) prepared three ﬁoranda in response to

Wlth regard’ t w};ether ;pe techmques inflicted severe mental pam, Dol wrote
that to‘be prohibited by stj&xte theyswould have to cause “prolonged mental harm,”
“disrupt profoundly the senses or the personality” (i.e., through the administration of a
“mind-altering substance or procedure”) or threaten imminent death. With the exception
of the watcrboard (and mock burial, which had been dropped from consideration), none
of the techmqum‘therefore was prohibited. “Although the waterboard constitutes a threat
of imminent death,” the SERE record indicated that it did not cause the requisite

 OMS was not parl of the preparation of these papers and first saw them the followmg spring, 2003. The
DoJ August 1, 2002 memorandum on “Interroganon of al Qaeda Operative,” which was provided to OMS
in summer 2002, did quote or summarize some portions of the OTS-prepared material.

3 Memorandum for John Rizzo, Acting General Counsel of the Central Intelligence Agency, “Interrogation
of al Qaeda Operative,” 1 August 2002. A separate, unclassified memo that date, stated, “Physical pain
amounting to torture must be equivalent in intensity to the pain accompanying serious physical injury, such
as organ failure, impairment of bodily function, or even death.” Legal Memorandum, Re: Standards of
Conduct for Interrogation undek 18 U.S.C. 2340-2340A (1 August 2002), in Office of the Inspector
General, “Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Activities (September 2001 — October 2003),” 7
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“prolonged mental harm,...e.g., mental harm lasting months or years.” Thus the use of
this procedure “would not constitute torture within the meaning of the statute.”'

With both definitive DoJ legal guidance and White House concurrence in hand,
on August 3™ the field was cabled approval to proceed. Notwithstanding the reported
safety of the SERE measures, OMS believed the presence of both a physician and the PA .
was warranted, at least during waterboard applications. In anticipation of DoJ approval,
two RMOs had been asked if they were willing to participate, and both agreed. In early
Julyl ~ RMO, en route to a temporary assignment 2 was
met and briefed at Dulles Airport. At the end of July, upon oral’ approval from DoJ (and

the White House), he was dispatched to await thé’&; written approval. At
RMO reconfirmed AZ’s basiE g good health, and reported to

"OMS a local belief that the enhanced measures would sucteed within 72-96 hours, i.e.,
within the length of a typical SERE program. Aftera 'week th RMO, who had
accompanied the initial AZ rendition, was to reheve this RMO e, too, was brought to
Washington for a briefing. : ~

During the upcoming penod of intense interroga thn, AZ was to be g1ven the
impression that he could not escape ifito an alleged need-formedical care. Medical
attendants would no longer dress his woundrather, a guardI Eo;cc; asionally left dressings
and antiseptics with which he was to take, l’*“"'of h;_mself In"acfual fact, this “guard” was
a PA or physician (with face covered, as were alPthe guards) swho carefully monitored
the wound, and made any necessary cuts of the {ape as AZ took care of the dressing.

3 Memorandum for John Rizzo, Acting General Counsel of the Central Intelligence Agency, “Interrogation
of al Qaeda Operative,” 1 August 2002. In the separate unclassified memo of that date, DoJ also wrote,
“For purely mental pain or suffering to amount to torture under Section 2340, it must result in significant

" psychological harm of significant duration, e.g., lasting for months or even years.” Legal Memorandum,

Re: Standards of Conduct for Interrogation under 18 U.S.C. 2340-2340A (1 August 2002), in Office of the
Inspector General, “Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Activities (September 2001 — October
_2003).” 7 Mav 2004 n. 19 )
(b)(1)
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Initiation of “Enhanced Interrogation Techniques” (EIT’s)

On August 4™, “enhanced interrogation techniques” were begun. Within six
hours these progressed from attention slaps and walling to confinement in both the large
(about 5 hours) and small (about 1 hour) boxes, and finally to the water board. The
initial waterboard sessions lasted about two hours, although with significant breaks and
with no single apphcatlon exceeding 17 seconds; and none exceeding 30 seconds in a
later second session.*® After a final half-hour in the small box ﬁ“‘ as left overnight in
the large box. Medical—which remained continuously on-sneﬁt'hroughout the intense
phase of interrogation—monitored AZ’s condition ﬂuoughoﬁt‘ﬂ@n_lsght via a grainy
video feed from inside the box. The next day, 5 August AZ was st Jectcd to a similar
course. Neither day produced notable intelligence, @gspxté wﬂlmgness to give other
kinds of information, AZ was sticking to his preyious statement that he Hathdisclosed
what little he knew on imminent threats. Informally\the RMO wrote mat%fms
amazingly resistant to the waterboard” and was “becommghab;tuated to the*boxes.’
Contrary to expectations, the process was going to take ‘a long time.” The whole
experience, the RMO added was “v1§ually and psychologxcal]y very uncomfortable” for
a]l those witnessing jt. 3¢ o

S 9

EITs continued to be applied thhvarym degreﬁ of mtens:ty until the moming
of 8 August, when a partlcularly aggressive son left .éy highly distraught, and some
of the on-site staff profeund}y affected. In tF the wake, theon-site personnel concluded the
intense phase should’ not be contiftued much filrther, and that senior CTC personnel
needed to see the proowsxﬁrst h‘end “"The sam&lpro’tocols nonetheless were continued for
the next few days, as plans WeTe: made for a video-teleconference (VTC) w1th
headquarte ffilih n-sxte medlcal role'began)};o mclude staff counse]mg

(b)(3) CIAAct on August 13“‘Whe VTC was héld, including video clips from the full range of -

(b)(6) intefrogation efforts. EDMS was one of those in attendance. Despite a grainy
appearance¥the intensity o e ongomg interaction was graphically evident. CTC
analysts, howeyer, remainedjconvinced that AZ had detailed time-perishable information,

m

%3 The waterboard was po_ggloned slightly head down—as was done in SERE—and included a capability to
(b)(1) quickly pivot to a verticalfposition to facilitate clearing the air passages.”> The medical team had limited
(b)(3) NatSecAct AZ to liquids for several hours preceding this exposure, but when his anticipated vomiting included solids
from early that morning, he was restricted to liquids only for the duration of the intense phase. .
* Lotus Note,| Medic to[__MS, 5 August 2002, SECRET

(b)(3) CIAAct 35 Thought was given locally to bringing in a staff psychologist or psychiatrist to work with the staff. The

(b)(6) on-site OTS personnel objected to this, a reflection of long-standing antipathy between OMS and OTS on

: the psychology side, and an OTS belief that they should control all “operational psychology.” As these
were potentially staff consultations, this argument wasn’t accepted. However, it was decide that a more

(b)(1 ) practical approach was to have OMS staff evaluate/counsel all staff personnel on their return from

(b )(3) NatSecAct[  [and psychologically prescreen anyone being sent out(b) (1) or other future detention

sites).

(b)(3) NatSecAct 18

—— '
—_Ll{(b)(S) NatSecAct—— M

l

Approved for Release: 2018/08/14 C06541727


http:session.33

(

(b

b)
)

06541727

(1)
(3) NatSecAct

(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct , not.

~ Approved for Release; 2018/08/14 C06541727
(D)(3) NatSecAct

TOP—SECRET/| | /NOFOURN77FR
\ (b)(3) NatSecAct

which warranted a continuation of the process.“ Given the on-site OTS psychologist
assessment that AZ’s psychological status was fundamentally sound, and the RMO’sY
judgment that the wound still looked acceptable (albeit at some risk if the process
continued another two weeks), C/CTC directed the enhanced interrogations to continue.
However, to allow AZ more opportunity to cooperate, the breadth of questioning was to
be broadened considerably; and all decisions on.technique left to those at site.

Enhanced measures continued for the next ten days, albeit at a much lower
intensity. The waterboard was applied on only two of those days|(léugust 15 and 19), and
for the final three days the small confinement box was not usedPEven-this limited
waterboard use was meant only as a brief reminder when A;appeared to be backsliding.

#

Between these final two waterboard sessions ’ﬂﬁe(stion wagraised by the field
about the possible use of a medical “disinhibitor,” sich s, sodium amytal, which
prompted another OMS review of “truth serumsg”Such drugs, although\wxdely regarded
as unreliable sources of “truth,” were believed potennally‘ﬁseﬁxl as an excuse”‘that
would allow the subject to be more forthcoming wh White snllﬁ?&ng face. Wh]le
undertaking the review, OMS informally agreed to consider supporting this alternative
approach, providing that the actual administration was led by a qualified physician,
e.g., an OMS psychiatrist. In practxce, £ ( ;’,s~contmued co&auon with the new line of
question made new measures unnecessary. E: \k\ . 3

%

Medically, AZ showed remarkable resﬂlence throughout the process, in part due
to a manifest concern for ‘hisoWm physical well -being. The early worry that he would
attempt to aggravate' h;s wound¥especially whxle in the confinement boxes, proved
entirely unfounded. HeZalways Was very attentlve to his dressings. The boxes
themselves eventually scem t&“ €hyezas an scape from more severe measures. During
the most physn"§1 hase of?h%;nterrogauon, wound healmg did slow, and eventually
there was ‘thinimal detenoratlon- of.some margins. No signs of infection presented,
howeyer.and the intense phase of the interrogation ended before further deterioration
would have forced medlcay_}’htervepnon

R

g dhe final, transition phase of enhanced interrogation (which began on
August 19% and ended the 23“’) AZ was in an increasingly benign environment. This
allowed solid food; greatfy improved hygiene, and the resumption of more active medical
care. The edges of hys'wound quickly recovered, and the healing in of the basic defect
resumed. When AZ entered the “debriefing” mode, both the RMO and the PA were
able to depart, replaced—as previously—by headquarters-based nurses, who attended to
the healing leg wound:

% On-sue personnel came to believe that Headquarters thought the field had lost its objectivity.
By this time MO had replaced ﬁmﬁo

3 Another question raised was whether a small'amount of shrapnel, still imbedded in his parietal lobe after
war injury some years earlier, could explain his failure to recall certain details. Our consultants judged

19
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(b) (1) Within two weeks questions about AZ’s candor again were raised and_

(b)(3) NatSecAct RMO was sent for against the possible resumption of more intense methods. Enhanced
methods proved unnecessary, but during th RMO’s weeklong stay at '
[ thel ~_|RMO flew down to be briefed into the program. To
further build the support cadre, th(b)(1) [RMO was recalled to headquarters for
the same briefing. - (b)(3) NatSecAct '

(b)(1 )

(b)(3) NatSecAct On_ :L ‘— RMO retumed jthe U.S. raised
its terror alert level to “orange” [high], and precipitously closed’tHirteen embassies and
consulates. | (b)(1) |

(b)(1) (b)(3) NatSecAct

(b)(3) NatSecActl

| | No attacks materialized, but the anxi€ty level remained hightgin, the

Washington, D. C. area, five separate “sniperﬂéit“heks the’%i week in October; left five
random Washington area residents dead—all killedfasytheyswent about routine daily
activities. For three difficult weeks, until the killers were captured, the sniper attacks
were believed by some to be another terrorist assault. stt this local angst, on October
(b)(1) 12™, the al-Qa’ida-affiliated JI bombed a mghtclub in Baly, \élmg 202 people.
)

(b)(3) NatSecAct

Amidst these ongoing developments two other “hlg‘}; value targets” (HVTs) were
captured who eventually would be handed" over ‘fo CTG. ;,an was Ramzi Bmalshxb
(b)(1) former member of theé]amburg 9/11 cell ar\rested in Karachi on September 1t E
(b)(3) NatSecAct In mid-October, about the time of

e Bali bombing,”A Biiﬁl Rahim al-Nashiri w as;arr‘ested Nashiri was al-
Qa’ida’s senior representatlve m»the%ersmn Gulf, and believed directly linked to both the
(b)(1) East African‘emibassy. bombiags and th bombing of the USS Cole.|
(b)(3) NatSecAct

' Antlclpatmg the transfer gﬁ,,latl least one of these HVT’s, RG hurried to complete a
second facility;, ]
| (b)(1) i

(b)(3) NatSecAct
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OnJNovember Nashiri was transferred to Agency custody, and flown on an
Agency rendition flight to an Agency facility ] | Both an
OMS PA and contract psychologist-interrogator Mitchell accompanied this rendition. At

Mitchell and Jessen (who had been there assisting with interrogations for the

preceding two weeks) prepared a mental status evaluation, an assessment of Nashiri’s
“resistance posture,” and proposed an “interrogation plan.” Nashiri, then age 37, had
seemed arrogant and immature, transparently feigning distress, and provocatively
disrupting his interviews and questioning, but was without apparent mental disorders.
The plan was to move himto] here, if he remained yncooperative, he would
be subjected to increasingly intense enhanced interrogation meaSures™~At headquarters,
an OTS psychologist reviewed the assessment and plan, angigeede that there was no

(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

d

evidence Nashiri would be unable to endure enhanced measurest@ithat they would cause
him “severe, profound, or permanent harm.” A physician thus eeded to monitor his

planned interrogation.

. W e
Nashiri was moved to —

RMO, summoned to rejoin the on-site PA, arrived*on) RAL] 'Nashiri

immediately was subjected to slaps, walling, and th:‘eénﬁnement boxes (which, because

of his small stature, proved a relatlvel\yabemgn sanctuary)'\,A week later, after some

. perceived success, these intense measuresiwere suspended, and, the\ o
departed. Unexpectedly a combination of urge toco’r}cems lcdlg‘f'efr&another day of
aggressive interrogation, on November before.th RMO could arrive.
These measures, which included all the prewously apphe@,measur&s plus 1-3 brief
applications of the: wat}c;rboard ‘were momtored ‘by the PA and accomplished without - -

W
complication.*! b1 ) M ‘

(b)(3) NatSecAct |

(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

(b)( ) -
(b)(3 )NatSecAct

(b)(3) NatSecAct
[ hxow was available, so

mterroganons were' suspended and plans laid for a quick departure The
amvaL&he[ T RMO allowed the on-site PA—who was to accomyany the
transferoo visit and buy cold-weather clothes. On DecemberLthe transfer

was effected. Meéxca]ly, both detainees were in good shape. AZ’s leg wound
now measured only a 1x2 cm, and was easily covered by a small bandage. Both
detainees were shackled an%'hOoded for the trip, and transported lying on their sides.*?
Initially the rendition réw proposed a gag and duct tape to prevent communication, but
this was overruled by.the PA. A1rs:ckness could lead to vomiting and, with mouths
blocked, to asplratlon

“! The PA wrote of only one session, a later IG review said two, and a later CTC summary said three; all
agreed that these were of very short duration.

“? Hooding during transfer was primarily for security reasons, to prevent detainees from identifying their
locations. Eventually medical personnel became concerned that in some cases hood might unacceptably
restrict air flow, so during flights detainees were monitored with pulse oximeters. If oxygen saturation
began to drop, the hood was pulled above the nose. This problem eventually was remedied by replacing
hoods with eye patches and opaque goggles.

?THEG%ET/J
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The late December Washington Post articlegasamong the fifsgito claim
knowledge of the Agency’s interrogation techmques “Sources” did correctly report (or.
guess) that these techniques included sleep dep yation (“a prachce with a.mblguous
status in international law”), and stress positions. Bhey errfd in alleging mantpulation of
Zubaydah’s medical care: ‘“National security officials{suggested that Zubaxda s
painkillers were used selectively in the beginning of his captmty 45 This speculation,
echoed in a Post editorial, was repeated more emphatlcallygust a few months later by
both the Los Angeles Times and New York Times (XU.S. officials‘admitted withholding
painkillers;” “painkillers were withheld from Mr Zubaydah”) “And from there, it
immediately went to the editorial pages of theantzsh MédiZal Journal, which asked if
“the doctors ass §ned to%rrogatlon cenges prot@stgd .at the denial of painkillers to
Abu Zubaydah.’ In,jate 2005l“qn authoritative U.S. official” finally was quoted as
saying that the pain medication st"ory “never happefied.” But by then it had become an

accepted “fact,” a fact soontod ”" D ermanently enshrined in books. 4’
a Ayt \-

(b) 1)
(b)(3) CIAAct
(b)(3) NatSecAct

5 «y 8. Decries Abuse but Defends [ntcrrogahons ? Washmgtan Post, 26 December 2002.

% “Pighting ‘terrorism”. with torture,” BMJ 326:773-774 (12 April 2003).
a “Torture is Not an Opuon,“ Washmgron Post, 27 December 2002; “Rights on the Rack,” Los Angeles
Times, 6 March 2003; (g\lesnomng Terror Suspects in a Dark and Surreal World,” New York Times, 9
March 2003. Some later repetitions: “U.S. Pledges to Avoid Torture,” Washington Post, 27 June 2003
(“Officials said painkillers were used selectively to win cooperation of Abu Zubaida”); “Hussein
Disoriented, Defiant, Sources Say,” Washington Post, 15 December 2003; “The Policy of Abuse,”
Washington Post, 16 May 2004; “CIA Puts Harsh Tactics On Hold,” Washington Post, 27 June 2004,
“Disclosure of Authorized Interrogation Tactics Urged,” Washington Post, 3 July 2004; “The CIA’s
Prisoners,” Washington Post, 15 July 2004; “C.I.A. Expands Its Inquiry Into Interrogation Tactics,” New
York Times, 29 August 2004; “Vice President for Torture,” Washington Post, 26 October 2005  The lone
contradictory voice is found in “Italy presses U.S. on torture claim,” Chicago Tribune, 28 December 2005.
Among the books repeating this claim: Gerald Posner, Why America Slept: The Failure to Prevent 9/11
(New York: Random House, 2003, pp. 184-186; Sanford Levinson, ed., Torture: A Collection (Oxford:
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The question of drug-assisted interrogation

The intensity and duration of AZ’s interrogation came as a surprise to OMS and
prompted further study of the seemingly more benign alternative of drug-based
interviews.*® The only readily accessible summary of the Agency’s extensive early

- experience was a spring 1961 Studies in Intelligence article, “‘Truth’ Drugs in
Interrogation,” which had concluded,

No such magic brew as the popular notion of truthserum exists. The
barbiturates, by disrupting defensive patterns, may sometimes*be helpful in
interrogation, but even under the best conditions theyswill elicit an output
contaminated by deception, fantasy, garbled speech? etc? A,major
vulnerability they produce in the subject is a tendency to Belidye he has
revealed more than he has. It is possible, however, Yor both normal
individuals and psychopaths to resist drug interrogation; it seem 1kely that
any individual who can withstand ordmax;.y intensive mterrogatxon campdld
out in narcosis.*’ ' —Q«.

This wasn’t necessarily the final word, however, ‘€Ven in 1961; Technical
~ Services Division (TSD, predecessor to OTS) was in fact using drugs in
interrogation about that time (notably LSD')%&%ULTRA drug research
continued at least two more years. Additi &ally,pt;he 1963 KUBARK [CIA]
Counterintelligence Interrogatxon manual, stxll,mcluded “drugs among the
potentially useful mterrogatxongools if only for a placebo effect, or to allow the
subject to ratlonahze g;vmg up- mformanon B N

An OMS staff psychlatnst obtained from the DO’s Central Eurasian Division a
compilationgdRreporting ori-the Soviet ‘dru program. OMS was aware that studies of
communist “brain washing” techmques in the 1950s and 1960s had concluded that
Sovne@Satelhte and Eﬁﬁfﬁe succcsses “at “mind control” were achieved without the use

* 8 Similar thinki g was pamall);m pons:ble for interest in the use of “truth serums” in the 1930s; they
avoided the morejphysical measures then in use by some police departments.
L George Birmmerleda Truth’ D‘rfxgs in Interrogation,” Studies in Intelligence 5(2):A1-A19 (Spring 1961).
Geroge Bimmerle was{alpseudonym for a TSD/Behavioral Activities Branch (BAB) non-scientist working
principally as a researchérfand writer, but once involved in surreptitious LSD administration. This article

_ apparently was prepared,Wwith help from Dr. Edward Pelikan, a consultant pharmacologist formerly on the
Technical Services Staff (TSS, predecessor to TSD). In 1977 the Agency introduced the text of this article,
without title, author, date or sourcing into Congressional Hearings on MKULTRA, as a statement of then
current thinking on drugs in interrogation. LSD received only the passing comment that “information
obtained from a person in a psychotic drug state would be unrealistic, bizarre, and extremely difficult to
assess... Conceivably, on the other hand, an adversary service could use such drugs to produce anxiety or
terror in medically unsophisticated subjects unable to distinguish drug-induced psychosis from actual
insanity.” ,
5 KUBARK Counterintelligence Interrogation (1963), 99. 131 ( SECRET). While no author is listed, the
manual was prepared by or jointly with the TSD/BAB psychology staff. A redacted version of this manual
was released to the public in 1997.
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of drugs. The 2002 CE data was consistent with this, in suggesting that the most intense
period of Soviet drug study had not come until the 1980s, in the wake of intense 1970’s
publicity surrounding the Agency’s drug programs. It appeared that the Soviets had
looked into drugs similar to those once investigated by the C.I.A. and U.S. military (e.g.,
psychotomlmetlcs barbiturates), and—as in the U.S.—had failed to find any particularly
useful drug.”!

The issue of drug-based interrogation vs. SERE techniques was discussed with
three OMS field-based psychiatrists at a Mental Health Division (MHD) field conference
the first of October. All had been exposed to amytal interviews dfnng their residency
training or later, typically treatmg hysterical paralysis. The goal of the interviews had not *
been to establish actual facts, but rather to seek the ‘psychologlcal truth” behind the
condition. The psychiatrists, while not optimistic, thought\that gl\ven the alternatives the
subject was worth more study. A long distance dia ogué‘*contmued for thg next 2-3
months, while each did his literature review, and submltte%.\ thoughts. \\,&.\

N \V-)
Eventually it was decided that the most promi; mg:étpproach would be"glong the
lines of traditional “narco-analysis.” Unquestionablyiseme false information would

- result, as was the case with more physical methods, but S\wasn ’t necessarily a :
showstopper. Even the unreliable barblturate interviews oflﬁe 1950s, in the hands of
sophisticated analysts, sometimes provxdeduseful leads y

The preferred drug. agpwed to be f’mdazalam (Versed), a comparatively new
benzodiazepine. Versedwastone of the safest and most:€asily reversed benzodiazepines,
and clearly much préferable t:)vtﬁh‘é older barbxturates It also afforded some amnesia, a
sometimes desirable segondary effect. A downsxde was a requirement for (presumably)
physncxan-assnsted mtra Qous admiiistration, which decades before had been an

errogau’o!ﬁ vice LSD which could be administered

sxlently

AN

‘Anibivalently, Vexsed was ¢ ns:dered possibly worth a trial if unequivocal legal
sanction ﬁrst\were obtamed .:.There were at least two legal obstacles: a prohibition
against medlcal'gpenmentabon on prisoners, and a ban on interrogational use of “mind-
altering drugs” o1 those whlch “profoundly altered the senses.” The latter seemed clearly
aimed at hallucmogens like LSD (a legacy of MKULTRA), but the legal status of more
traditional “truth semms” was not clear beyond the inadmissibility in court of information
obtained under their influence. The question became moot, since CTC/LGL did not want
to raise another issued with the Department of Justice.

3! “Drug Assisted Interviews,” 10 September 2002, (SECRET) Several years later, a laborious review of
Agency archival materials made possible the reconstruction of much of the early record on drug-assisted
interrogation. This clarified the actual practice and conclusxons at the time, but did not identify any
particularly useful technique. :

m—{ (3) NatSecAct— ——w
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At the beginning of 2003 the OMS review (informally termed “Project
Medication™) was shelved, never to be reactivated. In retrospect, even had there been
legal sanction, an opportunity to try drug-assisted interrogation may never have
presented. An interrogation of the intensity of the AZ case was repeated only once
thereafter, in a particularly high profile case; in all other cases, less robust methods
seemed adequate. As OMS gained more familiarity with successful interrogation,
another drawback to the use of a drug like Versed became evident. As a measure of
accountability, coercive measures were increased when detainees intentionally provided
provably false information. A detainee speaking under the mﬂuencc of drugs, however,
could credibly claim ignorance of anything he had said.

/ ’

Failure to pursue the option of drug-assisted mterrogatlo“ﬁ‘also spared OMS
physicians some significant ethical concerns. Throughoutwlts support'of the RDG
program, OMS scrupulously avoided involuntarily "e'd'f‘catmg detaingesa, With rare
exception, detainee treatment was given only aﬁeﬁrst obtammg conséﬁ? if refused, the
treatment was not given.’> Though perhaps l{l’ﬂﬁ%l\y, it way possible that sof "é'fdetamees
would consent to a drug-assisted interview—to ‘pmve” that they were not w1thholdmg
information. (This sometimes had been the case in both{police and early Agency use of
the historic truth drugs.) Whether or‘not consent was obt‘gmed drug administration—
presumably by a-physician—clearly would *have been an m\ste procedure for non-
therapeutic reasons. . \ e y ,

Notwithstanding the-actual record, 1n‘2003 a detarled but imaginary account was
pubhshed of Agency medlcal personnel us1ng\Sodmm Pentothal on Abu Zubaydah, who
“evidently [was] %ﬁrst to be’ given thlopental sodium.”** Remarkably, this claim was

rarely if ever repefited: ' When the opportunity later presented to discuss interrogation.

techniques with a Congresswnal Cornmittee, the' Agency was asked why 1t had not used
drugs. Ihg_answer»was that drugs don’t:work:—which is true, probably. **

2 Only twice had violently dlsrupuve mdxvxcfuals been sedated—once during a rendition, and once in,
detention—to; avou:l self-harm or endangérment to others. A few detainees on hunger strikes were
involuntarily fedilirough a NG tube but always with their assistance.

When first d:scussed the persohal ethics of some of the physician staff probably would have allowed
participation in lcgally sanctiofied drug-assisted interrogations, as a more benign alternative to the very
aggressive approach bem“_ggmploycd When walterboard use eﬁ'ccuvely ended after March 2003 the
ethical equation may wellhave changed.

% Gerald Posner, Why America Slept: The Failure to Prevent 9/1 I (New York: Random House, 2003, pp.

187-188. Posner also claimed, mcorrectly, that Zubaydah was hooked to a polygraph during this time.

% Several years later, a laborious review of Agency archival materials allowed a reconstruction of much of
the early record on drug-assisted interrogation, which clarified the actual practice but did not identify any
particularly useful techniques. Both barbiturates and hallucinogens seemingly had produced compliance or
useful reporting in some cases, but this was against a backdrop of confabulations or deliberate misreports.
For bureaucratic reasons as much as anything, LSD eventually displaced the conventional medical use of
barbiturates in interrogation. Given LSD’s associated medical risks and emerging societal strictures, its use
later was abandoned. Objectively, aside from ease of administration it offered no more than the
Dbarbiturates beyond scaring some into cooperation. .
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The Role of Psychologxsts and Psychmtrzsts

Thc AZ interrogations highlighted just how challenging the emotional context
would be, both for detainee and those present. As a result, in mid-August 2002 MHD
began a debriefing assessment of all employees returning from detention sites, and by
month’s end was screening all those being assigned to these sites. When an interrogator
training program was begun in November, candidates first had to be evaluated by MHD.

MHD (and the OMS front office) also began quiet inquiri%!--into the philosophy
and operation of existing SERE programs. In early November 2002 a8SERE psychologist
assigned to the Army’s Fort Bragg program spoke to an OMS MHD detailing the
specifics of their training. The Bragg program made ag e"gw se of the same
techniques used against AZ (other than the waterboard) and also forced trainees into a
cold outdoor pool (even in winter). The role of thessychologist and a_p sician in the
SERE program was to prescreen the students for<any dlsquahfymg phys1 :ahor
psychological problems, and to intervene if qsmd\ent seemed at risk or an instEuttor
became too aggressive. Their judgment on these questlons .wis, final. I}V

At this offsite there was a lengthy discussion of th% ethics of psychologlst :
involvement in interrogation programs¥paiticularly one modsled _}fter SERE. The
general consensus was that, given the legal rulifgs,in hand, m;?g;mcal bar existed to non-

3\
mandatory participation. The appropriaté, psychélogxst Tole was to assess and monitor
detainees and staff—as in the SERE program-—-*ﬁ{lt withino'involvement in the actual
/
interrogations (unles;the psycholog:st role hﬁbeen relinquished).

This psychol gxst role soon became a point’of tension between OMS and CT C

~ prompted by OTS advemsmg for: senior “psychologmt/ interrogators” during the summer

and fall o ZOQmPsycho]oglst/mterrogaters,were to be “operationally oriented
psychologists who' are. w11hng 'to“support the interrogations of high value targets,”
‘provﬂﬁ psychologlca] idance to the interrogation team chief,” and “directly
partlclpate in the mterroi%%ons Consnstent with this, the on-site contract
psychologl‘s‘t'zmterrogators sometlmes had assumed dual roles of interrogating and
assessing the psychologica stablhty of the same detainee. Similarly, the on-site OTS

~ staff psychologl‘s’tglso served a hybnd ﬂmcnon—pcrformmg detainee mental status
1

(B)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

assessments whi
combination of responsibilities to be inappropriate.

The issue was partially resolved in December 2002, when RDG assumed
responsibility for the managemen | OTS did not have the manpower to
provide regular coverage, so OMS took this over. At the time and for the next three
months, no active interrogations were undertaken, so the role of the psychologist was
limited to the initial assessment of new arrivals and mental health monitoring of those in
detention. On one occasion, the OMS psychologist did bar the aggressive interrogation

_ of a new arrival, who he found to be too psychologically vulnerable.
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Eg;g; NatSec Act'- OTS still wanted to cover the highest profile cases, so when an HVD (Asadullah)
. arrived| !2003, their psychologist (previously on-site with

AZ) arrived to provide support. When two even more important HVDs were captured
(b)(1) and rendered a coverage problem developed. One of these was al-Qa’ida
(b)(3) NatSecAct gperations chief Khalid Shaykh Muhammed (KSM) who was to be sent on to

. The other was key al-Qa’ida financial facilitator Mustafa Ahmad al-Hasawi

who was to stay The OTS psychologists (and an RMO) -

‘went with KSM_ |and an OMS psychologist took over.respo: (b)(1 )ty for
(b)(1) monitoring the Hasawi interrogation. With rare exception OMS: ‘handled b)(3) NatSecAct
(b)(3) NatSecAct cases thereafter. (b)(3) NatSecAc

OTS (and the contract psycholognst/mterrogators) provxded‘the psychologlcal

,/\P
4

o

(b)(1) services to from the time it opened in De(:ember 2002. 'Ihat‘ month
(b)(3) NatSec Act coincidentally, saw publication of the American Psychologlcal Assoc1at10n s newly
evised “Ethical Principles of Psychologists an@{&de of Conduct.”® The‘APA ‘advised
that psychologists should “refrain” from entenng apm lupi%?elamnshlp [W1th a person]
(b)(1) if [this] could reasonably be expected to 1mpan' the psycﬁ%ioglst s objectivity,
(b)(3) NatSecAct competence, or effectiveness,....or otherwise risks exploitation or harm.”’ In partial
response to OMS bringing this to the attenﬁlon of CTC, Special Missions Division

( MD)—under which RDG was located——adws nilate January
(b)(3) CIAACt @ i\ :ﬁ;‘ —
| (b)(6) It has been and continues to'b\e,['Agency]{:p';E’;igtice that the
. individual at gefmtéerroEI 'g‘ation site whe administers the techniques is not

the same person who issues the psych\olpglcal assessment of record.... In
this respect %uld befnoted that staff and IC psychologists who are
approved mterro%rs-maycontmuetwserve as interrogators and
physxcaﬂly participatelinthe adr iniseration of enhanced techniques, so
long as at léast-one othergpsychologist is present who is not also serving as

a0 mterrogator and the app_wnate psychological interrogation
assessment of reciihas been completed.

"--

\_..a

A ThlS gmdance reqmred that the psychologist who did the initial assessment not
also administer EITs, but. did not preclude a psychologist from alternating between an
mterrogator/mterrogamen’f:onsultant role and a psychological assessment role once the
initial pre-interrogation assessment was complete. This, OMS believed, was a major

' concern.
(b)(3) CIAAct ) .
(b)(6) In defending the extant practice, DSMD solicited further input from both the
psychologist/interrogators and a distinguished senior contract psychologist (already

%6 These were adopted in August 2002, and became effective 1 June 2003,

57 Ethical Standard 3:05 Multiple Relationships.

%8 Office of the Inspector General, “Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Actlvmes (September
2001 — October 2003),” 7 May 2004, p. 40.
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working for both OMS and OTS). They jointly argued that, contrary to OMS, the Code
of Ethics provided a relevant exemption from the waming against dual roles, “[w]hen
psychologists are required by law, institutional policy, or extraordinary circumstances to
serve in more than one role in judicial or administrative proceedings.” ** This exemption,
for example, allowed a prison psychologist who unexpectedly uncovered evidence of a
serious crime while treating a prisoner to testify against the prisoner. OMS believed this
might well cover a dual role in which a psychologist did mental health monitoring of an
interrogation, and provided other clinical support to the same individual, but rejected the
notion that it possibly could extend to working both as a psycholggist and an interrogator

(0)(1) ' on the same person. . , s (b)(1) ‘
: e gx: - b)(3) NatSecAct
(p)(3) NatSecAct In early March, th4 'OMS Regional Psychiatrist visited(l_)( ) |

and reported, “It’s clear that OTS has no real interest in acting as the‘mental health
component of the interrogation team—except as it directly ?ipplies to interrogation. They
are not supporting the team as an impartial exoggé%us superego that provides unbiased
clinical assessments and addresses individual. and team isstes with regard t‘(’é?the
psychological process being applied to the detainee;;Thatgvould require a clear
delineation of roles....their conflict of interest is resolvegdiby focusing their energies on
(b)(1) the interrogation and not on team and;individual dynam@,’i T
(b)(3) NatSecAct W

/

AL L
Y

Manpower limitations finally resblvediiheyissue at as they had at
(b)(1) SOTS still did not have the staffito covertheexpanding program, so in April
(b)(3) NatS ecAct 2003 OMS took over psycholggical coverage Thereafter OMS provided

almost all the psychological s;ezfmc&s to futuré,detentionésites, supplemented periodically
by the OTS psycholdgist who had been activefn the program from the beginning. As
(1) OMS assumed mdre ?equgsibifity, OMS psychologists and psychiatrists began to attend

(b)(3) NatSecAct (as observers) a new Ageridy. High*Value TargetInterrogation training class.” Some
visited SERE:prggrams and-consulted with.SERE psychologists. Finally, in summer
2003, the MHD psycholo gist%'handled the Hasawi case was transferred full-time to
the RIDG:.staff, to provi'ti@;i;;imary coverage and coordinate the support of other OMS
psyéhologists and psychiatrists. By*2007 _ |OMS psychologists and | _(b)(3) CIAAct
psychiatristswrovided?ﬁme support to the program.

(b)(3) CIAACt

(b)(3) CIAAct -
(b)(B) . L SMD’S«%O%OT the contract psychologist/interrogators was attributable to
their being viewed as’the Agency’s most skilled and successful interrogators and .

- . indispensable to what-Wwas emerging as the Agency’s most productive counter-terrorist
program—alone accounting for over half of all al-Qa’ida-related intelligence. So highly

regarded were these contractors that they commanded ready entrée to the Agency’s most

% Ethical Standard 3:05 Multiple Relationships. .
% Beyond its intrinsic value, this participation addressed a lingering question about OMS involvement in
the interrogation program. Amidst the January 2003 OMS-OTS tensions surrounding ethics and coverage,
OTS had announced a “requirement” that formal SERE training would be prerequisite to servirig as a
“Special Mission” psychologists. While not enforced by CTC, the lack of OMS SERE experience was a
recurring OTS theme until summer 2003.
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senior management and four times the compensation of other interrogators. Given this,

(b)(3) CIAAC_ffSMD still sought opportunities to further utilize their services as psychologists, Over

(b)(€)

the next year, this infrequently generated tasking to psychologically evaluate those they
once had interrogated. Each time OMS objected, reluctantly agreeing that the contract
psychologistinterrogators could possibly perform assessments without conflicting
interests on those with whom they had had no dealings as interrogators. The OMS
preferred solution was that these contractors choose one role or the other, not both. In
May 2004 the first Inspector General report on the interrogation and detention program
reviewed this history, noted the continuing OMS concerns and forinally recommended a
policy that “individuals assessing the medical/psychological effSSts OBEITSs may not also
be involved in the application of those techniques.” ' The n6fion of
“psychologist/interrogators” then disappeared, and the SEI contractors worked solely
on the interrogation side.®> That summer the Department'df JustiCefafter reviewing the
IG report, asked OMS if the problem had been resolyed"and OMS fin ally could agree
that it had. f %

s,

An early task of the OMS psychologist detailed to. RIJG, was the creation of
relevant standard operating procedures (SOPs). By Dé¢ember 2003, and with the input
of other OMS psychologists, this hadig‘r’%wn into extensive guidance for psychologists
participating in the RDG program. Specifically addressed were Qualifications and
Training; Psychological Support to Interrogations/ chﬁeﬁn'g‘s%'{andards of Care;
Guidance and Definitions For Mental Heglw;h Asée: S@gnt of CIA Detainees (including a

- requirement for daily assessment during enhanced mezsures); Psychological

L

Disturbance; Assessment df:-ﬁb"'hg-tenn Fun @{ming and*Mental Status; Standard
Operating Procedures for Mental Health Emergencies; PIA Interview (a pre-interrogation
face-to-face inter\'//i'éwiﬁg‘%egsingqp_sycholo gical stability, mental status, resistance posture,
and suitability for enhanced-measures); and evell Cable Format. An appendix addressed
“Ethical Staridardskfor Psychologists ProViding Support to CTC/RDG Operations,” which
was ad},?;t from ARAYs, 2002‘@0& Principles of Psychologists and Code of
ConddCty"® ENet

S): onetl;eless sometimes found themselves operating in a gray
zone, as they %ated be%een operational and clinical roles in supporting the program.
They assessed mental status and monitored psychological well-being, but also looked for
any apparent factors Hith would preclude the use of enhanced interrogation techniques
(e.g., ahistory of abyse or some significant psychological problem). If enhanced
measures were employed, the psychologist reassessed the detainee’s psychological state

¢! Office of the Inspector General, “Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Activities (September
2001 - October 2003),” 7 May 2004, p. 35, 106.

2 Eventually allowing their psychology licenses to lapse, Jessen and Mitchell launched a very successful
business—Mitchell, Jessen and Associates--which provided guards, interrogators, and debriefers to the
CTC program. : :

@ “Psychological and Psychiatric Support to Detainee Interrogations,” in draft, 10 December 2003. [14 pp
+ 9 pp appendix
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on a daily basis. While never recommending specific coercive measures (e.g., on the
basis of perceived vulnerabilities), they did make recommendations on positive
incentives for cooperation (e.g., playing to a narcissistic ego, or providing extra social
contact in those for whom socialization seemed exceptionally important).

This nonetheless was an uncomfortable, somewhat dual role. Thought was given
to establishing separate operational and clinical teams to handle these two dimensions,
but there never were enough resources, and with the passage of time the issue was
resolved by the disappearance of subjects for aggressive interrogation. In 2005, the APA
first addressed the national security context, but by then the 1ssuﬁ§s\largely moot. (See
the discussion under Exposés and Ethics.) Initial psychologmcal -assessments of potential
candidates (most never subjected to EITs) had fallen from pjérhapsl:m 2003, t
number in 2004, to about‘JTin 2005, and in ZOOg&petamees[subjected to

~ enhanced measures declined from| _in 2003, to|_[5+2004, and_in 2805. After 2004, at

least 97-98% of the work was purely clinical, in.the form of quarterly mental health
clinical visits—by either a psychologists or a,psychlamstq detaineés in as

. manyL locations. As a practical matter, the-dual op'eratignal-chmcal;?olg had all

(b)(1)

but disappeared. _
‘.",,‘ v’.':;l’ (b)(1) ‘
(b)(1)+~ % (b)(3) NatSecAct

(b)(3) NatSecAct. (b)(3) NatSecAct

ﬁg ~*“Ei#ur¢ (b)(1)
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Early Mistakes

From the very outset, the detention and interrogation of High Value Targets
received extraordinary guidance and oversight, in part because of AZ’s physical
(b)(1) .. -condition, in part because of the legal issues surrounding aggressive interrogation, and in
(b)(3) NatSecAct part because of felt urgency in gaining the cooperation of detainees. This attention was
focused almost exclusively on the HVT facilities, mmallyr and then
(b)(1) | landits successors. It was attentively managed by the Rendition Group,
(b)(3) NatSec Act overseen by CTC/Legal, and had an on-site staff which variously included physicians,
psychologists, PA’s, nurses, and Agency security officers, in additionto the CTC
interrogators and debriefers. . ) m

Even so, this was a.work in progress, and occasxonal]y an??n\thmkmg or
~ unauthorized improvisation crossed the bounds of ac/ceptabﬂlty Wh"é?rdenhﬁcd these
were immediately corrected and, if appropnate the perpetrators dlscnplmed leen the
degree of oversight, this was an early and uncom{non occurrence at HVT fac.llmes and
typically occurred in the absence of the mterrogatlon taff; 1,,xThe target of seyeral of these
excesses was Nashiri, whose immaturity regularly provoked the staff. He again was
(b)(1) subjected, with RG approval, to streswhons and sleep depnvatlon on arrival at
(b)(3) NatSecAct | At one point, however, an mterrogator mappropnately lifted Nashiri by his
arms belted-behind his back, which was gm ful and medlcal]y nsky The onsite PA
intervened, and the maneuver was not repeated eeks’later a debriefer, absent the
interrogation team and PA, reinstated sleep @pmvaﬂon ‘%med to intimidate Nashiri
by hooding him, spinning the magazme of a¥evolver, and starting up a power drill (albeit
not actually touchmg the detamee) These actions led to dlsclphnary measures.

(b)(1) . Not all early Agency detamm were held in these carefully overseen RG HVT
(b)(3) NatSecAct facilities. Many-siispected terrorists were rounded up during military action in
| somelo!% potential-intglligence value. | |

(b)(1) u
(b)(3) NatSecAct

o)1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct————

1so had no written interrogation guidelines, though early on was
granted permission to employ sleep deprivation, solitary confinement, noise, and

® Office of the Inspector General, “Counterterrorism Detention'and Interfogation Activities (September
2001 — October 2003),” 7 May 2004, p. 41-44. Nashiri also had cigar smoke blown in his face, and may
have been scrubbed with a wire brush.,
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(b)(3) NatSecAct eventually standing sleep deprivation, nakedness and cold shbwers. As these were not
“enhanced” techniques, no medical monitoring function was specified, nor was OMS

(b)(1) advised of interrogations. When detainees needed medical care, the PA
(b)(3) NatSecAct assigned TDY _|was called. This happened every week or two, largely for

- entirely routine complaints. Interrogators at ___left to their own devices,
sometimes improvised. These improvisations varied from unauthorized SERE techniques
(b)(1) such as smoke blown into the face, a stabilizing stick behind the knees of a kneeling
(b)(3) NatSecAct detainee, and cold showers, to undisciplined, physically aggressive “hard takedowns” and
staged “executions” (though the latter proved too transparent a ryse)

.(E)(;) NatSecAct The only death tied directly to the detainee programtoglk,place in thls context at
(b)(3) NatSecAc | It came about as the result of an inexperienc local%‘ ff being left without
clear guidance, or any momtormg requirement, at a txme dramauc emperature change.

NatSecAct October 2002, a suspected Affghan ex ist name Gul Rahman
was captured in Pakistan, and on November[ﬁxdered to His pnncxple

) interrogator was psychologist/interrogator Bruce Jessen, onsite to  conduct iri“depth

) NatSecAct interrogations of several recently detained al-Qa’ida opwves For a week, Rahman
steadfastly refused to cooperate desp1 ebemg kept naked and subjected to cold showers
and sleep ’gp_jvatlon Jessen was join psychologgst/mterrogator Mitchell on
November

~—
—

=
~—

(b
(b)(3) NatSecAct | At this time tife, J@lsnted and found no
pressing medical problems,66 but in view of'a récent temature drop recommended that
(b)(1) the detainees be providéd thhf\warmer clothxag (betweeif November E@ the
(b)(3) NatSecAct low had falled &leven degrees to about 31 °F). | -
the’ psychelogwt/mterrogators otmed a final mental status exam on
Rahman and recommenzed “continual environmental depnvatlons They, 1

(b)( ) NatseCACt PA then depanted —A}the evemng«ofNovembeﬁ (b)(3) NatSecAct

(b)(1) #Over the next f i 5%ays temperatures improved (highs up fifteen degrees
(b)(3) NatSeCACtL lows up nine degreeg }but Rahman’s demeanor and level of
cooperation did not. Wheﬁ;l‘x_ls food was delivered on the he threw it, his water

bottle and his dé’fecanon bucket at guards, saying he knew their faces and
(b)(1) would kill them when he Was releas n learning this, the Site Manager directed that
(b)(3) NatSecAct Rahman, who worwﬂ a sweatshirt, be shackled hands and feet, with the shackles

connected by a short;cham As such, he was nearly immobilized sitting on the concrete

(b)(1) * floor of his cell. The temperature had againdroppe(b)(1)  |the preceding evening, and
(b)(3) NatSecAct (b)(3) NatSecAct

gz

| (b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

57 Many details are in IG Report of Investigation, “Death of a Detainee in 27 April 2005.
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the night Rahman was short-chained reached a low of 31 °F Although Rahman allegedly
looked okay to the guards during the night, he was dead the followmg morning.

An autopsy—performed by aL (b) atholo ) land
assisted by therp_y ~ PAl found no

trauma, toxicology, or other pathology to explam the death On a clinical b: basrs, the
pathologist attributed cause of death to hypothermia, consistent with the absence of
specific findings. Rahman lost body heat from his bare skin directly to the concrete floor
and was too immobilized to generate sufficient muscle activity to. keep himself alive.®®
Gul Rahman’s death triggered several intemal actions, mcludmg the generation of
formal DCI guidelines on the handling and interrogation. of deﬁn’r‘f“ees (which basically
codified existing RG practice), and the requirement that a]l\those pa{t.lgpatmg in the
program document that they had read and underst%d these requrrements % The
“Guidelines on Confinement Conditions for CI%e:unees” (2817 anuary\2003) required,

among other things: documented periodic medicall¢and wheén appropriate, psychologrcal)

* evaluations, that detainee food and drink, nutrition¥and samtary.standards not fall below a

(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

)(1)
(3

) ) NatSecAct

)(3) NatSecAct

minimally acceptable level; that clothing and/or the physrcal environment be sufficient to
meet basic health needs; that there be samtary facilities (w“'”'\ ich could be a bucket); and
that there be time for exercise. The “Gurdelmes on Interrogatlens Conducted Pursuant to
the Presidential Memorandum of Notrﬁcatrmf 17. Septembet: /2661” specified that EITs
could not be used without prior Headquarters approval must be preceded by a physical
and psychological exam, and.must be momtored by medrcal personnel. Even standard
techniques (those deemed nv&mcorporate Si gmﬁcant physrcal or psychological
pressure) required pﬁor\ppro ‘whenever feasrble These standard techniques were
described as inclufling s‘leep deanvatron (up to ‘72,hours reduced to 48 hours in Dec
2003), diapering (general-ly#&tfto exgeed,72 ours), reduced caloric intake (still adequate
to mamtamggenqal’hea]th) 1selation, loudtmusic or white noise, and denial of reading
materlal /{3’ " Ce \. 5 G

I{’kdmons and DetamgezLRDG the renamed RG) in December was given
responsrblhty for oversight | Coincident with this, OMS took over
psychologist ctoverage there, which began with the assessment of some [Jdetamees then
on site. The PA also began monthly cable summaries of detainee physical health.

The deliberate use of temperature extremes as part of the interrogation process
eventually became an accepted fact in press coverage of the Agency program. These

(b)(1) |
(b)(3) NatSecAct ‘

]

~ “"“Guidelines on Confinement Conditions for CIA Detainees” (28 January 2003)
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accounts began in March 2003 with an error-filled, though widely cited New York Times
piece on interrogation techniques, which included an alleged account of the interrogation
at Bagram Air Base of Al-Qa’ida facilitator al-Farouq the previous summer: “[A]
western intelligence official described Mr. Faruq'’s interrogation as ‘not quite torture, but -
about as close as you can get.” The official said that over a three-month period, the
suspect was fed very little, while being subjected to sleep and light deprivation,

prolonged isolation and room tempcratures that varied from 100 degrees to 10 degrees.

In the end he began to cooperate.””® Perhaps because the imagined temperature range
was not deemed credible, this claim was not soon repeated. iy )

(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

T
ok s tf

The only time deliberate mampulatron of cell térijpérature was proposed for an
RDG detainee came thh thegggpture of Khalui Sheik Mohammed, the most important
HVT yet taken. ’I'h’@ggh not part of DCI guidance, “uncomfortably cool temperatures”
were included in the submitted m,t\errogatron plan, Reading this, and in view of the recent
Gul Rahman experience, OMS«sen‘tst_h,p attendmg medical staff some reference material,

- including Wﬂéﬁcommended ambxent temperature ranges (no lower than 64°), optimal

temperatures (78° clotheq 86° unclothed), and the “thermoneutral zone” (68-86°) below

- whicl®imbient temperatiize onitoring was necessary.”> Were a deliberately cool space

to be s h"the lower limit was 55°#and any confinement between 55-60° limited to 2-3
hours unless the detainee was free to move around or sit on a protective mat. Below an
amblent temperature of 64°s'deta1nem were to be monitored for hypothermia.
{
JCTC soozrgspeciﬁed that detention cells be maintained between 75-78°.
Eventually, in June 2004, a DO review of the program noted that “uncomfortably cool
temperatures™ have. “not been used as part of CTC’s interrogation program,” anc‘l

7 “Questioning Terror Suspects in a Dark and Surreal World,” New York Times, 9 March 2003. This also

was one of the early articles to charge that the Agency withheld painkillers from Zubaydah
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recommended that such be deleted from the list of interrogation techniques.”* OMS
personnel confirm that temperature manipulation never became part of the RDG program,
and that no RDG detainee was exposed to extreme temperatures. When the 14 remaining
HVDs were transfcrred to Guantanamo in 2006, most reported to the ICRC that initially

they were held in !cold rooms. Their perception of “cold” was primarily a reﬂectlon of
personal comfort levels, and not the actual ambient temperature.

" Memorandum for Deputy Director of Operations, “Review of CIA Detainee Program in Response to DCI
Query,” 30 June 2004.
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KSM and the Waterboard
The 1 August 2002 Dol approval letter had characterized the SERE waterboard
process, as follows:

“...once the cloth is saturated and completely covers the mouth
P and nose, air flow is slightly restricted for 20 to 40 seconds due to the

: presence of the cloth . [This] produces the perception of ‘suffocation and
incipient panic,’ i.e., the perception of drowning. The indiyidual does not
breathe any water into his lungs. During those 20-40 sec[ondS‘ water is
continuously applied from a height of twelve to twenty-four inches. After
this period, the cloth is lifted and the individual lyﬁ)wed to breathe for
three or four full breaths...The procedure maygthgg\be repeated

More broadly DoJ wrote that their generalfexpectation was that “repetmon [of any
technique, not just the waterboard] will not bgfsubstantial because the techmques
generally lose their effectiveness after several treatmcnts AOm¢he quesnon/of safety,
DoJ had written, “You have informed us your on- srtepsychologmts who have extensive
experience with the use of the waterboard in Navy traininghhave not encountered any
significant long-term consequences ﬁ'om its-use.” Sepmatel?OMS heard from CTC that
most SERE programs had dropped the }avaterboard because it had’proven 1mposs1ble to
resist. OTS considered it the most cntrcal element in the program——a pomt OMS later
learned, explicitly made toDoJ S

Subsequent, othe AZi mterrogatxons, ®MS learned from medical personnel
present at the time thost of Bis waterboard applrcatlons were very brief, though
sometimes qurckly repeate: the-gu was that'there had been about 30-40 significant
apphcatlons IG eview(ohal IMAMS counting applications as brief as two
seconds»féund a totath‘?&Sl exposures, albeit with only three as long as the 20-second
SERE mmunum % Duiring the;g?Bphﬁatrons a significant amount of water entered
AZ’s mouth,and oropharynx Ieadmg him to swallow as much as he could, and provoking
an occasional bout of vommng Dunng the second-to-last waterboard session (the
twentieth), AZ*g‘gpeared bneﬂy unresponsive, with his open mouth full of water. The
interrogator nghted him J%gd applied a xyphoid thrust, with AZ coughing out a copious
amount of liquid. Tl))I.’J@eprsode from application to cough, lasted only 8 seconds, and

™ Office of the Inspector General, “Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Activities (September
2001 - October 2003),” 7 May 2004, p. 36. On average there were 4 applications per session, with a range
of 1-11 and an average application lasting 9 seconds. Twenty-two applications were at least 10 seconds
long, but only 3 reached the SERE minimum threshold of 20 seconds. In his 2006 account of this
experience to the ICRC AZ stated that when the water was poured he could not breath for “a few minutes”

" until the bed was rotated into an upright position; and that he had five waterboard sessions of 1-2
applications, and one of 3 applications, He singled out the straps “on my wounds’ which attached him to
the waterboard as causing severe pain, but in fact the straps were carefully placed to avoid the wounds.

37

-tap _sECRET/[(P)(1) |/ NOEGRN-
r —(b)(3) NatSecAct— :

Approved for Release: 2018/08/14 C06541727



C06541727

(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

(b)(1) :
(b)(3) NatSecAct

(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

Approved for Release: 2018/08/14 C06541727
(b)(3¥) NatSecAct
FOP—SECRET/ | FROFORN/ /MR

- (b)(3) NatSecAct

there were no apparent aftereffects. A final session of two brief water applications two
days later was accomplished without further problems.

While the experience with AZ supplemented the sparse information available
from the Dol approval letter, it was not apparent to OMS that the AZ applications
departed appreciably from the SERE technique. There were questions about the typical
number of applications used in SERE, and whether AZ’s brief “spell” was unusual,
which seemed worth investigating. That winter OMS sought information directly from -
medical personnel in the Army and Navy SERE programs, ostqu}gx researching options
for an Agency-run training program. Although limited by what;eould‘be-discussed on the
phone and slowed by travel schedules, OMS eventually leam'eggl‘at Agency waterboard
technique differed substantially from that of the Navy prog'rvam (the,only one in which the

waterboard was still used).

' / N o’ X X

The waterboard experience was mandat‘g{y for all Navy SERE J{g and
monitoring staff, but fewer than half their trainées*were pution the board. M 5P%f those
who were received only a single application of 20-30. secofidsand no one ha%lmore than
two applications. Water was applied primarily to the""i?p‘?r lip where it saturated a cloth
being lowered over the nose and mouth; little if any water passed through the cloth into
the mouth. The goal wasn’t to “break’iwwgms, but rath%:t,q highlight a SERE
teaching point that things always could get worse; and to encotifage (rather than force)
reasonable countermeasures. As used within the program, the'waterboard had proven to
be very safe; complications.among their p?"'qgcré&med sfﬁd’en" ts were extremely rare, and
short-lived. G '

b : .
.This emerging'qmderstasxding coincidedWith the capture and initial interrogation
of terrorist Khalid Shaykh"Mul;?fam?q'c;d;,mas_tet}iﬁnd of the 9-11 attacks, operations chief

of al-Qa’i dfinquestionably the iumber three man in its hierarchy. He had been
captured; on March 1, 7 _|Ifanyone
knewg0f imminent al'Q% attacks,it-was “KSM.”
. o o ; .
.The RMO had been (D)(1)  Isince February, to provide
general medicalsupport to@%tainees the(b)(3) NatSecActnterrogation of high value
terrorist Asadull is intake exam of KSM revealed an obese 38-year-old, with no

significant medical problems, but who was demanding and narcissistic and refused both
food and liquids. Considering the rejection of fluids unsafe, the RMO administered a tap
water enema, following which KSM discontinued his fast. After several days of
unsuccessful interrogation (involving most measures other than confinement box and
waterboard), KSM was transferred| With the RMO
accompanying. ’ .

By this time OMS had begun to assemble a guide for medical personnel
supporting the interrogation program, which brought together and expanded on material
previously sent to the field. A working draft section on the waterboard reflected both the
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experience to date and what had been learned from the Navy. One goal of this section -

. was to insure that physicians monitoring the waterboard not be misled by previously

issued SERE-based reassurances—so differences between the SERE approach and that of
the Agency were spelled out in detail.

One or two applications safely given to thousands of trainees said something
about risk, but AZ was the only multiple-application case known to us. He may have had
a period of non-responsiveness, so a limit on the number of applications probably was in
order. The provisional thinking was that, absent any emerging cal problems, 2-3
sessions of 2-3 applications per day probably was medically saf durmg the first 2-4
days, but that special attention probably was necessary after, that- An upper limit of 20
applications in a week was considered, but as “it [was] haré irgggine an operational
argument for continuing [the waterboard] after that de 7gre of ‘faxl%’nm'eatments” it was
thought that such a high number “may well be moot. i %sﬁ..

" To assist with future reviews, RMOs momtormg the waterboard \:"ere {67 report all
waterboard sessions in detail. This was to include the length of “applications¥ Pvolume
applied, whether water entered the naso- or oropharxnx Awhether a seal was achieved, and
the interval between applications. Abgut March 11 th:s ‘in-process “OMS Guidelines
on Medical and Psychological Su rt\to Eet:‘g“ nterrogatlons was sent informally to
the RMO and PA on-site at W( - Joas "‘M"ﬁ{slated to travel there.

\ b)s3= NatSecAct
Meanwhile, KSMs-interrogation hag resumed notlong after his transfer to

d on March 10 hé was first subjécted to the “waterboard (5 applications). As
with AZ, the mterrogatlon was handled by psyghologist/interrogators Jessen and
Mitchell, and momtored‘la the ‘(5’1‘8 psycholog@t*who had worked with AZ. Two days
later, the waterboard again'was. .used,.but this time with an intensity far exceeding
anything in.the P&‘s‘}“ In five i'&‘asp‘ons $panning a 24-hour period, the waterboard was
applled over 80 times; almost h@l&ashng 20-40 seconds. OMS first learned of this from
the §M® .who was seem&{ e waterboard used for the first time. He had repeatedly re-
exafnined' KSM throughout this penod and was struck by how well KSM had withstood
the expenen%g; 7\

On rec‘;‘xpt?\gf\@e.s,e, reports  IMS went to [ BM to report that OMS thought that
extent of waterboard usage was both excessive and pointless. OMS also doubted that
repetitive applications’had a cumulative effect, as sleep deprivation unquestionably did,
and later followed up with a note to CTC/LGL saying that while we believed “the
unpleasantness/discomfort of the [waterboard] process indeed would persist [through
multiple applications], perhaps to the point of becoming intolerable;” any detainee

" Qur expectation remained that the waterboard would prove irresistible, were information actually being
withheld. Our draft text included the observation that “[i]t would appear that subjects cannot maintain
%sychologxcal resistance to this technique more than a few days, at most”

As precautions, the RMO had monitored KSM’s blood oxygen with a pulse oximeter, and required that
saline be alternated with water, to avoid water intoxication.

(b)(1)
mf——d (b)(3) NatSecAct— V“em‘m
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uncertainty about what was happening “certainly would diminish with ldentlcal
repetitions of the same process—the novelty and initial shock having worn off.””® In
essence, once a detainee was aware that he could withstand the waterboard, it was just a
matter of whether he wanted to continue to put up with the traumatic experience.

After the]  MS visit, RDG sent a cable suggesting that KSM’s interrogation
rely less exclusively on the waterboard. Standing sleep deprivation was begun, and
intermittent water dousing. Two days later KSM again was subjected to the waterboard,
though at a far reduced level. Over the following week he had a total of nine waterboard
sessions, involving about 90 discrete applications, nearly half lastmg 20-40 seconds. By
the time the waterboard was finally discontinued, on March/24th KSM had experienced
over 180 applications, about 40% of which were at least ZO'Seconds long. This was twice
the number of exposures expenenced by AZ, and the D hcat:onﬁad«averaged twice as
long (18 seconds vice 9).” Vi

KSM had early developed reasonably,€ feltive cox?‘menneasures, %f!’ th‘iﬁg from
the side of his mouth, holding his breath, and swallowing \ﬁ‘i‘minous quantities of water.
The interrogators dealt with this by dramatically i mcreasmg the water volume, timing
applications to coincide with explratxon generating startleskeflexes by splashing cold
water on his chest and abdomen, holdij & wups and ultlﬁg@ eyen creating a small
reservoir of water directly over his mouth Remarkably KSM showed no signs of a
physical impact during any point in this ordeal As with AZ, hie developed a few
abrasions on his lower legslstrugglmg agamst,the resémng belts, but this problem was
remedied through adjustment of the straps amf treatment of the abrasions.

When the ﬁnavl‘&ersmn of the OMS Guxdelmes was distributed on Apnl 1% it
detailed appropnate medlcalapgecauuons,, and, retained an explicit juxtaposition of the
SERE waterboard"techmque and expenence with that of the Agency. While no specific
limits wer€ set on apphcatlons T.5ession, it was observed that as many as 25 -
apphcatlons probably would be saf dunng the first week, but thereafter only sporadic
waterboax‘?d use would be acceptable

By thx‘g?lme OMS ﬁs convinced that the Agency had been poorly served by
shallow research c‘)‘x'i\the waterboard and its purported irresistibility. Additionally, OMS
(and the Inspector General) heard that rather than having “extensive” experience, neither
of the two psychologxsts/mterrogators previously had used the waterboard; and that only
one had even seen it in use. This was consistent with their having worked in the Air

EMS tDCTC/LGL, 28 March 2003, responding to a cable critique of the proposed OMS
Guidelines on the waterboard, which the RMO had shared with nnel. The interrogators
asserted that the waterboard had been selected specifically because it did not lose effectiveness with
repetitions, and that they knew of no evidence that effectiveness was loss.

%" In late 2006 KSM reported to the ICRC that water had been poured onto a cloth by one of the guards
450 that I could not breathe” and that *“[t]his obviously could only be done for one or two minutes at a
time.” He remembered the process being repeated for about an hour.
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Force SERE program, which had not used the waterboard for years, and seemed to
explain the wide disparity between their methodology (number of repetitions, length of
applications, volume of water,*® and technique) and that described to us by the Navy. In
essence, the experience with AZ and KSM had been little more than an amateurish

experiment, with no reason at the outset to believe it would either be safe or effective.®'

\ r

" Some within the RDG leadership agreed with OMS on this point, and with the
view that the value of the waterboard was vastly overstated; others thought the
waterboard was key to the success of the two most important intertggations in a
dramatically successful program. In fact, after his period of %f’" interrogation, AZ
was a remarkable intelligence resource. As “the professor,”. h‘é‘fsprovided a veritable
encyclopedia of useful material. Later he attributed his ¢goperation to various factors,
including an interrogation of such severity that it allowed*him to’ratinalize cooperation
to Allah. (He also once said he cooperated because of the. medical caf€ given “to an
enemy”—Ilike his mother would have done. Hebelieved the medical staﬁt?at least twice
had saved his life, though noted this had denied’him martyrdom.) T

© ' LN “
In practice, however, AZ’s cooperation did notﬁ&f}lirelate that well with his

waterboard sessions. Only when questioning changed to subjects on which he had

s

information (toward the end of waterb‘c\)‘@gms'age) was he forthcoming, A
psychologist/interrogator later said that watetboard use had eStablished that AZ had no
further information on imminent threats—a creative but.circular justification. In
retrospect OMS thought AZ probably rea:sl@&ﬁé point~p’ff;céoperation even prior to the
August institution of “enhancedia measures—<a development missed because of the
narrow focus of qqgs;iéning. In any event, there was no evidence that the waterboard
produced time-perishabie information which otherwise would have been unobtainable.®
4 4

v,

KSM had proven midch-more resilient than his soft appearance suggested, even
during the period of most intense waterboard use. He figured out early that, however
unpleasant the waterb%’experi‘éhc‘e,qi’t wasn’t going to get any worse, and he knew he

8 An averaé'egf;ﬁve gallons péri?qssion was used on KSM, some being splashed on his chest and
abdomen. This wag about five times the volume allowed in a SERE session (which also included splash,
but was delivered iva single application).
81 This OMS view was well knS%n through it’s inclusion in the final May 2004 Inspector General Report:
“According fo the Chief¥Medical ‘Services, OMS was neither consulted nor involved in the initial analysis
of the risk and benefits of EITs, nor provided with'the OTS report cited in the OLC opinion. In retrospect,
based on the OLC extracts of the OTS report, OMS contends that the reported sophistication of the
preliminary EIT review was exaggerated, at least as it related to the waterboard, and that the power of this
EIT was appreciably overstated in the report. Furthermore, OMS contends that the expertise of the SERE
psychologist/interrogators on the waterboard was probably misrepresented at the time, as the SERE
waterboard experience is so different from the subsequent Agency usage as to make it almost irrelevant.
Consequently, according to OMS, there was no a priori reason to believe that applying the waterboard with
the frequency or intensity with which it was used by the psychologist/interrogators was either efficacious or
medially safe.” OMS also thought it inappropriate that the only interrogators authorized to use the
waterboard were judging its effectiveness. . : :
82 By the time AZ’s exposure to the waterboard ended, he had been in detention almost five months.
' 41
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could handle that. (AZ also seemed to be aware that he wasn’t going to be allowed to
injure himself on the waterboard, but was more emotional about the experience.)
Ultimately it was 6% days of standing sleep deprivation (extending a day past the final
use of the waterboard) that led KSM to lose his composure and begin to cooperate.
Thereafter, he too became a font of useful intelligence. The extensive waterboard use
conceivably contributed to this, but it did not seem so to the medical personnel. If -
anything, the RMO thought KSM more steeled and recalcitrant just before and after the
treatments, which also provided periodic relief from his standing sleep deprivation.

1

|

An Agency Inspector General study of the detention andfinterrogation program
£7 .

ded in 2004 closely
mirrored the OMS perspective. Agency waterboard use gwent be: ond the projected use
of the technique as originally described to DoJ.”* In.all three %[t]he waterboard’s
use was accelerated after the limited application op/o't"h"gr\EI S.. becaﬁ\the waterboard
was considered by some in Agency management to be the ‘silver bullet wvmlnned with
the belief that each of the three detainees possesssg,penshable informationa out
imminent threats against the United States.” The IG notedftﬁat\AZ did prowde more
intelligence after being subjected to the waterboard, but said it was unclear whether
another factor was at play. “In KhalidyShaykh Muhammad’s case, the waterboard was
determined to be of limited effectlvend%%%)’eéould concliide, that sleep deprivation was
effective in this case, but a definitive corgl QRS hard to reach consxdenng the lengthy
sleep deprivation followed extensive use oI:;the Wi terb ard ”f‘

Several of the OMS concems were addressed by’RDG in the months following
the KSM mterrogagon Dol, s‘gm?or White H&:se officials, selected NSC principals, and
the leadershlp of the nggressmnal Oversight G Gonimittees were all briefed on the
Agency S “expanded” use, ofEEjl lc‘sﬂ ificluding tt th? waterboard and DoJ advised that from
their perspectly&t\hege deviatiens were ot s:gmﬁcant

\.~ s

In mid-May 20("4“’_]0& overil3-months after the waterboard was used on KSl\;i

The context%"vas the pubhcataon just a few weeks earlier of photos of Iraqi prisoners
being abused a; Abu Ghraib prison. The Times article, based on information from

' _sources with 1mperfect knOwledge (who agam alleged the w1thhold1ng of pain

¥ Office of the Inspector General, “Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Activities (September
2001 - October 2003),” 7 May 2004, p. 5.
8 Office of the Inspector General, “Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Activities (September
2001 — October 2003),” 7 May 2004, p. 90-91. One of the SERE psychologists also had explamed that the
“Agency’s technique is different because it is ‘for real’ and is more poignant and convincing.” (Office of
the Inspector General, “Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Activities (September 2001 -
October 2003),” 7 May 2004, p. 357.
Office of the Inspector General, “‘Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Activities (September
2001 — October 2003),” 7 May 2004, p. 23-24.
® “Harsh C.L.A. Methods Cited in Top Qaeda Interrogations,” New York Times, 13 May 2004.
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medication), also correctly reported that Agency interrogation techniques were drawn
from a military training program (unnamed), had been endorsed by the Justice
Department, and used “graduated levels of force, including a technique known as ‘water
boarding.”” Less accurately, waterboarding was said to involve a prisoner being
“strapped down, forcibly pushed under water and made to believe he might drown.”

This article, and a June 2004 Washington Post article on DoJ’s narrow 2002
definition of torture,®’ ushered in an avalanche of press and editorial attention to
interrogation techniques, which increasingly were labeled as “torture ” The waterboard
quickly became the symbol of Agency torture. Within the Agency, the waterboard was
recognized as being in a category by itself—being the sole EIT. de51gnated “Level 2"—
but, armed with the Dol interpretation, both the Agency 3 anﬁ White,House continued to
deny that Agency detainees had been tortured. Fa &\th unrelentmg criticism, the
White House and DoJ soon announced that the Au ﬁxst 2002 guxdance;\fias being
redrafted. Pending th1s the press reported, the C had put its harsh tactl%s on hold 88

In practice no one had been subjected to the Waterboard since KSM, f'/d no new
HVD taken into custody since the spring 2004 medlareports It wasn’t so much that
“harsh” tactics were on hold, as that there were no new candldates for enhanced

interrogation. This changed at the end\of Tuly when Janat!Gul ‘

was transferred;f6”A gency custody. An al-

Qa’ida facilitator, Gul was believed knowledgeableiabout plots timed to coincide with the
November 2004 Presidential Elections; hevl\mm%vdlately -wias approved for a range of
enhanced measures, thoug'mot e,waterboa:d Some sénior managers still believed the
waterboard might nonetheless be’ useful ) the\Agency asked Justice to re-evaluate its
use in this specific case;.

s

On Aygiisis,2004 '0' ) -repln&i that they considered it “a close and difficult
questlon,” but conclucie’(j&hat subjecting Gul to the waterboard “outside territory subject
to Uniféd States jurisdiction w:;ﬁ%__tﬁnolate any United States statute..., nor would it
wolgt:e“ﬂR{e United States Constitution or any treaty obligation of the Umted States.” This
judgment was‘condltnonal o physician and psychologist pre-evaluation and continued
monitoring, ando=on the basis of new RDG guidance—waterboard use being limited to
no more than tw\% hr waterboard sessions per day, with the total time of actual

87 “Memo Offered Justiﬁcation for Use of Torture,” Washington Post, 8 June 2004. DoJ guidance had been
alluded to, without specifics, as early as an 11 May 2004 Washington Post article, Secret World of U.S.
Interrogalions,” and subsequently discussed in the New York Times, Newsweek and The Wall Street
Journal. (b)(1)

L (b)(3) NatSecAct

“Document on Prison Tactics Disavowed,” Associated Press, 23 June_2004 “Justice Dept. Rewrites
Prison Advice,  Associated Press, 24 June 2004; “CIA Puts Harsh Tactics on Hold,” Washington Post, 27

June 2004.
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applications durmg the day not exceeding 20 minutes. There were to be no more than 15
days of use, dunng a maximized authorized period of 30 days.

'On seeing the DoJ memo, OMS advised RDG that the new limits still posed
potential medical risks. Accordingly] MSand RDG jointly revised the allowable
exposures downward, further reducing the number of days during which the waterboard '
could be used by two-thirds, and the time allowable for applications per 24-hours from 20
minutes to 12.3° DoJ was advised of these reductions, and incorporated them into a later
approval. As previously, the primary OMS area of responsibility as safety and not
value or effectiveness. Neither OMS nor many in RDG belieyed eveirthis reduced level

- was operationally necessary. In extraordinarily resistant casés® S believed that at

most a single “warning” session of 2-3 applications—pethaps repeated once, at week

later—might be tried if critical, urgent information waS{nVleed bitteven then other

measures would be preferable e N

Janat Gul proved less important than hoped\ $O mterrqgators never uested to
use the waterboard. Had they done so, the on-site physxclan“hkely would ha\/e barred its
use. At about age 40, Gul weighed 280 pounds (at a hexght of 6 feet) and was sufficiently
thick-necked and out-of-shape that ariy, resultmg medical emergency could not easily
have been treated.”

The May 2004 Inspector General orttm%étmg the unccrtamty about the
effectiveness and neccss:ty of mdmdual nnally 1’&'5mmended that the DDO,
together with OMS, DS&T and\OGC “conduct a review of the effectiveness of each of
the authorized EITs and make a ‘determination ‘regarding the necessity for the continued
use of each, mcludmg‘the required scope and duration of each technique. "1 Outside
representation was to be included;on the r?vxe eam.

/@ 3

An indirect respense to t}us recommendatxon came in an in-depth DO review of
the CIA getamee Program completed;m June 2004, which was to have included an
assessmient of “the effectlv qess ofeach interrogation technique and environmental
depnvanon @At that time OMS advised that it did not have sufficient outcome data to
make this asses%gnt and that were the data provided there needed to be some written

'

8 No more than 6 applications of ten seconds or more were to be allowed in a session, and no more than
12 total minutes of application; no more than two sessions were allowed in a 24-hour period; and no more
than five days of waterboard use in the 30-day period during which the waterboard was authorized.

% No one in the SERE program was known to have experienced a laryngospasm, but this always was
OMS’ most serious concern. If needed, emergency intubation or a tracheostomy would have been very
difficult in this case.

! Office of the Inspector General, “Counterterrorism Detention and Interrogation Activities (September
2001 — October 2003),” 7 May 2004, p. 8
44
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assurance that a “study” of this sort would not wolate Federal law against experimenting
. on prisoners.

When the Inspector General continued to press for a study, RDG proposed in
early 2005 that an internal review be undertaken by a small team composed of a senior
(b)) person from the Counter Intelligence Center, the recently retired| Medical Services, and

possibly a psychiatrist. At the time there had been only twenty-nine enhanced
' interrogation cases, so the analysis—now considered “quality control” rather than human
subjects research—would be rather limited. Nonetheless, insightsgwere considered likely
to emerge. “EITs consistently associated with success likely will’be évident; those of
questionable success also may be evident (e.g., in cases wher‘d&second EIT of more
consistent success always has been concurrently present); - ~At thelleast, the record will
allow a more data-based assessment of the original assump ions cxtgapolated from the
military training programs, and allow some determmatxon as to whethézithe expectations
regarding specific EITs in fact were realized. "3 The unstated goal was 10 objectively
evaluate whether the waterboard had made any posmve contribution to the ?ﬁ‘é’gfam

ol Y

+ In part to undermine the notion that individual. ;&terrogatxon techniques could be
studied, psycholog1st/mterrogators Jessen and Mltchell provided an instructive overview
of “interrogation and coercive physical préssures.” ™ Refusal to provide intelligence, they
wrote, “is not overcome through the use of this physical techmque to obtain that
effect...independent of the other forces at\x;gork Suchit nkmg led some people not
involved in the actual process of i mterrogan%n'to ‘believe thit the relative contribution of
individual mtcrrogatloafgﬁmques can be teased out and quantified....” [emphasis in
ongmal] Their woxk{as mterro%tors was said, to be far more comphcated

..the choice of whnch‘physnca] techmgues, if any, to use is driven by an
mdxvndually tmloré mterrom;m and by a real-time assessment of
th%’&etalﬁ‘e s\‘s‘&engths weaknesses and reactions to what is happening.
“Th this process,\a mgle physical interrogation technique is almost never

‘cmployed in 1solaﬁon from%cr techniques and influence strategies,
many of which are nOt coercwe Rather, multiple techniques are
dehberately orchestrated and sequenced as a means for inducing an
unwnllmg detamee/tB actively seek a solution to his current predicament,
and thus wk'i:kﬂthh the mterrogator who has been responding in a firm, but
fair and prednctable way.”’

)

)(1

)(3) CIAACt - ,

)(3) NatSecAct %2 Memorandum for Deputy Director of Operations, “Review of CIA Detainee Program in Response to DCI
)6

uery,” 30 June 2004,
) % “Study Proposal” attached to Lotus Note, toL 24 Febraury 2005.
% James E. Mitchell, Ph.D. and John B. Jessen, Ph.D., “Interrogation and Coercive Physical Pressures: A
Quick Overview,” February 2005. This apparently is a derivative of a paper prepared(at the time of the

b
b
b
b

o~ o~~~

(b)(1) June 2004 DO review, “Using Coercive Pressure in Interrogation of High Value Targets.”

(b)(3) CIAACt 9 They continue: “As in all cases of exploitation, the interrogator seeks to induce an exploitable menta}
(b)(3) N atSecAct state and then take advantage of the opening to further manipulate the detainee. In many cases, coercive
(b)(6) 45
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Missing from this perspective was any question about just how many elements -
were necessary for a successful “orchestration.” The assumption was that a gifted
interrogator would know best; and the implicit message was that this art form could not
be objectively analyzed. Indeed, by this time their methodology was more nuanced, in
stark contrast to the rapid escalation and indiscriminate repetitions of early interrogations.
Still, there remained a need to look more objectively for the least intrusive way to gain
cooperation.

Ultimately the Inspector General departed from the ongm’ﬁ'ecommendatlon in
favor of an entirely “outside” review, by a “blue ribbon™ pane'l' of individuals of some
political prominence. In the wake of Abu Ghraib, and in the context of intense media
attention, suitable and willing candidates were not easxly obtamed"Eventually John
Hamre, Deputy Defense Secretary in the Clinton gdxmmstratxon, and Gardner Peckham,
an advisor to then House Speaker Newt Gingrich;*agreed to undertake a* pnmanly
interview-based review. Without the requisite backgroundifor the prev1ously§planned
technical analysis, their task became a relatively brgad,revié® of overall program
effectiveness. TR

In separate final reports, Peckh’&"x?‘and Hamre both endo y the RDG program,
but differed on the question of interrogation techniques. Peckham noted that the
Inspector General’s principal concern wasithe watergoard, for‘which it thought there
were equally viable alternatives; that RDG'did niot consider the waterboard effective, and
“contended that use of the wat “board on lesser AQ [al-Qa’ida] operatives [than AZ and
KSM] would not necessarily p%&uce more or better intelligence;” and that “OMS is
candid in its discoinfort: with this technique.” Hethen concluded:

“It is,possiblethat other, technﬁ:i@esI Bould be as effective as the
waterboard, but that has not been demonstrated. Until it is, I believe that

_ the waterboard shoﬁxﬂd continue to be available in the EIT arsenal.” *
- R ﬁr’

Hé’r%e was less definitive. Noting that there was no objective yardstick by which
to judge EIT ?ectiveness,;he concluded that “the data does suggest that EITs, when

incorporated into a.comprehensive program based on sound underlying intelligence and
analysis, did provide useful intelligence products.” However, “there is no objective

g

interrogation techniques are used initially to induce a sense of despair, but then discontinued when the
detainee seeks to find a way out of his current predicament and becomes susceptible to other influence
techniques. Interrogators then offer the detainee hope, and subsequently exploit this hope for intelligence
purposes. In other words, physical techniques, if used, are most effective when employed to create an
exploitable state of mind, rather than force rote compliance”

% Gardner Peckham to DCI Porter Goss, “Assessment of EITs Effectiveness,” 2 September 2005.

/
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independent basis to assess when EITs other than condltnomng EITs [sleep deprivation,
dietary manipulation] are requn‘ed

The August 2004 Dol opinion on using the waterboard on Janat Gul coincided
with a much more extensive review of the legality of nearly all interrogation techniques
requested by the Agency in the wake of Abu Graib and associated Presidential

_ statements. As part of this review, Justice attomeys held extensive sessions with OMS,

(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

and requested and were provided with written OMS critiques prepared for the May 2004
Inspector General report. This DoJ review (discussed below) spanned almost a full year,
and culminated in May 2005 memoranda that in essence reafﬁrr‘xgd‘fhexr 2002 ruling
(including the legality of the waterboard). Unlike 2002, this 1emorandum relied heavily
and explicitly on OMS input, and underscored as never beforew findispensable OMS role
in legmmlzmg the program. aﬂ\% _

: ,;‘ Y
Within weeks of receipt of the May 2005 DOJ opinion, another pQ sslble candidate
for the waterboard presented. This was Abu Faraj al-Libi ap fafed by the

Pakistanis and transferred to the Agency in May 2005, _Initially believed one’of the most
senior al-Qa’ida leaders, Faraj twice was subjected to pcnods of enhanced interrogation
measures, with seemingly limited success. When the possxblhty of waterboard use then
was raised, OMS advised RDG that 1t'€v’6ﬁlqz,&arncxpate only(,‘lf there was real evidence

that he had critical, time perishable mformaﬁon This quicklyled to a rumor that Medical

was withdrawing support from the program, wh1c}1 on.fe: Teached senior Agency
management.| [MS (since Qctober 2004, ' B)~was requcsfed to explain the OMS
position to the Agency«sfblrector of Support. (DS) DS asked whether it would be
sufficient if OGC anﬂ DO assured OMS that w gter’ooard use was warranted; the answer’
was no: OMS would have to hegg the evidence'diréctly.”® A definitive impasse was never
reached, howevcr bccause semor’Agency anagement decided that in this case the

passg ofithe Detainee | eatment ct of 2005, “Military Commissions Act” of 2006,
and applicamf CommoRArticle 3 of the Geneva Conventions, the Agency again

& serious” pain and suffering (vice “severe,” prevxously) While
the case may be arguablc, the watcrboard may not have survived that test.”®

%7 John Hamre to DCI Porter Goss, “Response to request from Director for Assessment of EIT

effectiveness,” 25 September 2005

% OMS did not think the case was there. Abu Faraj was belicved once to have known the whereabouts of

Osama bin Ladin and al-Zawahiri. Given his publicly announced capture many weeks before, any

mformauon he held no longer seemed perishable.

A different type of waterboard discussion may continue. The three HVDs subjected to the waterboard

were interviewed by the ICRC after their transfer to Guantanamo. Their stories were highlighted in the

. 47
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The waterboard, despite its role as a symbol of Agency torture, did not prove as
psychologically overwhelming as received SERE wisdom indicated, and it certainly was
not irresistible—even in the face of a more aggressive, invasive, and potentially
dangerous Agency methodology than used in SERE. It also was not intrinsically painful.
There must have been physical discomfort from the occasional associated retching, but
both AZ and KSM complained to the ICRC only of the pain of the restraining straps.
Even the retching would have been eliminated had true SERE technique been employed.
In short, the waterboard was primarily a psychological measure. That said, had the true
limits of SERE use been known to OMS at the outset, its application'would have been
limited fo a few (ineffective) applications, leaving some to beheve that more applications
would achieve the goal. Even very limited used may not have avoxded the devastating
pubhc penalty ultlmately paid by the Agency for its use. 2y,

&M\ &

As previously noted, an unrealistic exp%tlon that waterboard applications
would eventually “succeed” informed the DoJ‘guidance, and underpinned itg¥extensive
use with AZ and KSM. Though not a medical question, per'se; OMS came,to believe that
the waterboard’s impact as an interrogation tool was"jl’lét‘ft_he opposite. The waterboard
experience was miserable but the effect not necessarily cumulative (as was sleep
deprivation). Once the shock of the initial applications had pass KSM knew what was
coming and developed coping strategies; aftefdsd-many appllcaﬁens he also had no
reason to believe anything worse was likély to follow. In essence less coercive measures
were likely to produce perishable information at least aquulckly To OMS this
undermined the legal Justlﬁcatlon for repetltlve use..

Dol also detefr:gned thaiwﬁ\e waterboard iwas legal because it was not intended to
threaten death (i.e., as in a mock execy n) Wlthm OMS, this interpretation eventually
was controyersial. The fact that thous of SERE trainees had safely undergone the
waterboard would‘ngi be knows to detainees, who in addition were in a hostile
environment vice training. Settmg aside interrogator intent, a Jengthy initial application
could hav@appeared to thréaten defffi. In theory, a detainee would have been
desensitized before this happened through applications lasting just a few seconds, which
was Agency practice. Eventhally, the detainee would realize that he could handle the
longer applications = Additionally, most detainees quickly discerned—because of the
ongoing medical ?t'é’ntlon—-that there was no intent to seriously harm them. Asa
practical matter, all this is moot since by the time questions arose the waterboard was no
longer in use. In the unlikely event that the waterboard is again considered a viable
option, the question warrants further thought.

7

ICRC report to the Agency, which DCIA Hayden then discussed with Congressional Oversight
Committees. At the time of this writing [June 2007] the Committees had ask for detailed analyses of the
intelligence obtained before and after enhanced measures were employed, i.e., the question originally asked
both by OMS and the Inspector General in 2003 and 2004
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HVDs,'"® EITs, and OMS Guidelines

When the OMS Guidelines in preparation at the time of KSM’s interrogation were
completed, CTC/LGL requested they not be released: new DCI approval would be
required, and he had just issued his own guidelines. OMS countered that its guidance
was consistent with that of the DCI and provided a concise source of information needed
by OMS field personnel. CTC/LGL relented, so long as “draft” was added to the title.
The first week in April, 2003, the 9-page “Draft OMS Guidelines on Medical and
Psychological Support to Detainee Interrogations” first went to thﬁgﬁ\ﬂd

This first 1ssued OMS Guidelines began with a sho‘rfést\atement of the SERE
origins, DoJ sanction, and the psychological underpinnings'of the~program then
enumerated currently used interrogation techniques (“sta}ldard” and%enhanced")
Reference points and limits were provided for ambi¢ht'temperatures, ndise levels, sleep

s deprivation, standing in shackles, and the use of| th%%onﬁnement box. ﬁ%}‘rly a third of
‘the text was devoted to the waterboard, beginninggwith a descnptlon Wthh%llCltly
underscored the difference between Agency and S%E usage~~An estimate was given of
apparently safe levels of exposure—based on the limited:€xperience to date—and a
requirement levied for extensive medical documentatu;%' o) any future waterboard use.
Medical contraindications also were hsted mcludmg senousdaeart or lung disease,
obstructive airway disease, and respxratory com‘gro ise from 1atbid obesity. Though
laryngospasm had not been encountered ifithe SE Exp rogram’(')MS believed it to be the
most serious theoretical risk, so conunued\vaterboaxﬂ use Was barred if previous
applications were associatedéwith any hint ofumpendmg respnratory compromise, such as
hoarseness, cough, wheezing, stridor, or difficulty clearing the airway. Finally, a
working draft assértion; pnor to;KSM, that “it would appear that subjects cannot
maintain...resistance.. TR erw days” was replaced with the new observation that
“SERE tramelsjgre said to belieye that sub_]ects are unable to maintain psychological
resistance to this techmque formpre than a few days, but our experience suggests
othermse g R 1

Th'“ff{SM interrogations w{rc only the beginning of what proved to be the busiest
and most productlvc elghteen-months in the history of the RDG program. In a period
(b)(1) marked by the US:led invasion of Iraq (March 2003) and major terrorist bombings in
(b)(3) NatSecAct [ndonesia (August 2003),“’" lerrorists came into Agency hands, mcludmé_—:]of
. - sufficient 1mponance‘to warrant extended interrogation. The experience monitoring
(b)(1) these intetrogations proved instructive and other sources of information were also
(b)(3) NatSecAct explored. Detailed Ft. Bragg SERE protocols were obtained, additional conversations
were held with both Army and Navy SERE psychologists, and OMS physicians and
psychologists observed courses at both Ft. Bragg and San Diego. In San Diego, DC/MS
even underwent the waterboard.

1% Over time High Value ;l'argets GlVTs) came to be known as High Value Detainees (HVDs)
19! £ g., the Jakarta Marriott, killing 10 and wounding 150.
49
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: Ten new RDG detainees were interr:)gated between April and August 2003 with
eight subjected to enhanced measures. The EIT mainstay, post-KSM, was standing sleep
deprivation (lasting from one to four days), punctuated by sessions which routinely
included attention slaps, walling and water dousing.loz This-approach generally achieved
cooperation within a week. A few detainees were confined briefly in large and small
boxes but, as with AZ and Nashiri, this added little if anything to the process and after

. September confinement boxes no longer were used. a

In addition to cooperation, standing sleep deprivation p@dﬁ%"éd the first medical‘
complications seen in the RDG program. Several days of s“tg‘ﬁimg led to a slowly

ascending edema of the lower legs, requiring that ankle s'h;.’iékles be loosened. In a few
cases, the edema approached the level of the knee, in which case r'h*%jcal personnel
required the detainee be seated, with the legs elevated, allowing alleviation of the edema
while sleep deprivation continued. Occasionally;:in addition to the edem&¥a detainee
developed lower limb tenderness and eryﬂxema?i’ﬁhdings initially not easily »
distinguishable from cellulitis or venous thrombosis. This typically was asseciated with
pre-existing abrasions from shackling at the time of initial rendition. At first these cases
were treated with antibiotics or anticoagulants, but upon’ ¢ing seated detainee recovery

was so fast that a thrombotic or infectious phenommenon was ruled d gut, and medications
g',:.

could be discontinued. % | %‘W ;

There was an early concern that stz\fndmg detaineesywould fall asleep and shift
excessive weight onto their arifs,but this did{fjot become’an issue even after several days
of standing. Over\,y}'ifélming]y‘the detainees simply continued to stand and periodically
move atound a little. Those whormodded always_"gtartled themselves back awake. This
resilience actually depri\?‘é'd'thé%f an effective counter-measure, because had they .
simply allowed thémselves to “collapse”i¥éit weight onto their arms, the standing would
have beef disoonn‘?faéd.‘f’l - :

o
™

1¥its early y though uﬁknown to OMS in 2003—the Agency regarded
forced interro"gationa] standifig as dangerous. A widely-disseminated 1956 study asserted

that the resulting ﬁgcma so88 led to circulatory and renal failure, and psychosis. '*

- .
102 Water dousing (often ing), though newly prominent among the interrogation techniques, had been
addressed in the first is " 'OMS Guidelines. Most often water was simply splashed or hosed onto the
detainee, but in the most extreme version the detainee was made to lie down on a plastic sheet, with water
poured over him for 10-15 minutes. A psychologist and PA had to be present, and the room temperature at
least 70°. Consistent with SERE practice, doused detainees had to be dry before being placed in spaces
with ambient temperatures less than 78°. See also Office of the Inspector General, “Counterterrorism
Detention and Interrogation Activities (September 2001 - October 2003),” 7 May 2004, p. 76
' This suggestion is found in Agency commentary on detention as early as the 1950s.

“Many men can withstand the pain of long standing, but sooner or later all men succumb to the
circulatory failure it produces. After 18 to 24 hours of continuous standing, there is an accumulation of
fluid in the tissues of the legs. This dependent ‘edema’ is produced by fluid from the blood vessels. The
ankles and feet of the prisoner swell to twice their normal circumference. The edema may rise up the legs

50
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Detainees in the RDG program provided no evidence for this belief. Their
generally benign record probably is attributable to there being enough slack in the
shackling to allow a little movement and the periodic breaks occasioned by sessions
using other interrogation measures. In all cases, once allowed to sit (and sleep), their
recovery was rapid and complete.'®®

Whether standing added anything to simple sleep deprivation was a point of some
discussion. Simple sleep deprivation had not been effective durmg AZ’s first
interrogation, and later detainees at least initially all began in a standmg position. The
fatigue of standing presumably heightened the effect of the sleep deprxvat:on but to what
degree remains unknown. . .,;/ Ny el

\\ ; '._

OMS guidelines also increasingly addressed’e'i%mee health in the post
interrogation phase. As the number of post-mterrogatlon detamees grewRwith no
apparent prospect of transfer elsewhere, OMS)}{ad‘tumed toathe Federal prison§System for
insight into long-term prison care. In June 2003 the (b)(6) ureau of
Prisons was invited to Headquarters to discuss probléms of long-term confinement, and
in mid-July. MS,[  MS, and{:MHD (accompanied b%\,wo senior RDG officers) -
visited the Administrative Maximum mX) “supermax" facility ip Florence, Colorado,
which then held the twenty-two terrorists 1mpn§_o,r.1)’ed in the Fegal system. The ADX
staff provided a comprehenswe tour and bneﬁng that' gave a good feel for the
circumstances of detentiopthe medical care provnded," Ftheir experience with terrorist
prisoners.'% OMS learh: %rotocols 7 dealmg wx’fh hunger strikes, medical

2

as high as the middle of the tlni t"ghs The skm becomes tensc and intensely painful. Large blisters develop

which break and exude watery Te-ac WOn A of the body fluid in the legs produces an
impairment oﬁthe circulation. The h rate mcreases and fainting may occur. Eventually there is a renal
shutdown, and urine production ceases¥The prisoner becomes thirsty, and may drink a good deal of water,
whnch is not excreted, but adds to the edeina of the legs. Men have been known to remain standing for

oﬁ as long as several days*@lnmatei sthey usually develop a delirious state, characterized by
dxsonentatxon, fear, delusions, and visual*hallucinations. The psychosis is produced by a combination of
circulatory 1mpau'ment, lack of slecp, and uremia.” “Communist Control Techniques,” 2 April 1956. This
was an OTS-sponsored QKHILIFI‘OP study. This text appears almost verbatim in a published version of
this article, LawrenceE?: Hmkle,\Jr MD and Harold G. Wolff, MD “Communist Interrogation and
Indoctrination of ‘Enemles of the States,” Analysis of Methods Used by the Communist State Policy (A
Special Report), ” A.M. AvAFchives of Neurology and Psychiatry 76 (1956), pp. 134-135. [The published
text read, “This dependent edema is produced by the extravasation of fluid from the blood vessels.”] The
latter is verbatim from an OTR/A&E Staff paper on “Brainwashing From a Psychological Viewpoint,”
February 1956; which began with a June 1955 study that discussed standing stress positions without the
medical analysis.
'% The 1956 study said that the KGB required prisoners to stand or otherwise hold fixed positions until it
“produces excruciating pain” which the authors considered “a form of physical torture, in spite of the fact
that the prisoners and KGB officers alike do not ordinarily perceive it as such.” As noted, HVDs subjected
to standing sleep deprivation were not in a fixed position, and did not report an associated pain.

All twenty-two of these terrorists were imprisoned for activities directly tied to bombings. Atan
average age of 41, there were somewhat older than our population, and on average had been in prison for

) (b)(1) SO
W(b)( ) NatSecAct Tf“e*e?
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complaints, and routine evaluations; and how they minimized the tisk that personal
effects such as spectacles and toothbrushes would be made into weapons.

Several revisions of the OMS Guidelines were prepared durmg the summer of
2003, culminating with a 12-page September 2003 issuance.'®” These guidelines gave
guidance on responding to the recently noted complications and required detailed
documentation of the circumstances of standing sleep deprivation. A new section was
added on “Post-Interrogation Detention,” which covered exam frequency, '® diet and
dietary supplements, height-for-weight, hunger strikes, hygiene, and examination
documentation and frequency. Previous guidance on intake examinations was codified
and expanded, e.g., to include laboratory studies such as CBC, Hepatitis B and C, HIV,
and a chemistry panel.

Five months later, in February 2004, an expanded version of '{‘OMS Guidelines on
Medical and Psychological Support to Detamee Rlendition, Interrogation;- and Detention”
(18 pages, plus a 4-page appendix)'® was issued. A Part Ilon “Psychologxcal and
Psychiatric Support to Detainee Interrogations” (pr ly. d1scussed) also was
disseminated. Among other things these Guidelines i nowsincluded guidance on disruptive
behavior dunng renditions (including the use—never requlred——of diazepam and
haloperidol), vision problems, dental carejand more on “hiifiger strikes and food refusal.”
A newly-added appendix succinctly outhed’tb“’*ibams for the'medical limitations on the
various mterroganon techniques. ’

'.- V’"

This issuance alﬁgﬂected a December 2003 change in CTC instructions, which
reduced the upper limit of “standa " sleep deprivation from 72 hours to 48, and
‘“enhanced” sleep deprivation from 264 hours (wnth an 8-hour sleep break at 180 hours) to
180 hours. This change was prompt ed by the ﬁrst instance of a sleep-deprived detainee
hallucinating¥ o In,October 55 year- maa Khan—one the oldest detainees ever
held—began to “see” dogs attackmg his family. Khan previously had been subjected to
penod‘!?)f 37 and 56 hous wnmoﬁt?ﬁleép without complications, but this hallucination
came aﬁeﬁonly about 21 h\&urs Since none of this sleep deprivation was at “enhanced”

Ll

just under six yeafs# In general théy were respectful toward the staff (though regularly tested the system),
but prior to transfer togElorence two-thirds had been involved in prison violence, nine had threatened prison
staff, and one was suspected of murder, About a third had made suicidal gesturcs; 12 had initiated hunger
strikes (5 were fed mvoluntanly by N-G tube). Extraordinarily modest, they for a long time refused
recreation because of the prercqulsnc body search, and showered wearing underpants. With the exception

- of one elderly man, they were in good physical shape, and-—-remarkably—durmg psycholog:cal interviews

(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

or mtmg showed no diagnosable pathology.
“Draft OMS Guidelines on Medical and Psychological Support to Detainee Interrogauons,” September

4 2003 [12 pp]

® This formally corrected a significant deficit in medical documentation, ‘iniu'ally had a no
local records policy. In practice this had been corrected in January 2003 through cable reporting.
'% Issued 27 February 2004.
19 The previous spring, a detainee claimed to have hallucinations, but careful psychological evaluation at
the time proved this to be feigned.
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levels, there was no on-site medical monitoring. When the hallucination was reported to-
Headquarters, further sleep deprivation was barred. Later the “standard” limit ' was
reduced. The change in the “enhanced” upper limit also reflected the program experience
that it had been unnecessary to keep anyone awake even as long as 180 hours. (Only -
three of some 25 detainees eventually subjected to sleep deprivation even were kept
awake over 96 hours.)

(b)(1)
(b)(3) CIAAct
(b)(3) NatSecAct

L o _ ]

Pro%dmg medxcal a% psychological coverage for both new mterrogatlons and
the growing number of wxde]y dispersed detainees posed an increasing challenge,

especially given di)separdte manpower demands in|  (15)(1) o
especiall B -

(b)(3) CIAAct
(b)(3) NatSecAct

b)(1)
‘ At closurJ Eb;§3; NatSecAct Lietainew had been held there, not all at the same time:

: (0)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct
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late 2003 most physician coverage was handled by a headquarters-based physician newly
assigned near-fulltime responsibility for program support. All psychological staff
support was provided directly from Headquarters, as was most of the extensive demand
to accompany rendition flights, including inter-facility movement. b)(1)
(b)(1) - - B (b)(3) NatSecAct

b
(b)(3) NatSecﬁl\cL -

~

J

. ~ However, within weeks the Supreme Court announced it woul(b)(1)
consider a case which could have mandated court access to all Guantanamo-held (b)(3) NatSecAct
. detainees.'” |

I - ]

| l

. (b)(1)

\

(b)(3) NatSecAct

I ]

The sprir'x‘g§2003 briefings to the White House, NSC and Hill on the Agency’s
expanded use of E'I"I""Sé‘ij‘ to reassurances about the legality of and continued support for
the program, which still was generating over half the reportable intelligence on al-Qa’ida.
However, the national context changed abruptly a year later when shocking photographs

U3 Rasul v. Bush, on 29 June 2004, reversed a District Court decision, and held that the U.S. court system"
had the right to decide whether foreign nationals at Guantdnamo were rightfully imprisoned. The case had
_been appealed to the Supreme Court the previous September, and the case heard on 20 April. i

L (b)(1)
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of prisoner abuse at Abu Ghraib prison in Iraq were published in April 2004."'® The
international outrage that followed prompted White House and Pentagon condemnations
of the abusive practices.and investigations of detainee treatment at both Abu Ghraib and
Guantinamo Bay. The Agency, while not directly involved, again sought DoJ re-
validation. :

The request to DoJ was more reflective of caution than a desire to limit the
successful RDG program, especially in view of continuing high profile terrorist attacks.
In March 2004 the Madrid bombings killed 191 and in May the figst of a series of nine
gruesome beheadings took place in Iraq. Each of the latter cases; ‘which extended until
October, followed the same gruesome pattern: a terrorist kjd}igﬁpmg, followed by
impossible demands, videoed pleas from the victim, and soon ﬂléreaﬂer a beheading, the

video of which was released to the media. V' \%g
b)(1) : About June 2004 senior al-Qa’ida oper%,xe Janat Gul was captured by !
(b)(3) NatSecAct |later transferred to thie RDG program, prompting Agency

requests for a new ruling on several EITs. In response to. specnﬁc questions¢DoJ
affirmed the legality of dietary manipulation, nudity, watér dousing, abdominal slap—all
not previously specifically addressedt=and the waterbohﬁ#ln each mstance, these were
~ held not to violate U.S. law, the Con m@n or any treat}5 obllgatlon As previously,
-use was explicitly preconditioned on medxcal and psychologxcal &ialuation and the
presence of on-site medical monitoring. It was thése.approvalS that led to the OMS-RDG
discussions that further limited the extent of lgtvabm%rboard use (previously
discussed). Gul’s inter’® !giaﬁon—hke others‘post- KSM—rehed heavily on sleep
deprivation, which for'the secon d)(and final) time in the program was associated with a
hallucination. On‘théiith day mthout sleep, Ghl began to hear voices. Medical
personnel mtervened and he was allowed to sleep, which ended the symptoms.
A‘f{the end of026)04 OMS fissued a new expanded version (27 pages + 7-page
app dm of its Guidelin Unexpectedly, this partlcular version of the Guidelines
_ be%danon of thejnext 1ssﬁve'd Dol opinions (in May 2005) on the legality of
enhanced interrogation techmques Among other changes, the December 2004 version
reflected a summer 2004 G decision to abandon the previous distinction between
“standard” and “ ced¥interrogation techniques; there now was a single listing of
approvable techniq cs¥¥Additionally, the Guidelines followed RDG in listing some
interrogation techniqueés separately as “conditions of confinement.” These included such
things as diapering/nudity, shaving, white noise, and continuous light or darkness.
Exposure to “‘cool environments”—previously listed, but never used—was dropped

(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

L
"7 Dol to John Rizzo, Acting General Counsel, 6 August 2004; Dol to John Rizzo, Acting General
Counsel, 26 August 2004.
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altogether. Other revisions mcorporated the new hmlts on waterboard use, expanded the
- discussions of sleep deprivation and recovery, and specified immunization protocols.

The new Guidelines.also reflected some insights gained when OMS psychologists
began attending conferences of the National Commission on Correctional Health Care
(NCCHC) in the summer of 2004. These included a section on “restraint and sedation of
violent detainees”—which fortunately never had any application within the RDG setting.
Finally, new references were provided, including the Federal Bureau of Prisons website
(which had clinical practice guidelines), the NCCHC’s regularly issued Standards for
Health Service in Prisons, and Michael Puisis, Clinical Pracn &in Correctional

Medicine (1998). 5
An issue of recurring concem was how to dealtwﬁ‘a detaine¢;medical
_emergency. (b)(1)
‘ (b(b)(3) NatSecAct
( (b)(3) NatSecAct
L
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!"8 “OMS Guidelines on Medical and Psychological Support to Detainee Renditions, Interrogation, and
Detention,” September 2005 [29 pp + 7 pp appendix]
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Problems of Detention

1) By 2007 a total of 97 detainees had been part of the RDG program. Prior to RDG
(b)(3) NatSecActassumingcontroly

~~

O
s
=

| ) - ¥ About
half the 97 RDG detainees came into Agency hands in 2003, and a fourth in 2004. In the
final two years prior to the transfer of remaining detainees to Guantanamo Bay in
September 2006, only 5-6 new detainees entered the program, with only two subjected to
1) enhanced measures. fu.
3) NatSecAct /
When possible, RDG arranged to transfer detainees no longer of intelligence
1 value to the U.S. military, or render them to another countr"f Despite new arrivals, this
3) NatSecAct effort reduced the total number of detainees in Agency.control fromL_ at end
0f2003,tojust. lin the spring of 2004, and }ustl—g Jat the begmnmg of 2005.

(b)(1) This figure remained relatively constant for the next year, unFl an accelerated effort
(b)(3) NatSecAct during 2006 reduced the number remaining for-»transfer to Guantanamo to 1427 /
%0 y

Vlewed differently, about 2/3 of detainees commg into Agency hands prior to
October 2004 had been transferred outﬁby circa the end O 2004; their detentions had
ranged from a month to almost two years Sprobably averagmg 'not much more than a year.
A large majority of the detainees not transferred out of Agency, ands by the end of 2004
continued to be held for almost two more: wears Then‘ overall“detention probably
averaged about three yea;s, and as true long-ten‘Anu detamees they presented a different set
of medical challenges Y- V{:\

OMS thought %h»e\detamee expenencé as'divided into three phases: rendition
and initial interrogation, sustamed debneﬁng, and long-term detention. With the first two
phases typicallyliasting only\awggw weeks-to 0.8 few months, by far the greatest amount of a
detaineejs‘time was'spent 51mply in detention.'?® With the sharp late-2004 decline in new
amvg]:sgthe medical s became almost exclusively attending to long-term
detainees,,

Agencyddetainees were, as a group, basically young and healthy. Given bi-
monthly or quartcgly, edifl check ups (more often if indicated), a healthful diet,
vitamins, vaccines, ageguate rest, and some opportunity to exercise, most eventually were
in better shape than when they came into Agency custody. Some were even willing to
comment that they looked fitter than they had in years.

(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

——w B

% RDG characterized things similarly: an interrogation/exploitation phase lasted 1-10 weeks, with the
most intense period rarely exceeding two weeks; a second, transition phase usually lasting two to three
months during which the detainees cooperation was validated; and a third, debriefing phase which lasteéd
from two to several months and in rare cases—such as AZ—for as long as three years.

(b)(1)
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(b)(3) NatSecAct A few detainees arrived with exi ing injuries, though none in as serious condition
as AZ. Ahmed Guleed | had sustained a GSW several months prior to
capture, and arrived at with a colostomy and frozen left elbow. Two detainees

(b)(1) al

(b)(3) NatSecAct arrived with malleolar fractures sustained jumping from a high w
Another detainee arrived with a broken finger. All required follow-up care and none

b\(1 were subjected to stressful interrogation either initially or later. The fracture group soon

(D)(1) was transferred elsewhere, but Guleed’s colostomy was successfully maintained for over

(b)(3) NatSecAct 1, years before circumstances allowed a revision to be arranged. In the interim, he

received professional guidance on physical therapy to restore motibn in his left elbow.
__.c' ARy

Medically, of the nearly 100 detainees evaluated, ri%lﬁ was HIV-posmve only
- three were hepatitis B and two hepatitis C antigen positiygk One arrived with a sexually-
transmitted disease—a chancroid—inflicted, he said, by agenii (d_]l Most complaints
while in detention were for relatively minor allments/ such as headag%ld musculo-
+ skeletal symptoms, rashes, gastrointestinal upsets; /6/r an ogcasional ph tis.
Eventually a few dental problems arose, treatedJZQﬁ an RDjSontract denhst‘gvho from

early 2004 periodically flew to detention sites to pr?a%ade b&th routine and fg€used care.
(b)(1) Onlv a single dental emergency arose, in 2006,
(b)(3) NatSecAct [ Basic vision checksyyere performed by.OMS personnel, and prison- -safe

' glasses obtained. AZ initially preferrowear a patch over@leﬂ eye socket, but

eventually requested an artlﬁcxal eye; thxs _o'tamed a near perfect match to his good
’ cye. ' /W Eon
(b)(1) ' s \.

(b)(3) NatSecAct Over time, non- emergency issues ardse whlch required capa’olhtles beyond that
available at the deterition sites. Guleed s colo§tormy needed to be reve Zeie 2o
(b ('1 ) { ]needed a bxopsy for an enlarging thyroid; al-Hasawi )

( b;(?;) NatSecAct had hemorrhoids and a rectal pi'olapse -three defhmees required endoscopy for GERD
ymptoms andffiver bxopsnes were indicated- for those with chronic hepatitis B or C.

, OMS once hoﬁthe Depattment of Defense could provide this specialized care.
(b)(1) When sé¥eral detainees weie transferred to Guantsnamo Bay in early 2004, a
(b)(3) NatSecAct test case presented. (b)(1) ' .
(b)(1)(b)(3) NatSecAct |
b)(1 ‘ (b)(3) NatSecAct

(b)(1)

(b)(3) NatSecAct [ - | As this concern was being addressed, the issue became moot. The

' pending Supreme Court decision that could have mandated access to all Guantdnamo

(b)(1) detainees led to the closure| B ]
3) NatSecAct

b)) (b)(1)

(b)(3) NatSecAct
! | |
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While pursumg ‘the DOD optlon RDG and OMS gl also evqluated over a dozen

about media exposure and internal Qolmcs had ruledfcﬁ‘all of thos mmallx considered.

B (b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

. ; w

Atter?dié"gio the psy)'Cimlogical well-being of detainees was at least as challenging
as dealing with themphysxcal needs. The impact of sustained isolation was the primary
problem and proved.r more psychologlcally challenging than had the interrogations. By
design, no contact wnth “other detainees was allowed in Agency detention facilities and

continuous white noise prevented them from hearing one another. Though physically
comparable to modern U.S. prisons (b)(1)_ the’
detainee cells nonetheless were small and windowless. (b) (3)_N‘atSec ACt‘ :

{

2! On the basis of blood tests, three of the detainees, including the subject with rectal prolapse once were

, i didates for liver biopsy. Of these, one declined to be biopsied, one was transferred
before a biopsy could be arranged, and further testing of the third eliminated the need.

(b)(1) ' s, 60
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Initially, of course, detainees had weeks and sometimes months of frequent, often
intense contact with Agency interrogators and debriefers. But as this phase ended,
detainees eventually were left without the intellectual stimulation such contact afforded.
Initial attempts to fill this void included “homework” (even when no intelligence
requirement existed), the provision of books and other reading material, and mandatory
staff contacts. At the extreme, KSM was invited to present staff lectures on various
subjects.

(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

OMS concerns about the effects of: long—term detentlonﬁled to an acceleration of -
RDG efforts to provide more. stimulation 0 etain ese concerns were shared
by RDG personnel workmg dll‘CCtly with thé detainees, and by D/NCS, former Chief of
CTC). This included. the prowsxon of wdeos:"and games (eventually including hand-held
computer games), and'the 1mplementanon of “Bciél” or “rapport-building” sessions,
during which staffers mlght play cards;er othe1;, ‘games with a detainee or hold informal
philosophical d}_sg::u5310ns Ir;_“ﬂus scttmg, many detainees came to view some of the staff,
even prior interrogatorsias thelr “fnends ”

B o))
(b)(3) NatSecAct

¥ . :
Throughout the years of the RDG program OMS psychologists and psychiatrists
made at least quarterly trips to each facility, and conducted extensive interviews with

-every detainee. Notably, in view of the terrorist behavior, at intake no detainee had a

diagnosable mental disorder, not excepting such Axis II disorders as anti-social

(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct
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* within security bounds. Although at times CTC managers wer:
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personality.'> (This was consistent with the findings on terrorists held in the Federal
prison system.) Some eventually developed adjustment problems, and at least two
requested and were provided with’anti-depressants. Another asked for Prozac, which he
had taken previously, and was sure it would make him feel better. It didn’t, so the Prozac
was discontinued. Particular effort was made to identify signs of post-traumatic stress
disorder (PTSD). Notably, even among those subjected to the most intense coercive
measures, there were no indications of the emergence of PTSD.

123

OMS practice regarding the treatment of detainees who weke having difficulties
with their situation was to work with RDG to ameliorate conditions as:much as possible
%ustmted by OMS
unwillingness to involuntarily medicate detainees who weke “actm out,” medications
were offered only for bona fide medical indications and with the pner consent of the
detainee. This mirrored the Federal Bureau of Pnsgns poliCy on involuntary r(nbe)czqc)anon
At least two detainees did appear to feig’r/énental illnesses. One, (MN_&%tﬁSﬁCAC't
was concemned thatl— guards would learn of%lmksr
J» _ He suddenly stopped speaking and xsolated himself from the others in his
group cellL Howeverhe remained v1s1b1y ttuned to everything going on
around him, and was appropnately attentlve_gto his actwmesmf»daﬂy living. When he was

discretely reassured that his “secret” was} safew a,us, he suddenly was able to express
Shedbacility, dis Symptoms cleared.

appreciation. On transfer to an entirely USS. m it

The second caseﬁv%};\ras al-Yeme who once had passed a
kidney stone. -He begarg hoardmg\medlcatlons, elf-inducing vomiting, defecating on the
floor and crawling through his feces At timesthevappeared to fake his symptoms, and
his endoscopy had been’ normal ~Fhe:best Judgment was that most of his symptoms were
either psychosomanc or factmous Eventually he was transferred out of the RDG
program¢ 4804 his mal care assumed by the recipient country.

~\ '/

3‘ the time of A%&s capture there was concern that a martydom-oriented
detamee would deliberatelyt njure hxmself or attempt suicide. Accordingly, all detainees
were intensivelymonitored %urmg their initial interrogations and had video-monitoring of
their cells throughgut theix; detention. Aside from a rare refusal'to eat or drink, however,
most detainees wereiaitgntive to their person health and no seriously self-destructive /

behavior was evidenﬁyOne detainee—Majid Khan twice made scratches
across his wrists (( B())(t1r3aquiring suturing) when he felt he was not getting enough attention
(b)(3) NatSecAct

123 | In 2006 author Ron
Suskmd reported, in a much rcpeated claim, that at the time of capture AZ was found to have a serious
dissociative disorder, a diagnosis inferred from AZ’s diaries, which were written using several personas. In
reality, this was an entirely literary device, without psychiatric overtones. Ron Suskind, The One Percent
Doctrine: Deep Inside America’s Pursuit of Its Enemies Since 9/11 (New York City: Simon & Shuster,
2006), pp. 95-100. '
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from the facility chxef Another detainee was found to woven a noose from clothe in his
cell.

Fewer than five detainees ever refused food. OMS (and RDG) policy—which

was based on that of the Bureau of Prisons—allowed a hunger strike to continue unless

- there was some apparent impact on the detainee’s health, or his weight fell to less than
90% of average for height. If one of these thresholds was reached, the health risks were
explained. If a detainee still continued to refuse food, he was fed through an NG tube.
Tube feeding would have been accomplished involuntarily if necessary, but the few who
required it were compliant and often assisted with the proceduregTypxca]ly, hunger
strikes ended soon after these feedmgs began. A

(b)(1) One detainee, of some later notonety, ended a hunger stnke wsoon as an NG
(b)(3) NatSecAct tube first was laid out and lubricated. Khaled al-Ma&i4¥as a Germ\v%:mzert

| transferred to the Agencxﬁw d rendered
(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

|

Subsequently al-Masri went public with an account embraced®ythe press and the
(b)(1) ACLU, which variously alleged imprisonment 1 m_lect)on with drugs
(b)(3) NatSecAct(including rectally), forced feedmg, beatm‘:g\s, an sexual abuse none of which was
actually true. He had névereyen been mterrogated muck less abused. An ACLU-
supported al- Mas%wgult a \‘@ the Agency eventually was disallowed by the courts,
and later he was arrested}l Germany ona charge,of arson—the result, his lawyer said, of
a “‘nervous breakdown atﬁii e to the torture “he had endured in CIA custody”.'?*

OMS (and Buﬁeau of Pnsons) policy on forced feedings was directly counter to
that of.the World Medlcal Assoc%n,ﬂhe American Medical Association, and most
medicalhuman ri ights groups. These groups held that the right to patient self-
determmatxeéprevaxled ovéijall other considerations. Within OMS, there was never any
considerationgiven to allowing a detainee to starve himself to death, or otherwise kill
himself. As wnthxﬁ‘!ﬁhe Federal prison system, RDG detention facilities were carefully
designed to be as suxclde-proof as possible. Suicidal behavior, should it have occurred,

would have been seeti*as a reflection of the psychiatric stresses associated with

24 The first of scores of article on the al-Masri case was “German's Claim of Kidnapping Brings
Investigation of U.S. Link,” New York Times, 9 January 2005. His arson arrest and involuntary admission
to a psychiatric ward was-reported in, “German who claimed to be CIA torture victim detained on suspicion
of arson,” International Herald Tribune, 17 May 2007. A particularly trusting article, which also repeated
the rectal suppository allegation, was Jane Mayer, “The Black Sites,” The New Yorker, 13 August 2007.
Mayer characterized al-Masri as “‘one of the more credible sources on the black-site program™
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incarceration and an uncertain future. Moreover, it was clear that had a detainee
managed to kill himself any commendation for the Agency commitment to self-
determination would have been lost in the demands for an immediate investigation.
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ABC News began a series of related reports—
which also won their,authors a Pulitzer. These reports eniumerated and briefly described
six “enhanced interrogation techniques” said to be used by the Agency. Four techniques
were correctly described: the attention grab, attention slap, the belly slap, and “long time
standing.” “Standing” for more than 40 hours, and associated sleep deprivation, was said

‘(b)(1)
(b)(3)
!NatSecAct

|
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to be “effective.” A fifth identified technique was “the cold cell” in which a prisoner was

said to be kept standing at a temperature near 50 degrees while being doused with cold

water. This claim was only partially correct: standing and dousing were done, but not in

a cold room. The sixth identified technique was the previously reported “water

boarding,” though now described as binding the detainee to a board, wrapping cellophane

around his face, and then pouring on water. J

This waterboard treatment was said to result in “almost instant pleas to bring the
treatment to a halt.” Ibn Shaykh al Libbi was said to have been broken by it after two
weeks of progressively harsher techniques had failed. CIA officers subjected to the
waterboard during trainings were said to last an average of 14 seconds AZ began
cooperating after 31 seconds, while KSM had impressed, mterrogators by lasting between
2 and 2}2 minutes. R B N
< . ~
All but one of the 12 high va]ue targets held to datg were said to hdve requ1red
waterboarding. The exception was Ramzi bmﬁ'l Shibh, who reportedly broké down after

_walking past the cell in which KSM washeld. |
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Despite the Pulitzer, and the frequency \}nth which other media sources repeated
ABC claims, at best they again reflected pobr gUesswor, y sources with no direct
knowledge of the program. -d'Iihere never was.a “cold room” technique. Cellophane was
never part of the watétboard.”* Only three (net eleven) detainees had been on the
waterboard. Shaykhmhbbl never was on the waterboard. Neither AZ nor KSM
“broke” on the waterboard. While AZ onge had water applied for 30 seconds, KSM
never had an application exceeding 40°Séconds.

|
(b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

133 «CIA’s Harsh Interrogation Techniques Described,” ABCNews, 18 November 2005.
134 Misreporting about the waterboard was common. For at least a year after first reporting of waterbaord
use, the New York Times described it as involving literal submersion under water. The first to correctly
characterize the technique was Newsweek . Eventually the Chicago Tribune carried the rather detailed
description by a Navy SEAL who had experienced the technique himself, and who also reflected
conventional SERE wisdom in saying it was “instantly effective on 100 percent of Navy SEALs.” See “A
Tortured Debate,” Newsweek, 21 June 2004; “The Debate Over Torture,” Newsweek, 21 November 2005;
“Spilling Al Qaeda’s Secrets,” Chicago Tribune, 28 December 2005
; 67
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aled al-Masri—whose allegations of drugging, torture
and forced feeding were all fabricated—| (b)(1)
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- the detainees. For them, movement was‘ stressful because of the associated

uncertainties.” Attending medical pers6fﬁi§l!generally talked detainees through this

process, émphasizing-that the change was not a reflection on their behavior (i.e., it wasn’t

punitive), but rather was compelled by outside factors. Nonetheless, the associated

anxiety often triggered some depression, occasionally requiring treatment. The Agency

later was faulted for subj ectmg detainees to multiple moves, but this was not by design.
Had c1rcumstances allowed ‘most detainees would have gone from an initial
mterrogatlon/debneﬁpg‘sxte, to a final-long term detention facility. Detainees of lesser

value would have been turned over to the DoD or returned to their home country.

R
/
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Ethics

One group energized by media exposés and human rights reports were those
concerned with the ethics of medical participation in detainee programs, including the
role of psychologists. In the 18-month period from July 2004 to December 2005, the
New England Journal of Medicine carried five different articles touching on the subject,
ranging from “Doctors and Torture” to “Glimpses of Guantanamo—Medical Ethics and
the War on Terror.”'*! A particularly pointed article under the principal authorship of the
president of Physicians for Human Rights also appeared in JAMAgon “Coercive U.S.
Interrogation Policies: A Challenge to Medical Ethics” (Sept 15"(3’;?005)."‘2

The thrust of these articles—most of which were, fecuse’d@{he more visible and
widely-reported practices of U.S. military personnel—-/—c—,was{hat therggwas little or no place
for medical personnel or psychologists in intenogat/ions‘\;‘?and especiallygthose involving
coercive techniques or designed with medical ipput on detainee vulnerabi-liu’tjg. 1> The
interrogation techniques widely reported in the press violated the patient-centric ethic
which should govern all medical practice. If not oum{ghtltydrtbﬁrg, the interrogation
techniques were cruel, inhuman and degrading, and fl‘iq'_s illegal under international and

“humanitarian” law.

In general OMS personnel long since ad:gesolved pe;ignal ethical concerns by
the time such commentaries appeared in‘?ﬁo‘t and: tZO@é-.,.,’_I‘l}g:Ofﬁce believed ethical

considerations were entirely-personal, so frq(_gl{e e outset ;’;ﬁide participation in the RDG
program voluntary. Withdrawal without pen'a']’ty was allowed at any time. The 2002 DoJ

guidance was the foui}dgtion of\:l‘}‘x\pst decision§jto become involved, but program
experience reinforced-the:initial commitment. With the exception of the waterboard—
last used in March 2003} and by late 2004 unlikely to te used again—the actual

P i R %

ey Ny,

lat Roben:-jﬁfiﬁon, MD, *Doctors arid Torture,” NEJM 351(5):415-416 (29 July 2004); M. Gregg Bloche
and Jorlathan H. Marks, “WhemDoctors Goylo War,” NEJM 352(1):3-6 (6 January 2005); George Annas,
JD, MPH&‘fﬁqspeakably Cm'e«i'—-_'{orture,LMedical Ethics, and the Law,” NEJM 352(20):2127-2131 (19
May 2005); M.4Gregg Bloche, l\@, JD and Jonathan H. Marks, “Doctors and Interrogators at Guantanamo
Bay,” NEJM 353(1);6-8 (7 July 2605); Susan Okie, MD, “Glimpses of Guantanamo—Medical Ethics and
the War on TerrorgNEJM 353(24):2529-2534 (15 December 2005).
2] eonard Rubenstein,JD Chﬁ‘s’ﬁan Pross, MD, Frank Davidoff, MD, and Vincent Jacopino, MD, PhD,
“Coercive U.S. In!errogat‘ioﬁﬁ’olicies: A Challenge to Medical Ethics,” JAMA 294(12):1544-1549 (28
September 2005); also of;m')'tc was Steven H. Miles, MD, ““‘Abu Ghraib: its legacy for military medicine,”
The Lancet 364:725-729 (25 August 2004). Miles later expanded his piece into a book-length treatment, in
Stephen H. Miles, Oath Betrayed: Torture, Medical Complicity, and the War on Terror (New York:
Random House, 2006) .
13 Much of this attention was triggered by a June 2004 New York Times account of the use of Behavioral
Science Consultation Teams (BSCT, or “biscuits™) to facilitate interrogations at Guantanamo. Biscuits
were composed of a psychiatrist, psychologist, and medical assistant, who studied detainee records,
including medical records, to develop effective interrogation strategies. Critics held that this violated
patient confidentiality; some believed the medical personnel should not be involved, even without access to
individual records. Though declining a recommendation to do away with these teams, the Pentagon did
eliminate their access to the medical files.
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application of enhanced techniques had been much more modest than the press image,
and reassuringly free of enduring physical or psychological effects. Collectively, these
techniques had been dramatically successful in producing indispensable intelligence not
otherwise obtainable. Though often discounted in the press, the information that flowed
out of detainee interrogations and debriefings had led to the capture of other key al-
Qa’ida players and the disruption of several planned attacks. Lives unquestionably were
saved. ;

The summer 2004 articles which launched the ethical discussion in the U.S. also
clashed jarringly with an ongoing series of al-Qa’ida kidnappiné%behwding. In
contrast to what seemed a sometimes utopian ethicist view, medical personnel saw
themselves as living within a very real and dangerous won‘»l’(fﬁ:l-ﬂ ling a societal
obligation to support the legal, safe, and effective measures that wer€necessary to
combat just such horrors. The role assigned to mgd/ii‘:al;}er}onnel combined the societal
obligation with a responsibility for patient well;bgi’ng.l The medical presence reflected
a government commitment to the ﬁ.mdament@li“‘fe‘l:l-being\cigthe detainee, w@‘e"not
allowing this commitment to preclude the acquisiﬁb{;‘;gi/@ﬁ&tgnt, time-perishable
intelligence not otherwise obtainable. The limits medical’personnel set, and interventions

made, allowed for the acquisition of the greatest possible information without placing the

_ detainee at medical risk. In combinati6 RDG’s tightly Sircumscribed policies on

coercive measures, medical monitoring Spared{almost all detal"";eé"s' from experiencing
more than a very time-limited period of discomfOrt. 2.
e L 2 [

In the continued éthicé\l_“rﬂexiterations 0£,2005, somé tacit acknowledgement of the
societal obligation o¢casionally, Was implied, But only to be immediately discounted
because some emﬁir‘i@?evideﬁgg” eliminateddny’potential ethical conflict. Both
ethicists and the press régulgrly:hé‘s:éi‘tedithat coercive measures were ineffective if not

'& >~

: _wmtemrgdgﬁg, and prddt{%gq serious-and Tong-lasting physical and psychological

aftereffests. More pointedly, the presence of medical personnel during interrogations
was s@fﬁ"to embolden the interrogators<énd lessen their restraints, thus placing
intefrogategat greater, notjlésser risk. At worst, any physician present risked being co-
opted, or socialized into a Nazi mentality.'*

ot l .

Howevermuch such “facts” simplified the ethicist’s case, the OMS empirical
experience was just'itl_i;e;‘gposité. Invaluable intelligence resulted, medical and
psychological aftereffects were not evident, and the presence of medical personnel
unquestionably moderated interrogations and led to more benign interrogation guidelines.
Medical autonomy also was preserved, with OMS personnel answering professionally
only to OMS. Medical personnel were allowed to provide care to detainees even under

144 Analogous dual physician roles are seen in forensic psychiatry, and occupational and public health, in
which the public good sometimes overrides patient preferences.
“SRubenstein et al, “Coercive U.S. Interrogation Policies.”
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interrogation, in a professional and humane manner; and no one ever was asked to use
medical expertise against a detainee, or to withhold treatment.

Finally, the carefully managed, selectively targeted Agency approach to
interrogation had almost nothing in common with the excesses, program laxity, and
indiscriminate focus alleged at Abu Ghraib and Guantanamo. From the outset, the RDG
program was tightly circumscribed and carefully monitored, and quickly corrected
problems encountered in the formative months. Almost from the outset, all interrogators,
debriefers, guards, and medical personnel were prescreened, trained, guided both orally
and in wntmg, and then monitored throughout their mvolvementmdetamees Desplte
its press image, this was a very carefully controlled programﬁ@&

/.nb ,

Program details—beyond that asserted in the medla—-were,\of course, unknown
to medical ethicists, but even with a more accurate understandmg théy.likely would have
reached the same conclusions. This was not necessarily the OMS expectation when the
first medical ethics articles appeared in 2004. Unaware _]USt how dnsproportxonate had

. become the ethicists’ commitments to the patient Vi Visza-vis OCiety, there was some

passing frustration at the mindset that casually equa%@‘mxfd to modest measures (e.g.,
limited sleep deprivation, or feeding through an NG tube) with sadistic, potentially lethal
physical'violence. All were torture or tantamount to it.'*® Mch more useful would have
been thoughtful, medically informed recom’x‘r'l?r'l’dahons to he??balance the acceptable
degrees of coercion against the immediacy and gravny of an avoidable terrorist threat
v AT
Ethicist views wmhored in “intégnational” and “humanitarian” legal
standards and professlonal declaratlons datmg?:to the mid-1970s. Until the
Administration’s 2002 determination that al- Qa’ida terrorists were not legal combatants
and thus not protected byl{GeneV. C’“nvent]ons #Common Article 3 of the Geneva
Conventions ﬁfb-{ilded a solt legal comerstone for the ethicist position. Common Article
3 proh‘lplted “at any~t1me and 1‘?" y place whatsoever: violence to life and person, in
partlcular murder of ail lgnds, mutila gen cruel treatment and torture; outrages upon
per§ona1\d1gmty, in paﬂxcul’ar humlhatmg and degrading treatment.” A prohibition
against cruel, hum:hatmg or. degradmg treatment, or outrages on personal dignity could
be and were used\to cover a .very wide range of interrogation measures.
N #
Absent Comthoﬁfﬂticle 3, there still was the UN Convention Against Torture,
which as ratified by t‘l‘i%y U.S. barred the “intentional infliction of severe physical or
mental pain and suffering.” This was a much higher threshold, more genuinely consistent
with what popularly would have been deemed torture. However, this too had been

_further circumscribed by DoJ’s determination that “severe” pain was akin to that

accompanying serious physical injury or organ failure, and that severe mental harm must
last “months or years.”

146 Medical ethicists and the critical press were not the only ones to take this view. Even some who
advocated the use of what the Agency wewcd as coercive interrogation referred to 1t as justifiable “torture.”
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Further, along with railing at the Administration’s permissive interpretations and
asserting a humanitarian obligation to follow the Geneva Accords even if they were not
legally binding, ethicists turned to another potentially valuable ally to carry their case—
the professional associations of organized medicine.

N

e acknowledged foundational guidance on physxcxans and interrogation was
issued in 1975 by the World Medical Association (WMA)'’ in response to questions
about physician responsibilities in coercive interrogations of Northern Ireland militants.
The WMA'’s “Declaration of Tokyo” held that {)hysrmans should not “countenance,
condone or participate in the practice of torture'*® or other fornis of cruel, inhuman or

- degrading procedures,” nor “provide any premises, instrurnents, substances or knowledge
to facilitate the practxce of torture or other forms of cruel inhumantgmdegrading /
not to be present “during any procedure during whxch torture or other foms of cruel
inhuman or degrading treatment are used or threatened.” In short, “the doctor; ,s
fundamental role is to alleviate the distress of his or her fellowsmen, and no motive
whether personal, collective or political shall prevail agamst this higher purpose.” The
WMA reissued this declaration in botgg,_OOS and 2006—%3Rer thie extensive press reports
of 2004-2005—adding a new section stating that physwlanws?ghould not “use nor allow to
be used, as far as he or she can, medical knowledge or skills, or health information
specific to individuals, to facilitate or otherwise aid ny;interrogation, legal or illegal, of

“those individuals” (emphasis.added). * AV
% 4
In 2005 the Amencan Psychological A soc1at10n also addressed “Psycholog1cal
Ethics and National Secunty, partially in response to accusations of unethical behavior
by Behavioral Sc1ence Consultaméqul‘eams (BSCT, or “biscuits™) at Guantanamo Bay.
These teams wére comprised of a psychiatrist, a psychologist, and a medical assistant,
who sought to bring the;msnghts of behavioral science to the interrogation process.
Allegedky they had uscHtiziedical records to devise interrogation strategies. The APA
(psychologlst), without addressmg y specific allegation, enumerated the “ethical
obligationSimtnational secunty-related work.” More nuanced than guidance soon issued
by medical orgamzatlons this advised that psychologists:
w
--should not e¢ngage in, direct, support, facxlltate, or offer training in torture or
otherjferuel, inhuman, or degrading treatment;
--do not use health care related information from an individual’s medical record
“to the detriment of the individual’s safety and well-being”;
--do not engage in behavior that violates U.S. law and may refuse for ethical

147 The WMA was established immediately after World War IT to address issues of international concern.
The American Medical Association was one of many founders.

4% Torture was defined by the WMA as “the deliberate, systematic or wanton infliction of physical or
mental suffering. ..to force another person to yieldrinformation, to make a confession, or for any other
reason.”
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reasons to follow laws that are unjust or that violate basic principles of
human rights [but if a conflict results, they “may adhere to the
requirements of the law”]

--“are sensitive to the problems inherent in mixing potentially inconsistent roles
such as health care provider and consultant to an interrogation, and refrain
from engagmg in-such multnple relationships”

--“may serve in various national security-related roles, such as a consultant to an

interrogation, in a manner that is consistent with the Ethics Code, and
when so doing...are mindful...of contexts that require special ethical
consideration.” 497

'

\ The following year an August 2006 APA resolution ahgned theﬂi}’A position more
specifically with the United Nations Convention Against’ TQrture andrthe McCain
Amendment (see following sections), but added ng. a/ dditional specxﬁmty to the guidance.

The American Psychtamc Assoc1at10n tl{ough concemed over the 2005"
Guantanamo reports, did not issue its own guidance_for andther,year. In May 2006, this
APA (psychiatrist) issued a “Position Statement” on “Psiyfghlamc Participation in
Interrogation of Detainees,” which stated that psychiatrists'should not participate in, or

otherwise assist or facilitate, the commLssmn of torture.” It contmued in part:
ARES N

..No psychiatrist should arhcxpatedlrectl if the interrogation

of persons held incustody by military or c1v1han;mvt1gat1ve orlaw

enforcement %ﬂlw“%yhethcr in the United Sthtes or elsewhere. Direct

partlclpauonfmcludes being present intthe interrogation room, asking or

suggesting quesfions, orjadvising authorities on the use of specific

techmques of m}%gamon withsparticular detainees. However,

psychmtnsts may premde trainingitojmilitary or civilian investigative or

law’ enforceant personnelon recognizing and respondmg to. persons with

mental xllnesses«.o)‘r‘l the possiblé€’'medical and psychological effects of

parugyla.r tcchmques )and conditions of i mterrogauon and on other areas

within'their profess: 6nal expertxse

N K

Until m1d<2007 OMS psychologists, given the legality of Agency practices
(reafﬁnned by DoJ* nﬁMﬁch 2005), saw themselves as working within the APA
(psychologist) guldelmes OMS psychiatrists never were asked to monitor interrogations,
though not as a matter of policy. Initially, psychologists were more available and soon
they were more experienced. The APA (psychiatrist) guidelines were the more
restrictive of the two, but on careful reading might still have allowed a role similar to that
actually performed by OMS psychologists.

The next issued, and more categorical guidance came from the American Medical
Association: “Physicians must not conduct, directly participate in, or monitor an
interrogation with an intent to intervene, because this undermines the physician’s role as
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healer.” Ina modest concession to the physician’s societal obllgatlons the statement
added, “Because it is justifiable for physicians to serve in roles that serve the public
interest, the AMA policy permits physicians to develop general interrogation strategies
that are not coercive, but are humane and respect the right of individuals.”'*’

Since medical licensure in the United States is the exclusive purview of state
medical boards, professional organizations such as the AMA have no direct power to
enforce their views. State boards act on ethics violations, however, so the policy
statements of professional organizations do have a potential imp%gt»\ Critics very early
sought to bring about change at Guantdnamo Bay by attackmg,the licénsure of the
supporting medical staffs. Soon after the role of BSCT tcams‘was publicized, the New
York Times reported that lawyers representing detainees were ng to gather doctor’s
names to bring ethics changes against them in their h me‘statcs \Eallmg in this effort,
lawyers later targeted physician John Edmondson cﬁander of the"Gliantdnamo Bay
Naval Hospital. In July 2005, a complaint agams’tfﬁdmondson was ﬁled"?alth the
California State Board of Medicine, which had%xed his ficense. He was charged with
“unprofessional” conduct, including having overseemithe inappropriate sharing of medical
data, refusal of treatment, and active and passive involyement in physical abuse. The
Board declined to pursue the case on<th$ grounds that it C%l& take no action against a
military physician practicing on a mlhtary base absent action«first by the military. They
also cited a recently released study by Army Surgeon General ﬂgy, which had not found

R
evidence of any medical abuse of the deta;&ees{ Pk ‘1\3&"; i’

4
A few weeks later the fourth annfversary 0f*9/11—131 Guantdnamo Bay
detainees began a huftger striké to: protest the c%ndmons of their detention and lack of due
process. Of these; €re mvoluntanly fed through naso-gastric tubes, most
compliantly and within themcells%(}Gllven the small proportion of strikers artificially
fed, the Nayy probably follSed a protocelfsimilar to that of OMS and the Bureau of
Pnsons )“ Physmans for- Human nghts strongly protested the forced feedings, which was

J.

9 AMA Pr&ss release, 12 Juné 006, “New AMA ethical policy opposes direct physician participation in
interrogation:™ Thls position s to reject the suggestion of some ethicists that “limit setting, as

guardians of detajnee health” mlght be an acceptable role for physicians in “legitimate interrogation.” See
Bloche and Marks “*When Doctors Go to War.”

The only othér profess’i%nal association to issue medical ethical guidance on interrogations was the
American Academy of PBysitian Assistants (AAPA). This guidance was the most sparse. In 1987 the
AAPA adopted statements opposing “participation of physician assistants in...torture or inhuman
treatment,” and endorsing “the 1975 World Medical Association Declaration of Tokyo which provides
guidelines for physicians and, by nature of their dependent relationship, for physician assistants, in cases of
torture or other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment in relation to detention or
imprisonment.” Most recently these AAPA statements were reaffirmed in 2003.

130 «psychologists Warned on Role in Detention,” New York Times, 6 July 2004.

15! “Head of hospital at Guantanamo faces complaint,” New York Times, 15 July 2005; “Lawyers will
appeal ruling that cleared Guantanamo doctor of ethics violations,” BMJ 331:180, 23 July 2005. An appeal
to the Board also failed.

152 Susan Okie, “Glimpses of Guantanamo—Medical Ethics and the War on Terror.” By mid-October the
number of strikers was down to 25.
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counter to both the WMA and AMA codes of ethics and which al]owed a prisoner to
starve himself to death. "> Detainee lawyers used this episode to resume their challenge
to Dr. Edmondson’s licensure, and in January 2006 unsuccessfully argued to a California
court that in view of the forced feedings the court should compel the state medical board
to act.'> .

OMS viewed state licensing board action as a potential risk. The fact of a medical
presence in the Agency program was easily discerned. Almost from the beginning there
had been recurring charges that Agency medical personnel withheld pain medicine from
AZ, drugged some detainees during transfer, and force fed al-Masr. The first substantial
discussion of this issue, however, did not come until after théfof:urteen remaining HVDs
were transferred to Guantanamo Bay in September 2006 &I'he IERC interviewed all
fourteen, who comprised the most important al-Qa’ida. operatrves captured to date and
had been those most aggressively interrogated. /}(; s &

The detainees appear to have given the’ ICRC a genera]] y accurate s_n : ary of
their overall experience (albeit recalling some traumatrc epls(;\des as lastmg;longer than
they did). Enough medical information was included’ for the resulting ICRC report to
include a section on “Health Provisionyand the Role of Medlcal Staff.” This noted the
provision of medical examinations on &g ‘\y,al dunng mterroganon,, and during the long
subsequent detention. Treatment provrgd Wi deemed “appropriate and satisfactory,”
with a comment that “in two specific mska.q‘ces exccPuonal lengths were taken to
provide very high standards of medrcal intégy ent’lon fihe overriding issue, however,
was the medical presenée dufmg the mterro%on process, a presence correctly inferred
from the use of a pul’s’é/oxxmeter during KSM §,waterboard sessions, the repeated
measurement of lég c1rcumference dunng standmg sleep deprivation, and detainee
reports that medical personnel ¢tickked-them durmg interrogations and sometimes

g

intervened to Stop* th process e s
e "\:5",. "
i - '.'. ;"/{
R WP
N\ >

s

153 In 1991, thm position "ﬁ modified to allow the optron of physician intervention once the patient
became confused or lapsed into, coma, but both the Bureau of Prisons and the physxcxans at Guantdnamo
Bay act far before dusfsEEe isfreached. In 2006 the WMA issued a lengthy fiirther revision of its policy
statement, which concluded, *Forcible feeding is never ethically acceptable. Even if intended to benefit,
feeding accompanied by ts, coercion, force or use of physical restraints is a form of inhuman and
degrading treatment.” Moreover, “[i]f a physician is unable for reasons of conscience to abide by a hunger
striker’s refusal of treatment or artificial feeding,....[he or she] should refer the hunger striker to another
physician who is willing to abide by the...refusal.” World Medical Association Declaration on Hunger
Strikers, as revised by the WMA General Assembly, Pilanesberg, South Africa, October 2006.

134 Jurist, 8 January 2008; for fuller coverage, The Observer, 8 January 2006, on Guardian Unlimited,
accessed at http://observer.guardian.co.uk/world/story/0,16937,1681736,00.htm],. Subsequently, a British
activist physician again filed this same charge against Edmondson with the medical boards of the states of
California and Georgia. See “Force feeding at Guantanamo breaches ethics, doctors say,” BMJ 332:569
(11 March 2006).

'35 “JCRC Report on the Treatment of Fourteen ‘High Value Detainees’ in CIA Custody,” February 2007.
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Labeling Agency interrogations ill-treatment tantamount to torture, the ICRC
judged that the Agency program did not qualify as a “lawful interrogation, [in which] a
physician may be asked to provide a medical opinion, within the usual bounds of medical
confidentiality, as to whether existing mental or physical health problems would preclude
an individual from being questioned,” or “requested to provide medical treatment to a
person suffering a medical emergency during questioning.” Rather, medical personnel
were “ruling on the permissibility...of physmal or psychologlcal ill-treatment.” Their
conclusion, therefore, was that:

participation of health personnel in such a process isgontrary to
international standards of medical ethics. In the case of‘the;alleged
participation of health personnel in the detentlongr;d interrogation of the
fourteen detainees, their primary purpose appears'to y have becty §erve the
interrogation process, and not the patient. .Is so doing the health personnel
have condoned, and participated in 1ll-treatment 7 "’),;; &Y

Like many human rights and professional med %rgamzanons the ICRC held
the traditional formulaic view that theze, were three controllmg principles in medical
ethics: act always in the best interest of the patient, do no harm,to the patient, and insure
the patient’s right to dignity. Had OMS(asses%ﬂf agamg?these criteria, it would

“....the interrogation process is contrary to integ-‘aation“al law and the

- have said that during the entire post—xnterrogahomphase of detention these principles

were honored. Exceptmg only a handful of mvoluntary feedmgs consent was obtained
before all medical procedurcs"&or they were not undertaken. '’ During the Agency’s
legally-sanction interregations,{ nowever, the preservation of detainee dignity and “best
interest” would have defeated the ‘process, at the,cést of innocent lives. Given the
magnitude of the percelvegntemongfat}ueat short periods of indignity and significant but
medically safe’ dlscomfort (fagishort of serious, much less severe pain) seemed an
ethlcally nconsequenugl.‘gnce%o pay to obtain the cooperation necessary to save lives.
OMS:) nonetheless still’ was*able msure that no harm befell detainees while fulfillinga
socnetal\obhgatxon that otherwnse \ig\{ld have been impossible. There never was any
question that, “forced to make4a choice, the preservation of lives would override the
preservation of. dlgmty H

"y
i

(/4

1% Tube feeding, while involuntary, was never forced, as the detainees always cooperated with the
procedure. An intake physical examination, including appropriate blood work, also was mandatory, but
after the interrogation phase detainees could decline phys1cal exams (or elements of the exam) or laboratory
studies, though almost none did. Concurrence was obtained in writing for all invasive procedures. There -
sometimes was a certain incongruity in asking a detainee for consent. At one point Nashiri, who at the time
was manacled and closely attended by guards (because of recent acting out), laughed when the attending
dentist asked his permission to pull a problem tooth: “You obviously can do anything you want,” Nashiri
noted. But he did give his consent. /
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Notabl‘y the ICRC’s report on the fourteen detainees was not- immediatély leaked
to the press. °' The record to date suggests that this eventually will happen, at which
time advocacy groups probably will attempt to attack the licensure of some OMS

" - physicians. There are several reasons to believe that most if not all state medical boards

would deal with ethics charges much as had California: .

--DoJ had provided legal sanction to the program
--the C.L.A. (like DoD) would strongly assert the legal, ethical, and appropriately
_ circumscribed role of the medical staff .
--specific individual medical responsibilities likely woulﬁfe%ham classified
--Bureau of Prisons policy and medical personnel woﬁl'd be similarly implicated
--even were existing medical ethical guidance rel\evant\nt was sufficiently
imprecise that it had to be c]anﬁed in 2006 \aﬁer whH\h no enhanced

interrogations took place.'” \j‘
e,

A greater problem than licensure per se may bél egal professional harhé"s{ment of
activists hoping to end an unpopular program by drnying away-\xts medical support, in
essence exploiting the government’s commitment to msurmg that detainees are not
harmed.

%

In August 2007, the American Psychologlcal Assocnatwn revns1ted their 2005 and
2006 statements on psychologlst support t, interrogations, d’issued much more explicit
and categorical guidance. gEhis included an't “absolutc prehlbmon for psychologists
against direct or indirect partlcxpatlon in mterrogatlons or in any other detainee-related
operations” mvolvmg a lengthxﬁl t of techniques alleged in media reports. Most relevant
were hooding, forced‘n‘%kedness Stress positions;;slapping or shaking, and “sensory
deprivation and over-sumulatlon and/or sleep. depnvatnon used in a manner that
represents s@ﬁ—ﬁcant ,giun or%suffcnng or-aii'ﬁ" manner that a reasonable person would
Judge to'cause Iastmg fiarm.” A .movement to bar psychologists altogether from
interrogation facilities was not successful By the time this was issued (see following
sectxon‘gwthe only clearlyC:_‘levant itém was slapping, though standing sleep depnvatlon
would probabé‘%have been controversxal

More proh‘emahc than barring psychologxst involvement in the prohibited
techniques was a req%ement that APA members report any psychologist who has

'*" In spring 2007, DCIA Hayden was asked to address Congressional Oversight Committees on various
charges contained in the ICRC report. In these Hayden categorically denied any medical role other than

‘monitoring the well-being of the detainees and providing treatment when indicated.

158 APA (psychologist) guidance was less restrictive, but even so only one such interrogation took place
after it released new guidance in 2005.
159 «Reaffirmation of the American Psychological Association Position Against Torture and Other Cruel,
Inhuman, or Degrading Treatment or Punishment and Its Application to Individuals Defined in the United
States Code as ‘Enemy Combatants,”” Resolution Adopted by APA on August 19, 2007. Among the dozen
or more enumerated techniques were waterboarding, hypothermia, exposure to extreme heat or cold, and
exploitation of phobias or other psychopathology. .

78

(b)(1
TG‘HBM/[ b)(3 )NatSecAct

NoEORN

Approved for Release: 2018/08/14 C06541727


http:dr.i~~ayl,i.ts

"C06541727 .
- Approved for Release: 2018/08/14 C06541727
' (D)(3) NatsecAct

FOP—SECRET/ | AROTORIAFMR
B Lb)(3) NathE:Act ’

1 1

| .

participates in these techniques to the APA Ethics Committee, who in turn could revoke
memberships and potentially jeopardize state licensure.'®® This; in essence, placed
Agency psychologists in the same potentially vulnerable position as Agency physicians.

160 «APA Rules on Interrogation Abuse,” Washington Post, 20 August 2007; Eve Conant, “Capital Sources:
Shrinks and Torture,” Newsweek “Web Exclusive,” 20 August 2007. ~
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. An Unfinished Chapter

The new Dol policy statement on torture issued in December 2004 stated that it
did not invalidate previous guidance on specific interrogation techniques. DoJ’s long-
awaited re-evaluation of these techniques finally was forwarded to the Agency in May
2005. Three separate memoranda were sent, all reflecting an understanding of Agency
practice and experience not available in 2002—as well as insights gleaned from the
voluntary waterboarding of a senior DoJ lawyer.

A foundational 10 May 2005 memoranda corrected a@ded the 2002
descnptlons then reaffirmed that the previously addressed tee Hniques fell short of
torture. '®' These were three conditioning techniques (di efity y mampulatxon nudity at.
ambient temperature of at least 68°, and sleep deprivation)}, five corregtive techniques
(attention grasp, facial hold, facial or insult slap, alg’dommal slap, and¥y; alling), and four
coercive techniques (stress positions, water dousifig, cramped confinemént, and
waterboard). A second 10 May 2005 memorandurn. expressly extended this.cgflusion to
the combined use of these techmques 12 The final. memo dum, dated 30 May 2005,
responded to an Agency IG concemn in affirming that ‘thede techniques were not barred by
Atrticle 16 of the Convention Agamstﬁa;orture as rahﬁe%s barred “cruel, unusual,
and inhumane treatment or punishmentiprohibited by the FifthyEighth, and Fourteenth
Amendments to the Constitution.” As mterpreted the Fifth Afiendment was of greatest
relevance, and the Supreme Court standard?agamst whlch treatment was to be measured
was whether a techique “ s-so egregious, so‘outrageous that/ t may fairly besaid to shock
the contemporary consmencew judgment poted by thé Court to be hxghly context-
specific and fact-dependent \}.‘
\ . 33 A /"‘
New to the 2005 gm Sen waszan. extraordmary reliance on OMS input, totally
absent in 2002. L;_I'l"l'e Agency. General Counisel, during an early 2004 visit, had mentioned
that OMS. fnvolvemment:now was central to the A gency’s legal case. Just how important
became c]earer in summer QOMS-DoJ discussions during which C/MS finally observed
that DoJ:seemed to be undéf:the misimpression that this was an OMS program—rather

than OMS support:mg CT C"/‘RDG In acknowledging an overemphasis, DoJ nonetheless

v

'said the presenge:of OMS was critical to their determinations. OMS thereafter tried to

remain alert to any trans}gmatlon from the notion that the RDG program being
acceptable in part because of OMS involvement into somethmg that sounded more like

‘/,

16! Steven Bradbury (DoJ/OLC) to John A Rizzo, Senior Deputy General Counsel, Central Intelligence
Agency “Re: Application of 18 U.S.C. 2340-2340A to Certain Techniques That May Be Used in the
lmermgauon of a High Value al Qaeda Detainee,” 10 May 2005.
162 «Memorandum for John Rizzo, Senior Deputy General Counsel, Central Intelligence Agency, “Re:
Application of 18 U.S.C. 2340-2340A to the Combined Use of Ccnam Techniques in the Interrogation of
High Value al Qaeda Detainees,” 10 May 2005.
163 Memorandum for John A. Rizzo, Senior Deputy General Counsel, Central Intelligence Agency “Re:
Application of United States Obligations Under Article 16 of the Convention Against Torture to Certain
Techniques that May Be Used in the Interrogation of High Value al Qaeda Detainees,” 30 May 2005.
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the program being acceptable because OMS said it was. The only OMS role, if and when
Justice determined that any given technique was legal, was to insure the safety of the
detainee—a responsibility as well shared by interrogators and other staff.

The final DoJ memoranda stated that the legitimacy of the RDG program hinged
on several-OMS relevant factors: :OMS autonomy within the program; OMS assurance
that detainees would be adequately evaluated—physically and psychologically—prior to,
during, and following any enhanced interrogations; the authority of OMS to stop or
otherwise limit any ongoing interrogation, if medically mdlcated,,and the OMS
experience that to date no medically significant aftereffects had’been ‘apparent in any
previously interrogated detainee. A reliance on OMS was derscored by the inclusion
of multiple quotations incorporated from the latest (Deccmber 2004) issuance of OMS
Guidelines, and by many references to discussions with OMS personnel. An illustrative
excerpt, from the 10 May 2005 memoranda addressmg interrogation techmques

“In addition, the involvement @ -médlcal and: psychologlcal IPis7
personnel in the adaptation and apphcatloﬁ"f*the established SERE
techniques is particularly noteworthy for purposcs of our analysis.

Medical personnel have beentinvolved in imposing limitations 'on—and
requiring changes to—certain procedures, partlculaﬁ@the use of the.
waterboard. We have had extensive rieetings with the medical personnel
involved in monitoring the use of these techniques. Itis clear that they
have carefully worked to ensure thatsthe‘techmques do not result in severe

-- - -physical or: mental pain or suffering to the detainees. ... In addition; they: - s oo

regularly assess both thegmedical llterature and the expenence with
detainees. [FN To assisty n momtormg %penence with the detainees, we
understand that there.is‘regular: reportmg on medical and psychological
expenenc e Wi th\i‘i‘ﬁ‘/ f these techmques on detainees and that there are
: ﬁs‘pecml insfructions on documentmg experience with sleep deprivation and

%\tﬁme\ waterboard. ]\OMS has; speclﬁcally declared that “[m]edical officers
must\remam cogmzant at allmmes of their obligation to prevent “severe
physxcal pain or suffenng” [citation omitted]. In fact, we understand that
medical and psychol‘oglcal personnel have discontinued the use of
techmques as, to partlcular detainee when they believed he might suffer
such pain or«suﬁ‘enng, and in certain instances, OMS medical personnel
have not cleared certain detainees for some—or any—techniques based on
the initial medical and psychological assessments. They have also
imposed additional restrictions on the use of techniques (such as the
waterboard), in order to protect the safety of detainees, thus reducing
further the risk of severe pain or suffering. You [i.e., the Agency] have
informed us that they will continue to have this role and authority. We
assume that all interrogators.understand the important role and authority of
OMS personnel and will cooperate with OMS in the exercise of these
duties..
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. Read in totality, the final DoJ guidance made clear that the OMS role was
supportive, but this lengthy paragraph still was potentially misleading, in citing the
“involvement of medical and psychological personnel in the adaptation and application of
the established SERE techniques.” The only OMS role in the adaptation or application
of SERE techniques was to place medical restrictions on the use of the techmques
selected and authorized independently of OMS.

Following the summer 2004 press accounts, and prior tggthese DoJ memoranda,
Senators John-McCain (R-Ariz) and Lieberman (D-Conn) put la.nguq'ge into an
intelligence bill which barred “torture or cruel, inhuman, or degrading treatment or
punishment that is prohibited by the Constitution, laws or treat:m*of the United States,”
and required a report to Congress on interrogation measures. In Jamlary, at
Administration urging, this language was dropped. JI’h%spnng, 2005, Democrats and
Republicans debated the need for a probe of mterrogatlon practices, but'ng robe
resulted. , ' _v"

i d I >

5 \
In October 2005 Senator McCain mtroduced an amendment to a Defense

punishment”’—defined as any “cruel, unusual, and mhuma.ne treatment or punishment”
prohibited by the Fifth, Eighth, and Fougteenth:Amendments (applying to non-US
citizens what otherwise would have pertained onlyito U.S. citizens). Kerry also attached
an amendment to the Senate Intelligence Authorization bill requiring a report on the
Agency’s recently publicized.E: Eastem Europe%n and Asian detention facilities.

Ultimately both Kerrﬂamendments failed, but;the McCain amendment moved forward—
ultimately without an Agency exemptron sought by Vice President Cheney and DCIA
Porter Goss. e :

The McCam amendment—subsequently known as the Detainee Treatment Act
(DTA)é%gassed both Hade and Senate by large margins, and in December 2005 was
sigred into law. The implications ¢ of the DTA proved somewhat more limited than
expected. Bglalready had ruled that Agency techniques did not reach the threshold for
the “cruel, i an, or degrading” treatments barred by the Constitution, and a new DTA
requirement that QQQ mterrogatlon guidelines be followed was applicable only to DoD
facilities, and not to &secre Agency sites. Less reassuring was the way the DTA
addressed the question of legal protections for those engaged in authorized interrogations.
This stated that the U.S. Government “may” pay employee costs (including legal counsel)
associated with civil action or criminal prosecution, and offered as an employable
defense that “a person of ordinary sense'a'nd understanding would not know the practices
were unlawful.”
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Over several months in the spring and summergof 2006 anOMS hysician
escorted five detainees that required specialized evaluatren Or surgery

—Fo received this care. Additi nally, during this penod?a concerted

. military custody at Guanténamo Bay the 14 HVDs| _(b)(1)

effort was made to move as many detainees as possble oufjof Agency handss 50f the
sferred elsewhere by September,
with most returned to their countries of origin. As prekusly, OMS personnel
accompanied all detainee movements; -. ‘%

%
\ ‘Y‘w 3o
l . ‘-\ \

In June, 2006 the Supreme Court.ruled in: Hamden v. ‘Rumsfeld that the military
commission system then in place at Guantanamn\é*fé%as not-‘l‘»egally authorized.
Additionally, the Court ;mted that the progx\gwns of Cominion Article 3 of the Geneva
Conventions (on the treatment. of pnsoners of\war) was apphcable to detainees. In
response to this ruhng, ‘the AdiR istration introduced legislation that became the Military
Commission Act (MCA):of 200 (sngned in October)

The MGA' estabhshed new system of m1htary tribunals and, consistent with
Common. Article 3; am ded the-War Crimes Act of 1996 to bar not just techniques that
caused,.,severe physxcal 9 mental&“amfor suffering” (“torture”), but also those which
cauded” “severe or serious® physxcal r mental pain or suffering” (or “cruel or inhuman
treatment”’y&No specific techniques were addressed; rathet, the President was given
authority to mo%pec:ﬁcally interpret the implications of the Common Article 3 through
an Executive Order.

Finally, the MCA strengthened the protections extended by the DTA to those
involved in authorized interrogations prior to 30 December 2005. Employec costs
incurred during any investigation or prosecution—in the U.S., abroad, or in mtemanona]
tribunals—would be paid by the U.S. government.

During the summer 2006, a White House decision was s made to transfer to
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With'the transfer of the 14 detainees to Guantdnamo,
| | Within a few months, a newly
captured detainee was transferred P\bdul Hadi al Iraqi, the designated
replacement for Zarqawi as head of al-Qa’ida operations in Iraq. He had read of CIA
interrogation methods, he said, and preferred just to cooperate without them. Whether or
not he was truly forthcoming is unclear, but no enhanced mtcrrogﬁﬁ'fm methods were

employed. prior.to his transfer to Guantanamo Bay in April 200&; '
_ ~ g'b NatSecAct

[ There | they were allo%ed to talk with

one another, some for the first time in several,year-s and al$o were mtervneweduby the

ICRC. Each was assigned a military lawyer to help prcpare for,a tribunal hearing on their '

status as illegal combatants. Were this status establidid# they then faced prosecutlon for
their terrorist acts. ) *Qm o TN :
, To date the Agency program hadsp assclithrough two almost discrete phases. The
first penod from 2002 through 2004, was _pnma’x;l_ly oggegf multiple successful
interrogations. The secoqg‘pcnod from 2005 through 2006 was one of lengthening
detentions. The character of a&)&t}urd perlodvls—as of simmer 2007—still uncertain.
While the Agency sdspended uSe of EITs folloyving the December 2005 enactment of the |
DTA, it did not abanden the notidn of playing a unique role in the interrogation of HVDs.

\After rev1ew1ng the overall. progtam‘,&the.Agenc? sent DoJ a request to evaluate a much

. .reduced set,of proposed ey anced” techniques, which did not include walling, the -

waterboard, conﬁnement boxes, dousmg, and stress positions. The proposed array of
techmqu&c was limited to the thre-gbe‘stabhshed conditioning techniques: nudity, dietary
mampulauon and sleep depnvatlo *and four of the five corrective techniques approved
in 2005: facial grasp, attentien grasp, abdommal slap, and facial or insult slap (but not
walling). NoCoercive measures were included.’® The proposed upper limit on sleep
deprivation remaingd at 180 hours, but with a new requirement that the detainee be
reassessed after 96 hours and specifically re-approved for each additional 24 hours.

OMS welcomed these changes as further limiting medical risks without
appreciably weakening program effectiveness. In its view, interrogation success
appeared to result primarily from the three “conditioning” techniques proposed for

1% 1n contrast to the reality, a Newsweek “WEB EXCLUSIVE,” 20 September 2005, cited Senate staffers
as saying the Administration were trying to redefine the Geneva limitations to allow seven techniques: 1)
induced hypothermia, 2) long periods of forced standing, 3) sleep deprivation, 4) the "attention grab”
(forcefully seizing the suspect's shirt), 5) the "attention slap,” 6) the "belly slap” and 7) sound and light
mampulanon
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retention, particularly sleep deprivation.'®® Since to date only three detainees had been
kept awake beyond 96 hours (and none as long as 180 hours), the proposal was entirely |
consistent with ongoing practice. “Corrective” techniques also appeared to play a

"synergistic role, but from the medical standpoint, walling was somewhat problematic
because if not handled carefully could result in head contact with the wall. It also
appeared less controlled than any other technique, and infrequently required some
medical intervention.'® Elimination of all coercive measures, and walling, would
appreciably simplify medical monitoring.

) As previously, OMS was brought into these newest DoJ§discussions, this time in
the hope that a medical distinction was possible between “seyere’’ and “serious” physical
and mental suffering. Thinking this an entirely legal que)stx%ms declined to
speculate. Ultimately, a provisional DoJ analysis found al\the requested techniques
legally acceptable, i.e., they did not reach the thr&%hﬁd‘})f “serious’ }3’8 or suffering. A
definitive ruling awaited the underlying Executwe Order interpreting Cétitmon Article 3.
OMS also contributed to this discussion, through a\bneﬁng for DNI Admlvral?Mli(e

McConnell on medical support to the interrogatior and detennon program.

The President’s Executive Order finally was releag&d in mid-July 2007, prompted

1 A iy
by the desire to interrogate a key al- Qag%:twe, recently cap'gured and rendered
(b)(3) NatSecAct This EO interpreted Common¥Akticle 3 as requ}rmg “the basic necessities

of life, including adequate food and wate%\shelter frofnsthe eléments, necessary clothing,
protection from extremes ofheat and cold, and SsentialtaSical care.” Barred were
torture or other acts c/g;nparable g\) murder, to&ure mutilation, cruel and inhuman
treatment, or acts ofgabuse or degr‘adatlon wha%a reasonable person would deem “beyond
the bounds of hurfian ecency.”; Beyond these limits, enhanced measures were still
allowable, as was determon thhout qut de access. [NEED TEXT] '

e Justloe Dartment*xmmedlately followed this with concrete gmdance largely
unchan ed from that?a@“ééd to M’aﬁg’ﬁnd allowing sleep deprivation (as above), dietary
mampulatxen, and the sev j requested slaps and holds. Only nudity had been

changed—‘%?daapenng '

Asked a outsthe xecutive Order on NBC’s “Meet the Press,” Director of
National Intell:gence (BDNT) Mike McConnell would not say exactly what would be
permitted, but he didshighlight—as never publicly before—the medical role in the
process:

T (b)(1)
(b)(3) NatSecAct

'% On two occasions detainees complained of poter;ialfy walling-associated memory or hearing loss, but a
detailed evaluation at the time found both to be feigned symptoms.
' 85
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“...When I was in a situation where I had to sign off, as a member of the
process, my name to this executive order, I sat down with those who had
been trained to do it, the doctors who monitor it, understanding that no one

is subjected to torture. They're, they're treated in a way that they have
adequate diet, not exposed to heat or cold. They're not abused in any ‘
way. But I did understand, when exposed to the techniques, how they '
work and why they work, all under medical supervision.”'®’

(At the time of this writing—September 2007—the onlyfcandidate to be
interrogated under these new guidelines alleged the unusual,cétmbination of visual and
auditory hallucinations after just over 100 hours of standing sl‘ggﬂdepnvanon Asa
result, he was allowed a 16-hour sleep break, but continued to claxm visual hallucinations.
A thorough psychological examination at that time.led toxthe conclusiofi;that he was
malingering. He was returned to intermittent sle€p deprivation, up to tw 80 limit [over
30 days], but this did not achieve compliance w1t@errogators )

I’

: i “ ”,k
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167 Transcript, Mike Mcéonnell interview on “Meet the Press,” Tim Russert, Anchor, MSNBC.com, 22
July 2007. The possible interpretation that physicians were supervising the enhanced interrogations later
was addressed briefly by a McConnell spokesman who clarified that McConnell said that doctors would
“monitor, not supervise” interrogations, but would not clarify if this referred to physicians, or how the
monitoring would be accomplished, or if this was a new requirement. Spencer Ackerman, “(Re)Call the
Doctor: Physicians Involved in CIA Interrogations?,” TPMMuckracker.com, 23 July 2007. Russert, like
many others, wanted to know what techniques could and could not be used (especially the waterboard), but

. McConnell—like other Administration spokesmen—refused to specify on the grounds that this would

allow training against the techniques, and “because they believe these techniques might involve torture and
they don't understand them, they tend to speak to us, talk to us in very—a very candid way.”
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Support to the RDG program may well be the most extensive operational
(b)(3) CIAACt commitment in the history of the Office of Medical Services. It certainly was one of the
_ most intense. During the five vears from 2002 to 2007, OMS staff officers 1 _(b)(3) ClAACt
physicians, Dpsychologmts; v}PA’s, and ‘ }urses) were directly involved in the
program. These officers evaluated, monitored and provided quality care to 97 detainees
variously held in ten Agency facilities. They also accompanied well over a hundred
detainee transfer flights. Their guidance and presence made possible one of the most
successful counter-terrorist operations in the history of the Agency. -+

An enumeration of the intelligence take from the dramaﬁ@ly successful RDG
program is beyond the scope of this history. Over 8,000 intelligericgireports were
generated, which was half or more of all al-Qa’ida reporting during the period. Detainee-
provnded information led directly to the capture of other key terrorists, aver,ggd several
major terrorist attacks, and became a foundation for the 9/1.1 _postmortem analysis. Even
in the face of crippling media leaks and w1despread$gkl cferiticism, the Agency (and
Administration) remained unwilling to abandon what*ha l;mgroven an invaluable tool.

Whether a more circumscribed- fug_‘u;e program will prove s;mllarly valuable
remains to be seen. Even with a retained-coretof less aggresswglbut seemingly effective
techniques, this may not be possible. Eventually the Administration will be pressed to -
state publicly that certain aggressive measures will not be used (thcreby reassuring future

- detainees, to the detriment of:the.process). . Crippling leaks. will remain inevitable, and..
approved techniques- however-bemgn—eventually will become known and again be
targeted by human ngh actmsts This could easily lead to the elimination of all the
synergistic adjuncts to sleep deprivation, and so*limit sleep restriction that it rarely is
effective. Aidmona.ll , publigity to date’ wa}ﬁave led to the development of effective
resistance feasures% pln sho‘rt'?t.he immediate prospects do not look promising. Taking
alo gé‘r‘xvlew, future téfrorist use of WMDs is viewed as inevitable; and such an attack
would likely lead to another reevalyation of what interrogation measures are acceptable.

When' OMS again isapproached on this subject, this brief history may be of some
value. A few points may be worth repeating. As OMS began this chapter, it could find
no comparable record,of the somewhat related experiences of the Fifties, which would
have been useful. Organizationally, OMS was somewhat buried at the time in a short-
lived but distracting real1grm1ent with Human Resources. Operational requests regularly
were addressed, but outside the paramilitary environment OMS was not then aggressively ¢
attempting to insert itself into operations. Thus, when OTS formulated its approach to
detainee interrogation, there was no meaningful medical input or review—and

168 E.g., effective countermeasures against such techniques as standing sleep deprivation were discussed
within the Agency as early as the 1950s, and simply capitalize on the desire of interrogators not to inflict
serious of lasting harm. Deliberate “collapse” or a sophisticated but feigned hallucination will almost
guarantee a reprieve which likely will defeat the interrogation process as used to date.
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interrogational excesses resulted. In hindsight it’s easy—though in the operational
climate, perhaps unrealistic—to say that OMS should have been more pro-active in
obtaining and critiquing the relevant briefs. Once into this fast-moving program, OMS
also fell short in allowing a requirement for thorough medical records to fall victim to
operational expediency and the crisis of the day. While this soon was corrected, it also
was avoidable. Finally, as OMS increasingly was recogm'zed for its vital contributions,
there seemed to be a risk that too much of the program’s legal justiﬁcation would become
OMS-based. While this issue was attended to, in view of the unique ethical issues
involved it was a source of continuing concern e
PO
A last word on ethics. The more proscriptive standsftaken by professional
organizations since 2006 will pose potential dilemmas for OMS prgie;s‘lona]s supporting
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detainee operations in the future. The OMS officers who previouslygworked in this
program confronted less concrete “ethical” issues, but nonetheless invéived themselves
because they thought it was the right thing to do,;afid because of their trust ‘and respect for
)(3) CIAAct those already involved. D'IS may have been representative in viewing thegl’égmmacy—
' (b)(6 i.e., ethics—of the program as dependent on it being legal, effective, safe and necessary.
Necessity required solid evidence that interrogation candidates possessed critical, time-
perishable information unobtainable through less aggressive alternative measures. Dol
affirmed legality. The empirical recorﬁﬁfﬁm,;red effectiveness and, through the presence
of OMS, the safety of the program. Finally, criticality and urgency each received case-
by-case analysis from CTC. Though imperfect this review nonetheless limited the
application of EITs to lessithan a third of thie 97 detame%w‘ho came into Agency hands,

. and further limited use;of the most.aggressive. techmques to.only. 5 or.6 of the highest. ..
value detainees. A griterion of “necessity” ald @ requires that no aggressive measure be
used when a lesser measure would suffice. For a vanety of reasons, the program initially
was ill-prepared to make this Judgment- but expenences during the first year had it well
onits way toa mmlmahst approach
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